

Insights in heart surgery 2022

Edited by

Hendrik Tevaearai Stahel, Robert Jeenchen Chen and Massimo Bonacchi

Published in Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial

copy which includes the elements

in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2301-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2301-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



Insights in heart surgery: 2022

Topic editors

Hendrik Tevaearai Stahel — University Hospital of Bern, Switzerland Robert Jeenchen Chen — Stanford University, United States Massimo Bonacchi — University of Florence, Italy

Citation

Stahel, H. T., Chen, R. J., Bonacchi, M., eds. (2023). *Insights in heart surgery: 2022*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2301-8



Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Insights in heart surgery: 2022 Massimo Bonacchi, Beatrice Bacchi, Francesco Cabrucci, Hendrik Tevaearai Stahel, Robert Jeenchen Chen and Aleksander Dokollari
- 07 Deviations From the Ideal Plasma Volume and Isolated Tricuspid Valve Surgery—Paving the Way for New Risk Stratification Parameters

Ena Hasimbegovic, Marco Russo, Martin Andreas, Paul Werner, Iuliana Coti, Dominik Wiedemann, Alfred Kocher, Günther Laufer, Benedikt S. Hofer and Markus Mach

- 19 Long Term Results of the Modified Bentall Procedure With Mechanical and Biological Composite Valve Grafts Paul Werner, Jasmin Gritsch, Alexandra Kaider, Iuliana Coti, Emilio Osorio, Stephane Mahr, Marie-Elisabeth Stelzmueller, Alfred Kocher, Günther Laufer, Martin Andreas and Marek Ehrlich
- 30 Perioperative and Short-Term Outcomes of Sinus Replacement and Conservative Repair for Aortic Root in Acute Type A Aortic Dissection: A Prospective Cohort Study Yi Chang, Xiangyang Qian, Hongwei Guo, Yizhen Wei, Cuntao Yu, Xiaogang Sun, Bo Wei, Qiong Ma and Yi Shi
- 39 Septal Thickness Does Not Impact Outcome After Hypertrophic Obstructive Cardiomyopathy Surgery (Septal Myectomy and Subvalvular Mitral Apparatus Remodeling): A 15-Years of Experience

Giuseppe M. Raffa, Eluisa La Franca, Carlo Lachina, Andrea Palmeri, Mariusz Kowalewski, Steven Lebowitz, Alessandro Ricasoli, Matteo Greco, Sergio Sciacca, Marco Turrisi, Marco Morsolini, Vincenzo Stringi, Gabriella Mattiucci and Michele Pilato

49 Clinical Insights to Complete and Incomplete Surgical Revascularization in Atrial Fibrillation and Multivessel Coronary Disease

> Michal Pasierski, Jakub Staromłyński, Janina Finke, Radoslaw Litwinowicz, Grzegorz Filip, Adam Kowalówka, Wojciech Wańha, Michalina Kołodziejczak, Natalia Piekuś-Słomka, Andrzej Łoś, Sebastian Stefaniak, Wojciech Wojakowski, Marek Jemielity, Jan Rogowski, Marek Deja, Dariusz Jagielak, Krzysztof Bartus, Silvia Mariani, Tong Li, Matteo Matteucci, Daniele Ronco, Federica Jiritano, Dario Fina, Gennaro Martucci, Paolo Meani, Giuseppe Maria Raffa, Artur Słomka, Pietro Giorgio Malvidni, Roberto Lorusso, Michal Zembala, Piotr Suwalski and Mariusz Kowalewski on behalf of Thoracic Research Centre

58 Graft preservation confers myocardial protection during coronary artery bypass grafting

Philipp Szalkiewicz, Maximilian Y. Emmert, Paul P. Heinisch, Zsuzsanna Arnold, Ingo Crailsheim, Markus Mach, Thomas Aschacher, Martin Grabenwöger and Bernhard Winkler 68 Small-diameter bacterial cellulose-based vascular grafts for coronary artery bypass grafting in a pig model

Deborah Fusco, Florian Meissner, Bruno K. Podesser, Anna Marsano, Martin Grapow, Friedrich Eckstein and Bernhard Winkler

79 Incidence, management, and prognosis of post-ischaemic ventricular septal defect: Insights from a 12-year tertiary centre experience

Henri Treille de Grandsaigne, Frédéric Bouisset, Jean Porterie, Caroline Biendel, Bertrand Marcheix, Olivier Lairez, François Labaste, Meyer Elbaz, Michel Galinier and Clément Delmas

89 Effect of posterior pericardiotomy in cardiac surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

Giovanni Jr Soletti, Roberto Perezgrovas-Olaria, Lamia Harik, Mohamed Rahouma, Arnaldo Dimagli, Talal Alzghari, Michelle Demetres, Brenden A. Bratton, Mohammad Yaghmour, Divyaam Satija, Christopher Lau, Leonard N. Girardi, Tomas A. Salemo and Mario Gaudino

101 Trend and early outcomes in isolated surgical aortic valve replacement in the United Kingdom

Jeremy Chan, Arnaldo Dimagli, Daniel P. Fudulu, Shubhra Sinha, Pradeep Narayan, Tim Dong and Gianni D. Angelini Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Leonard Y. Lee, The State University of New Jersey, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Massimo Bonacchi ⊠ mbonacchi@unifi.it

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 11 March 2023 ACCEPTED 21 March 2023 PUBLISHED 17 April 2023

CITATION

Bonacchi M, Bacchi B, Cabrucci F, Tevaearai Stahel H, Jeenchen Chen R and Dokollari A (2023) Editorial: Insights in heart surgery: 2022. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 10:1184097. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2023.1184097

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Bonacchi, Bacchi, Cabrucci, Tevaearai Stahel, Jeenchen Chen and Dokollari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Insights in heart surgery: 2022

Massimo Bonacchi^{1*}, Beatrice Bacchi¹, Francesco Cabrucci¹, Hendrik Tevaearai Stahel², Robert Jeenchen Chen³ and Aleksander Dokollari⁴

¹Cardiac Surgery F.U., Experimental and Clinical Medicine Department, University of Florence, Firenze, Italy, ²Clinic for Cardiovascular Surgery, Inselspital, University Hospital Bern, Bern, Switzerland, ³Division of Cardiac Surgery, Department of Surgery, Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH, United States, ⁴Department of Cardiac Surgery, Lankenau Institute for Medical Research, Main Line Health, Wynnewood, PA, United States

KEYWORDS

advances and challenges, insight and practice, innovation, coronary revascularization surgery, valve repair and replacement, aortic surgery, HOCM

Editorial on the Research Topic Insights in heart surgery: 2022

Cardiac surgery continues to evolve over the years beyond current challenges, technologies, and "traditional" outcomes. This collection of articles "Insights into cardiac surgery" aims to highlight the latest advances in the field of cardiac surgery achieved during 2022.

Surgical approaches in cardiac surgery experienced a tremendous evolution in the last two decades. A lot of changes happened since the first operation performed by Goldwin et al. in 1958 (1) to treat hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy (HOCM), including the advent of the Bentall technique for aortic root pathology, and the first coronary aortic bypass grafting (CABG), which today is the most commonly cardiac surgery procedure performed worldwide.

Different approaches have been previously described to treat HOCM (2). Raffa et al. introducing a method with the involvement of the subvalvular mitral apparatus [resection of anomalous muscular trabecula, accessory papillary muscles (PM), secondary chordae, and splitting of PM], showed excellent results including freedom from repeat intervention of 96% and significant symptomatic relief with NYHA and left ventricular obstruction reduction during midterm follow-up as well as a reduction in terms of mitral valve regurgitation incidence and septal thickness.

On the other hand, among aortic root repair strategies, Chang et al. suggested in case of pathological features of dissection, a sinus replacement technique using a patch trimmed to a scallop shape similar to Valsalva sinus, aiming to decrease severe aortic root bleeding. However, a cornerstone like the Bentall procedure created a race on describing the benefits of the modified technique in large clinical studies (3–5). In this context, Werner et al. closed the gap regarding long-term outcomes in patients undergoing the modified Bentall technique operation evidencing comparable results at 10-year follow-up with those of the general population. In this cohort of patients, the prosthesis choice in the so-called "gray area" (50–70 years old) is still controversial. Certainly, the advancement of transcatheter procedures (TAVR) with valve-in-valve aortic replacement and even the stentless valve prostheses, should be considered in the need of a reintervention (6) such as in the case of a "matryoshka procedure" (7). As a matter of fact, Chan et al. for aortic

valve replacement (SAVR), underlined that the use of biological aortic prostheses has increased significantly in recent years in all age groups while mechanical valves are still higher in patients requiring dialysis. Although SAVR is an effective treatment with very low in-hospital mortality, in the last years, SAVR's rate is reducing especially in patients with high risk, octogenarians, and those requiring redo surgery due to the advent of TAVR.

Despite the spread-out of percutaneous coronary revascularization (PCI) CABG remains the most common cardiac surgery procedure worldwide and the best option for multivessel disease to achieve complete revascularization. Pasierski et al. highlight the importance of complete revascularization even in patients with pre-existing AF showing improved long-term survival and a lower rate of reinterventions. The advent of new technologies for CABG has been shown to be a benefit in improving the outcomes and increasing the heterogeneity of the patients. In this context, grafts' availability is undoubtedly the first component needed to perform a CABG. In case of the lack of suitable autologous bypass material, Fusco et al. describe tissue-engineered vascular grafts (20 cm in length with an inner diameter of 3 mm) tested in animal models that showed good patency after 4 weeks.

Achieved the best available grafts, even their storage during the procedure, become crucial. Szalkiewicz et al. compare the use of saline with autologous blood vs. a preventive solution formulated with an endothelial damage inhibitor. The use of the second solution in the saphenous vein storage and testing during distal anastomosis has been described to be associated with lower levels of troponin after the procedure demonstrating superiority in preserving tissue functionality.

Beyond the surgical technique, in the current clinical practice, periprocedural risk predictors and optimization of medical therapy become fundamental before surgery to achieve a good outcome and to offer a tailored patient approach (8). For example, after tricuspid valve surgery (TVS) mortality remains high. In this particular group of patients, periprocedural risk predictors that impact long-term prognosis have not been fully investigated yet. Hasimbegovic et al. set the tone and paved the pathway to the adjustment of preprocedural secondary prevention and optimization of medical therapy in patients undergoing TVS. Their "real world" study evidenced how patients with a high estimated plasma volume status (ePVS) have a significant impact on long-term outcomes after TVS. In this context, the author reported that the ePVS and Duarte's PVC were significantly lower in survivors. Risk predictors for long-

References

1. Goodwin JF, Hollman A, Cleland WP, Teare D. Obstructive cardiomyopathy simulating aortic stenosis. *Br Heart J*. (1960) 22:403–14. doi: 10. 1136/hrt.22.3.403

2. Dokollari A, Cameli M, Bisleri G, Pervez MB, Kalra DK, Demosthenous M, et al. Mitral Arcades Unexpectedly Encountered During Cardiac Surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2021) 35(3):914–6. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2020.10.018

3. Bonacchi M, Cabrucci F, Bacchi B, Haranal M, Gelsomino S, Ramlawi B, et al. Editorial: novel insights into aortic arch repair. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2022) 9:1087952. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1087952

4. Prifti E, Bonacchi M, Frati G, Proietti P, Giunti G, Babatasi G, et al. Early and long-term outcome in patients undergoing aortic root replacement with composite graft according to Bentall's Technique. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2002) 21:15–21. doi: 10.1016/S1010-7940(01)01037-5

term prognosis also included ePVS and gamma-glutamyltransferase levels.

Now more than ever, cardiovascular surgery feels the need to set a balance between adequate pre-operative patient medical optimization, the correct surgical procedure based on individual patient profiles, and the desire of treating complex conditions pushing forward the boundaries of the achievable. All of the articles in this Collection inspire, inform, and provide guidance and direction to researchers in the field, and could help us understand where cardiac surgery is going.

In conclusion, even if technology progresses by leaps and bounds significantly influencing surgical techniques and results, we must keep in mind that clinical success can be achieved only by multidisciplinary teamwork that adapts the chosen surgical strategy to the specific clinical profile of the individual patient.

Author contributions

MB, FC, BB, HTS, RJC and AD contributed to conception and design of the study. MB, BB, and AD wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MB, FC, BB, and AD wrote the second draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

5. Bonacchi M, Dokollari A, Parise O, Sani G, Prifti E, Bisleri G, et al. Ministernotomy compared with right anterior minithoracotomy for aortic valve surgery. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2021):S0022-5223(21)00728-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2021.03.125

 Dokollari A, Cameli M, Mandoli GE, Kalra DS, Poston R, Coku L, et al. Early and midterm clinical outcomes of transcatheter valve-in-valve implantation versus redo surgical aortic valve replacement for aortic bioprosthetic valve degeneration: two faces of the same medal. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2021) 35(11):3223–31. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2021.05.029

7. Tomai F, Weltert L, de Persio G, Salatino T, de Paulis R. The matryoshka procedure. J Card Surg. (2021) 36(9):3381-3. doi: 10.1111/jocs.15718

8. Gelsomino S, Bonacchi M, Lucà F, Barili F, Del Pace S, Parise O, et al. Comparison between three different equations for the estimation of glomerular filtration rate in predicting mortality after coronary artery bypass. *BMC Nephrol.* (2019) 20(1):371. doi: 10.1186/s12882-019-1564-y





Deviations From the Ideal Plasma Volume and Isolated Tricuspid Valve Surgery—Paving the Way for New Risk Stratification Parameters

Ena Hasimbegovic^{1,2}, Marco Russo², Martin Andreas², Paul Werner², Iuliana Coti², Dominik Wiedemann², Alfred Kocher², Günther Laufer², Benedikt S. Hofer³ and Markus Mach^{2*}

¹ Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine II, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ² Division of Cardiac Surgery, Department of Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ³ Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine III, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bernhard Winkler, Vienna Health Association, Austria

Reviewed by:

Saeid Hosseini, Shaheed Rajaei Cardiovascular Medical and Research Center, Iran Elsayed Elmistekawy, University of Ottawa Heart Institute, Canada

*Correspondence: Markus Mach markus.mach@meduniwien.ac.at

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 06 January 2022 Accepted: 28 February 2022 Published: 25 March 2022

Citation:

Hasimbegovic E, Russo M, Andreas M, Werner P, Coti I, Wiedemann D, Kocher A, Laufer G, Hofer BS and Mach M (2022) Deviations From the Ideal Plasma Volume and Isolated Tricuspid Valve Surgery—Paving the Way for New Risk Stratification Parameters. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 9:849972. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.849972 **Background:** Congestion and plasma volume expansion are important features of heart failure, whose prognostic significance has been investigated in a range of surgical and non-surgical settings. The aim of this study was to evaluate the value of the estimated plasma volume status (ePVS) in patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery.

Methods: This study included patients who underwent isolated tricuspid valve surgery at the Vienna General Hospital (Austria) between July 2008 and November 2018. The PVS cut-off was calculated using ROC analysis and Youden's Index.

Results: Eighty eight patients (median age: 58 [IQR: 35-70] years; 44.3% male; 75.6% NYHA III/IV; median EuroSCORE II 2.65 [IQR: 1.70-5.10]; 33.0% endocarditis-related regurgitation; 60.2% isolated repair; 39.8% isolated replacement) were included in this study. Patients who died within 1 year following surgery had significantly higher baseline ePVS values than survivors (median ePVS 5.29 [IQR: -1.55-13.55] vs. -3.68 [IQR: -10.92-4.22]; p = 0.005). During a median actuarial follow-up of 3.02 (IQR: 0.36-6.80) years, patients with a preoperative ePVS ≥ -4.17 had a significantly increased mortality (log-rank p = 0.006).

Conclusions: ePVS is an easily obtainable risk parameter for patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery capable of predicting mid- and long-term outcomes after isolated tricuspid valve surgery.

Keywords: congestion, plasma volume status, tricuspid valve, isolated tricuspid valve surgery, mortality

INTRODUCTION

The prevalence of heart failure and acute decompensated heart failure in patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery is high, and its presence is associated with poor outcomes (1-3). Isolated tricuspid valve surgery is a comparatively rare procedure with a high mortality (1, 4-9). Due to the low overall number of isolated

7

tricuspid valve surgeries performed yearly, specific risk stratification parameters have not been explored as thoroughly as those in other types of cardiac surgery. Similarly, the relevance of noninvasive laboratory indicators of congestion has not been assessed in this patient collective. In this paper, we attempted to evaluate one such index, the estimated plasma volume status, for the risk stratification of patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery.

Congestion and volume overload, the hallmark features of heart failure, affect both the interstitial and the plasma space and develop gradually, with an initially asymptomatic clinical course. However, ultimately the majority of patients presenting with decompensated heart failure exhibit clinical signs of congestion (10, 11). The degree to which diuretic therapy affects congestion differs between the interstitial and intravascular compartments, which limits the usefulness of a mere weight-based assessment for tracking the success of in-hospital volume management of decompensated patients with heart failure (12, 13).

Although methods for assessing the degree of intravascular congestion via pressure measurement in the right atrium or the assessment of the pulmonary capillary wedge pressure are available, their invasiveness limits their applicability in dayto-day practice and they are thus mainly reserved for specific high-risk settings (10). Surrogate markers for the assessment of the intravascular volume overload, such as the brain natriuretic peptide (BNP), secreted in response to mechanical stretching of the cardiomyocytes in a volume overloaded left ventricle, have long been used to diagnose, assess the severity of and guide treatment of heart failure (14). The current gold standard for the direct measurement of the plasma volume is the nuclear medicine blood volume assessment. This set of methods is based on the injection of a tracker substance, followed by blood sampling to determine its dilution and subsequently extrapolate the dilution volume. Such dilution-based methods, albeit with the use of rudimentary dyes, were conducted as early as one century ago, but the time-consuming nature, the required expertise and their susceptibility to measurement errors have impeded their wider implementation (15-17). However, recent technical advances have resolved some of these issues and might make such techniques more useful in the emergency and other settings in the future (18).

Multiple methods use the patient's weight, hematocrit or hemoglobin for the non-invasive assessment of the plasma volume status (PVS), such as the Strauss, Duarte and Hakim formula (19-21). The correlation of these calculated estimates with symptoms and diagnostic markers of congestion has not been sufficiently elucidated, although initial findings have proposed some correlations with imaging modalities (22). In recent years, several studies have found compelling evidence for the prognostic value of the estimated PVS in cardiovascular disease. Duarte et al. found that PVS can predict the likelihood of early cardiovascular events following acute myocardial infarction with acute heart failure (20). Martens et al. found that PVS correlates with the measured plasma volume assessed by technetium red blood cell labeling and predicts overall mortality and heart-failure related hospitalization in a large cohort of patients with different etiologies of heart failure (23). Kobayashi et al. undertook an extensive assessment of Duarte's PVS in heart failure with a preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) and found that it had a high prognostic value for adverse events, accurately reflected the degree of congestion, was not significantly impacted by renal function and could enhance existing risk stratification accuracy in conjunction with other established parameters (24). Similarly promising results for the use of PVS for risk stratification of HFpEF patients were also described by Huang et al. and Grodin et al. (25, 26). Tamaki et al. followed a group of patients admitted for acute decompensated heart failure and found that the plasma volume status correlated with overall mortality and rehospitalization for decompensated heart failure, findings similar to those of Yoshihisa et al. (27, 28). The value of PVS for risk stratification has been examined for a range of other applications, including left ventricular assist device (LVAD) recipients, coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) or acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) (29-31). Several studies have also looked at the potential of PVS for outcome and mortality prediction in patients undergoing interventions for valvular disease. A large-scale study of patients who underwent transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) by Shimura et al. found a link between a combined PVS and NYHA class stratification and mortality, as well as heartfailure-related rehospitalization (32). The association of PVS with outcomes following TAVR was also demonstrated by Seoudy et al. (33). A study by Schaefer et al. examined the association between PVS and mortality following mitral valve surgery (34).

However, the possible link between the calculated PVS and mortality following tricuspid valve surgery has not yet been explored. Thus, with this study we aimed to examine a possible link between the calculated PVS as a surrogate marker of congestion and the survival of patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery.

METHODS

Patient Selection and Preoperative Evaluation

For this study, data from 88 consecutive patients who underwent isolated tricuspid valve surgery at the Department of Cardiac Surgery, Medical University of Vienna between July 2008 and November 2018 was retrospectively analyzed. The isolated tricuspid valve surgery was conducted according to standard institutional operating procedure and the internal guidelines of the Division of Cardiac Surgery, Medical University of Vienna.

The preoperative patient assessment included a measurement of body weight, height, and standard laboratory tests. The etiology and degree of tricuspid valve regurgitation or tricuspid valve disease, as well as the presence of active endocarditis were recorded. A detailed patient history including comorbidities, risk factors, substance abuse and previous cardiac surgeries was collected. In accordance with routine practice, the EuroSCORE II and NYHA class were assessed.

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical University of Vienna and was conducted in accordance

with the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki, as well as its later amendments, and did not receive any funding (EK: 1289/2019).

Plasma Volume Equations

The preoperative PVS values were calculated according to two separate formulae using the patient's weight, hemoglobin, and hematocrit.

First, the actual plasma volume (aPV) was calculated using the Hakim formula (19):

$$aPV = (1 - hematocrit) \times [a + (b \times weight)]$$

where hematocrit is given as a fraction and the weight refers to the weight in kilograms. The coefficient a has a value of 864 for female and 1,530 for male patients and the coefficient b has a value of 47.9 for female and 41.0 for male patients.

The ideal plasma volume (iPV) was calculated according to the equation previously published by Longo et al. (35):

$$iPV = c \times weight$$

where the weight is stated in kilograms and the coefficient c has a value of 40 for women and 39 for men. The PVS was calculated from the two abovementioned values using the following formula:

$$ePVS = \frac{aPV - iPV}{iPV} \times 100$$

The second method used to assess the plasma volume status was the Duarte formula (20):

Duarte's
$$PVS = \frac{100 - hematocrit}{hemoglobin}$$

where the hemoglobin is stated in g/dl and the hematocrit is given in percentages.

Follow-Up

All adverse events following the surgery and prior to the patient discharge were internally documented. During the observational period, all visits to the outpatient clinics and inpatient stays from the electronic health record were recorded and analyzed. Information regarding survival of patients was either available within our electronic health record or was separately obtained from the national statistics department (Statistik Austria). The last date of follow-up was recorded as either death or the last documented living visit available within our electronic records. The primary endpoint of this study was the all-cause mortality.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the IBM SPSS 27.0 statistics software (SPSS Inc., Armonk, NY, USA) and the figures were created using GraphPad Prism V.8 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Continuous variables were reported as either the mean and standard deviation or median and

interquartile range depending on their distribution pattern. The presence of a parametric distribution of metric variables was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test and visual analysis of the distribution. Categorical variables were recorded as the number of features with the corresponding percentage of patients. Categorical variables were compared using the Chisquare test or the Fisher's exact test. Group comparisons were conducted using either the student's *t*-test or the Mann-Whitney U-test for normally and non-normally distributed variables, respectively. The correlation between two metric variables was assessed via Spearman correlation coefficients. Survival analyses were performed via the Kaplan-Meier method and log-rank tests. Variables associated with a decreased survival during the followup period were identified using univariate and multivariate Cox regression models. Univariate p-values below 0.1 in the univariate analysis were considered for multivariate analysis. Variables not available for more than 5% of patients were not included in the multivariate analysis. Variables featured in the EuroSCORE II, or variables used for the calculation of or directly related to ePVS or Duarte's PVS were excluded from the multivariate analysis. In the multivariate analysis, a stepwise backward approach was applied. The accuracy of PVS in predicting the primary endpoint was examined using ROC-curve analysis based on the prediction of the 1-year mortality. The Youden Index was used to identify an ePVS of -4.17 as the optimal cut-off point. As a secondary analysis, the same procedure was applied to determine the optimal cut-off point for Duarte's PVS, which was found to be 4.79. Subsequently, the ePVS cut-off was used to stratify the patients into two groups (Group 1: ePVS < -4.17 vs. Group 2: ePVS \geq -4.17). Two-sided *p*-values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant across the analysis.

RESULTS

Baseline Clinical Characteristics and Laboratory Parameters

A total of 88 patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery were included in this study. The median age of the patients was 58 years (IQR: 35-70 years), with a median follow-up time of 3.02 (IQR: 0.36-6.80) years. 38 patients (43.2%) had functional tricuspid regurgitation at baseline, whereas one fourth (25.0%) of all patients had active endocarditis at baseline. 19 patients (21.6%) had previously undergone a surgical left heart intervention and 23 patients (26.1%) had a lead passing through the tricuspid valve. One fifth of all patients (n = 18 [20.5%]) either had a previous history of intravenous drug use or were active intravenous drug users at baseline. Most patients had NYHA class III/IV (n = 65 [75.6%]). A comprehensive overview of the baseline clinical characteristics and risk factors is provided in **Table 1**.

Patients with an ePVS < -4.17 had received prior therapy with beta blockers more frequently (p = 0.028), suffered from functional tricuspid regurgitation more frequently than the cohort with an ePVS ≥ -4.17 (p = 0.004), exhibited fewer cases of endocarditis-related tricuspid regurgitation (p = 0.011), and had a lower prevalence of previous or active intravenous

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of the overall and stratified cohort.

Baseline characteristics	Overall cohort n = 88	Group 1 (ePVS < -4.17) <i>n</i> = 38	Group 0 (ePVS ≥ −4.17) n = 50	P-value
Age (years)	58(35-70)	58(44-70)	59(33-70)	0.730
Gender (male)	39 (44.3%)	16 (42.1%)	23 (46.0%)	0.716
Height (cm)	170.0 (161-177)	180 ± 9	170 ± 10	0.830
Weight (kg)	71 (60-85)	80 (62-88)	66 (60-83)	0.074
BMI (kg/m2)	25.3 ± 4.5	26.9 (23.3-29.3)	23.5 (21.4-27.5)	0.038
LVEF (%)	60 (50-60)	60(46-60)	60 (50-60)	0.909
Previous anti-RAAS therapy	25 (28.4%)	12 (31.6%)	13 (26.0%)	0.565
Previous therapy with beta blockers	16 (18.2%) 11 (28.9%)	11 (28.9%)	5 (10.0%)	0.028
sPAP (mmHa)	43(37-75)	43(34-50)	47(37-56)	0.294
Functional tricuspid regurgitation	38 (43.2%)	23 (60.5%)	15 (30.0%)	0.004
Endocarditis-related tricuspid regurgitation	29 (33.0%)	7 (18.4%)	22 (44.0%)	0.011
Tricuspid regurgitation etiology left-side related	15 (19.2%)	6 (18.2%)	9 (20.0%)	1.000
Active endocarditis	22 (25.0%)	3 (7.9%)	19 (38.0%)	0.001
Previous surgical left heart intervention	19 (21.6%)	9 (23.6%)	10 (20.0%)	0.677
Pacemaker/ICD	23 (26.1%)	6 (15.8%)	17 (34.0%)	0.054
Lead through the tricuspid valve	23 (26.1%)	6 (15.8%)	17 (34.0%)	0.054
Hemodynamic instability prior to surgery	4 (4.5%)	0 (0%)	4 (8.0%)	0.130
Any previous intravenous drug use	18 (20.5%)	3 (7.9%)	15 (30.0%)	0.015
Active intravenous drug use	7 (8.0%)	0 (0.0%)	7 (14.0%)	0.018
Any chronic hepatic condition	22 (25.0%)	4 (10.5%)	18 (36.0%)	0.007
Active hepatitis C viral infection	15 (17.0%)	3 (8.6%)	12 (24.0%)	0.084
EuroSCORE II	2.65 (1.70-5.10)	1.91 (1.22-3.71)	3.17 (2.10-6.65)	0.004
Active smoker	13 (14.8%)	4 (10.5%)	9 (18.0%)	0.379
Any previous regular smoking habit	23 (26.1%)	9 (23.7%)	14 (28.0%)	0.648
NYHA class III/IV	65 (75.6%)	24 (64.9%)	41 (83.7%)	0.044
Arterial hypertension	48 (54.5%)	19 (50.0%)	29 (58.0%)	0.455
Diabetes	12 (13.6%)	4 (10.5%)	8 (16.0%)	0.542
Previous myocardial infarction	4 (4.5%)	0 (0%)	4 (8.0%)	0.130
Previous stroke	7 (8.0%)	4 (10.5%)	3 (6.0%)	0.459
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	25 (28.4%)	11 (28.9%)	14 (28.0%)	0.922
Chronic kidney disease (GFR < 6 ml/min or renal replacement therapy)	33 (37.5%)	10 (26.3%)	23 (46.0%)	0.059
Ongoing dialysis	5 (5.7%)	1 (2.6%)	4 (8.0%)	0.384
Extracardiac arteriopathy	3 (3.4%)	0 (38.0%)	3 (6.0%)	0.255
Carotid disease	5 (5.7%)	3 (7.9%)	2 (4.0%)	0.648
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m2)	68.8 (49.0-102.3)	81.2 (52.4-101.1)	63.1 (45.4-105.8)	0.209
Hematocrit (%)	35.9 ± 6.6	41.8 ± 3.2	31.5 ± 4.7	< 0.001
Hemoglobin (g/dl)	11.9 ± 2.3	14.0 ± 1.4	10.4 ± 1.6	< 0.001
Platelet count (G/I)	200 (155-275)	193 (164-246)	206 (118-287)	0.506
Erythrocyte count (T/I)	4.1 ± 0.8	4.7 ± 0.5	3.6 ± 0.6	< 0.001
MCH (pg)	29.6 (27.5-31.1)	30.1 (28.4-31.4)	29.1 (27.3-30.9)	0.212
MCV (fl)	88.4 ± 6.0	89.2 ± 5.3	87.9 ± 6.5	0.304
proBNP (pg/ml)	1,147 (433-1882)	924 (474-1672)	1,480 (400-2,351)	0.183
Creatinine (mg/dl)	1.02 (0.86-1.35)	1,03 (0.91-1.33)	1.01 (0.85-1.40)	0.584
Creatinine kinase (U/I)	48 (31-95)	72 (41-116)	40 (19-65)	< 0.001
Alkaline phosphatase (U/I)	112 (79-146)	103 (72-125)	127 (91-172)	0.006

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Baseline characteristics	Overall cohort	Group 1	Group 0	P-value
	<i>n</i> = 88	(ePVS < -4.17)	(ePVS ≥ -4.17)	
		<i>n</i> = 38	<i>n</i> = 50	
ASAT (U/I)	29 (21-41)	32 (22-43)	26 (19-38)	0.156
ALAT (U/I)	23 (17-33)	28 (21-36)	19 (12-28)	0.002
GGT (U/I)	110 (65-178)	109 (51-154)	122 (76-194)	0.259
LDH (U/I)	227 (193-303)	224 (199-289)	229 (174-304)	0.629
CRP (mg/dl)	0.63 (0.20-2.28)	0.33 (0.19-0.81)	1.29 (0.34-7.69)	<0.001
Total bilirubin (mg/dl)	0.87 (0.60-1.23)	0.87 (0.62-1.22)	0.86 (0.58-1.23)	0.860
Albumin (g/l)	40.6 (32.3-44.6)	43.6 (4.8)	34,4(9,0)	<0.001
Total protein (g/l)	73.0 (68.1-78.9)	76.1 (70.8-79.1)	71.2 (64.1-78.7)	0.033

Data is presented as number n (%), mean ± standard deviation (SD) or median (interquartile range). BMI, body mass index; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; RAAS, reninangiotensin-aldosterone system; sPAP, systolic pulmonary artery pressure; ICD, implantable cardioverter-defibrillator; NYHA, New York Heart Association; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; MCH, mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; BNP, brain natriuretic peptide; ASAT, aspartate aminotransferase; ALAT, alanine aminotransferase; GGT, gamma-glutamyl transferase; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; CRP, C-reactive protein.

TABLE 2 | Procedural characteristics and adverse events.

	Overall cohort $n = 88$	Group 1 (ePVS < -4.17)	Group 0 (ePVS ≥ −4.17)	P-value
		<i>n</i> = 38	<i>n</i> = 50	
Redo surgery	31 (35.2%)	14 (36.8%)	17 (34.0%)	0.782
Elective surgery	54 (61.4%)	32 (84.2%)	22 (44.0%)	< 0.001
Urgent surgery	30 (34.1%)	6 (15.8%)	24 (48.0%)	0.002
Emergency surgery	4 (4.5%)	0 (0%)	4 (8.0%)	0.130
Cardiopulmonary bypass time (min)	114 (77-140)	127 (92-159)	93 (75-129)	0.041
Isolated tricuspid repair	53 (60.2%)	30 (78.9%)	23 (46.0%)	0.002
Ring annuloplasty	49 (55.7%)	30 (78.9%)	19 (38.0%)	< 0.001
Isolated tricuspid replacement	35 (39.8%)	8 (21.1%)	27 (54.0%)	0.002
Sternotomy	77 (92.8%)	30 (88.2%)	47 (95.9%)	0.184
Mini-thoracotomy	6 (7.2%)	4 (11.8%)	2 (4.1%)	0.221
Beating heart surgery	28 (31.8%)	9 (23.7%)	19 (38.0%)	0.153
Blood transfusion required	55 (62.5%)	17 (44.8%)	38 (76.0%)	0.003
Erythrocyte concentrate (units)	1.0 (0.0-3.0)	0.0 (0.0-1.3)	2.0 (1.0-4.3)	< 0.001
Postoperative acute kidney injury	6 (6.8%)	1 (2.6%)	5 (10.0%)	0.229
Postoperative renal replacement therapy	4 (4.5%)	1 (2.6%)	3 (6.0%)	0.631
Postoperative pericardial effusion	5 (5.7%)	2 (5.2%)	3 (6.0%)	1.000
Postoperative ECMO support	3 (3.4%)	1 (2.6%)	2 (4.0%)	1.000
New onset atrial fibrillation	9 (10.2%)	4 (10.5%)	5 (10.0%)	1.000
Postoperative pneumonia	3 (3.4%)	1 (2.6%)	2 (4.0%)	1.000
Postoperative stroke	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	/
Postoperative myocardial infarction	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	/
Wound complication	7 (8.0%)	2 (5.2%)	5 (10.0%)	0.694
Pulmonary embolism	1 (1.1%)	1 (2.6%)	0 (0%)	0.432
New pacemaker implantation	9 (10.2%)	4 (10.5%)	5 (10.0%)	1.000
Postoperative stay (days)	15(9-23)	12(8-19)	17(10-34)	0.039
Re-exploration for bleeding	12 (13.6%)	4 (10.5%)	8 (16.0%)	0.542
In-hospital death	7 (8.0%)	2 (5.2%)	5 (10.0%)	0.694
1-year death	18 (20.5%)	2 (5.2%)	16 (32.0%)	0.003
Death on last follow-up	34 (38.6%)	9 (23.7%)	30 (60.0%)	<0.001

Data is presented as number n (%), mean ± standard deviation (SD) or median (interquartile range). ECMO, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation.

TABLE 3 | ePVS and Duarte's PVS in survivors and non-survivors.

er vo survivors	ePVS non-survivors	P-value
-3.68	5.29	0.005
(-10.92-4.22)	(-1.55-13.55)	
-4.80 (10.00)	3.04 (12.23)	0.001
Duarte's PVS	Duarte's PVS	P-value
survivors	non-survivors	
4.84 (4.19-6.77)	6.78 (5.44-7.83)	0.006
4.66 (4.17-6.13)	6.02 (4.80-7.72)	0.002
	3.68 (10.92-4.22) 4.80 (10.00) Duarte's PVS survivors 4.84 (4.19-6.77) 4.66 (4.17-6.13)	non-survivors -3.68 5.29 (-10.92-4.22) (-1.55-13.55) -4.80 (10.00) 3.04 (12.23) Duarte's PVS survivors Duarte's PVS non-survivors 4.84 (4.19-6.77) 6.78 (5.44-7.83) 4.66 (4.17-6.13) 6.02 (4.80-7.72)

Data is presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or median (interquartile range).

drug use (p = 0.015 and p = 0.018, respectively). The ePVS < -4.17 cohort had a lower EuroSCORE II (p = 0.004), a higher baseline hematocrit (p < 0.001) and hemoglobin (p < 0.001), erythrocyte count (p < 0.001) and higher levels of serum albumin (p < 0.001).

Surgical Characteristics and Adverse Events

The procedural characteristics and incidence of adverse postoperative events are shown in **Table 2**. Patients with an ePVS < -4.17 underwent elective surgery significantly more often (p < 0.001) and urgent surgery significantly less often (p = 0.002). These patients also underwent tricuspid repair more often and tricuspid replacement less often than the ePVS ≥ -4.17 group (p = 0.002). In terms of postoperative adverse events, the only significant difference between the groups was observed in the need for postoperative blood transfusion, which was required less often in the ePVS < -4.17 group (p = 0.003).

ePVS and Duarte's PVS in Survivors and Non-survivors

The difference in ePVS and Duarte's PVS in survivors and nonsurvivors at two timepoints during follow-up is shown in **Table 3**.

Survivors had a significantly lower ePVS after 1 year following the intervention (median ePVS -3.68 [IQR: -10.92-4.22] vs. 5.29 [IQR: -1.55-13.55], p = 0.005), and over the course of the overall follow-up (mean ePVS -4.80 ± 10.00 vs. 3.04 ± 12.23 , p = 0.001).

Survivors had a significantly lower Duarte's PVS after 1 year following the intervention (median Duarte's PVS 4.84 [IQR: 4.19-6.77] vs. 6.78 [IQR: 5.44-7.83], p = 0.006), and over the course of the overall follow-up (median Duarte's PVS 4.66 [IQR: 4.17-6.13] vs. 6.02 [IQR: 4.80-7.72], p = 0.002).

There was a significant difference between both ePVS and Duarte's PVS in survivors and non-survivors at 1-year and during the overall follow-up period.

Survival Stratified According to the ePVS and Duarte's PVS Cut-Off

Kaplan-Meier curves illustrating the survival of patients stratified according to the ePVS and Duarte's PVS cut-offs are shown in **Figures 1**, **2**.

Patients with an ePVS of \geq -4.17 and patients with a Duarte's PVS of \geq 4.79 had a significantly higher mortality over the followup period (median survival ePVS \geq -4.17: 35.9 (95%CI: 0.0-80.7) months vs. median survival ePVS < - 4.17: not reached during follow-up, p = 0.006; median survival Duarte's PVS \geq 4.79: 35.8 (95%CI: 0.0-92.7) months vs. median survival Duarte's PVS \leq 4.79: not reached during follow-up, p = 0.007). The cumulative probability of survival at 1 and 3 years for the ePVS \geq -4.17 group was 65.9 and 47.7%, respectively, compared to 94.1 and 94.1% for the ePVS < -4.17 group. The cumulative probability of survival at 1 and 3 years for the Duarte's PVS \geq 4.79 group was 64.7 and 48.6%, respectively, compared to 96.7 and 93.1% for the Duarte's PVS < 4.79 group.

Predictors of Mortality

Detailed results of the univariate and multivariate analysis for predictors of mortality are shown in **Table 4**. Variables included in the multivariate analysis included isolated tricuspid valve replacement, EuroSCORE II, functional regurgitation, alkaline phosphatase levels, gamma-glutamyltransferase levels, CRP, as well as ePVS and Duarte's PVS. Of these variables, only ePVS and gamma-glutamyltransferase reached significance in the multivariate analysis (p = 0.04 and p = 0.027), whereas EuroSCORE II approached significance (p = 0.055).

Additional Considerations: NYHA Class and Renal Function

A significantly higher proportion of patients with ePVS ≥ -4.17 had NYHA class III/IV (83.7 vs. 64.9% in patients with ePVS < -4.17; p = 0.044). The median survival was significantly longer in patients with NYHA I/II (log-rank p = 0.035), with 1-year and 3-year survival probabilities of 83.6 and 78.0% in NYHA I/II as compared to 74.9 and 63.2% in NYHA III/IV. Following the sub-stratification according to ePVS levels, the individual contribution of both parameters in terms of median survival became clearer (log-rank p = 0.018), with a 1-year survival probability of 90.9% in ePVS < -4.17 + NYHAI/II, as compared to 64.1% in ePVS $\geq -4.17 +$ NYHAII/IV.

In our study, eGFR ≥ 60 ml/min/1.73 m² was not significantly associated with mortality (log-rank p = 0.790). Additionally, we found no significant correlation between ePVS and eGFR (r_s: -0.108; p = 0.330) and no significant difference between ePVS levels in patients with eGFR ≥ 60 ml/min/1.73 m² as compared to patients with eGFR < 60 ml/min/1.73 m².

DISCUSSION

This study provides a promising initial assessment of ePVS, an easily obtainable indicator of the plasma volume and degree of subclinical congestion, for the risk stratification of patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery.





FIGURE 2 | Kaplan-Meier survival curve over the course of the follow-up period-stratification according to the Duarte's PVS cut-off of 4.79.

TABLE 4 | Predictors of mortality—univariate and multivariate analysis.

		Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis			
Variable name	Hazard ratio	95% confidence interval	P-value	Adjusted hazard ratio	95% confidence interval	P-value	
Age	1.026	1.006-1.046	0.010				
Baseline LVEF	0.966	0.940-0.993	0.014				
Elective surgery	0.519	0.275-0.980	0.043				
Urgent surgery	1.970	1.042-3.723	0.037				
Isolated TV repair	0.540	0.287-1.014	0.055				
Isolated TV replacement*	1.853	0.986-3.484	0.055				
EuroSCORE II*	1.054	1.018-1.092	0.003	1.039	0.999-1.079	0.055	
NYHA class III/IV	2.667	1.035-6.872	0.042				
Diabetes mellitus	2.494	1.112-5.544	0.025				
Extracardiac arteriopathy	5.172	1.540-17.368	0.008				
Functional regurgitation*	0.561	0.282-1.113	0.098				
BMI	0.994	0.931-1.061	0.861				
Any previous intravenous drug use	1.129	0.541-2.354	0.746				
Active intravenous drug use	0.763	0.230-2.525	0.657				
Endocarditis related TR	1.078	0.552-2.102	0.827				
Any noncardiac chronic liver condition	1.805	0.936-3.480	0.078				
Active smoker	1.748	0.797-3.831	0.163				
Arterial hypertension	1.673	0.852-3.283	0.135				
Pacemaker/ICD	1.342	0.679-2.653	0.398				
COPD	1.343	0.690-2.613	0.385				
Chronic kidney disease	1.258	0.652-2.430	0.494				
Active endocarditis	0.966	0.462-2.091	0.927				
Pacemaker-related TR	1.382	0.576-3.320	0.469				
Redo surgery	0.790	0.359-1.403	0.323				
Previous surgical left heart valve intervention	0.894	0.391-2.044	0.791				
eGFR	0.990	0.979-1.001	0.074				
Hematocrit	0.935	0.889-0.984	0.010				
Hemoglobin	0.842	0.727-0.975	0.021				
Erythrocyte count	0.485	0.307-0.764	0.002				
proBNP	1.000	1.000-1.000	0.077				
Alkaline phosphatase*	1.005	1.002-1.008	0.001				
GGT*	1.003	1.000-1.006	0.026	1,004	1.001-1.007	0.004	
CRP*	1.060	0.999-1.125	0.052				
Albumin	0.948	0.915-0.983	0.004				
Protein	0.981	0.959-1.003	0.094				
Sodium	0.940	0.883-1.001	0.052				
ePVS < -4.17*	0.360	0.170-0.765	0.008	0.431	0.188-0.905	0.027	
Duarte's PVS < 4.79*	0.352	0.161-0.771	0.009				
Platelet count	0.999	0.995-1.002	0.445				
Creatinine	0.975	0.603-1.579	0.919				
LDH	0.999	0.998-1.001	0.558				
Total bilirubin	1.060	0.899-1.250	0.490				

Variables included in the multivariate Cox regression are indicated with an asterisk. LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; TV, tricuspid valve; NYHA, New York Heart Association; BMI, body mass index; ICD, implantable cardioverter-defibrillator; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; BNP, brain natriuretic peptide; GGM, gamma-glutamyltransferase; CRP, C-reactive protein; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase.

Heart failure is highly prevalent in patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery (2). Methods for noninvasively assessing the severity of congestion and identifying high-risk patients are required. Our study found a significant difference in baseline ePVS between patients who survived during the first year of follow-up and those who did not. This finding also remained valid for the overall follow-up period. The ePVS cut-off we identified from our 1-year follow-up data was a significant predictor of the overall all-cause mortality in both the univariate and multivariate analyses. The other predictor of overall mortality in the multivariate model was the level of gamma-glutamyltransferase (GGT), whereas the EuroSCORE II approached statistical significance. In order to expand the analysis to a non-weight dependent calculation, we also performed a second set of analyses using PVS values calculated by the Duarte formula. There were significant differences between Duarte's PVS in survivors and non-survivors, and Duarte's PVS was significant in the univariate Cox regression, but not in the multivariate analysis.

Isolated tricuspid valve surgery is performed substantially less frequently than other valve interventions (6). Almost four fifths of all surgeries involving the tricuspid valve in adults are performed concomitantly with other procedures (36). As indicated by the low interventional volumes, and when compared to the overall prevalence of tricuspid valve disease, the indication for tricuspid valve surgery was and is often set too conservatively or too late (37). Several factors related to an impaired immediate and long-term survival have been identified. Dreyfus et al. identified NYHA class III/IV as a predictor of mid-term mortality (3). In accordance with these findings, the ePVS ≥ -4.17 cohort, which had a lower overall survival, had a significantly higher proportion of NYHA III/IV patients. In our patient cohort, individuals with a higher NYHA class (III/IV) had a significantly lower survival compared to patients with NYHA class I/II. However, a sub-stratification according to the ePVS cut-off and NYHA class, despite being statistically significant, resulted in small group sizes and crossing survival curves. Thus, these results must be interpreted with caution and validated by future studies.

Interestingly, more patients in the ePVS < -4.17 cohort, which had a higher overall survival, suffered from functional tricuspid regurgitation, which was also linked to a poorer survival in the study by Dreyfus et al. (3). Tricuspid valve replacement was performed less often than tricuspid valve repair in this cohort, and less frequently when compared to the ePVS ≥ -4.17 cohort. Additionally, fewer in-hospital deaths were observed in the ePVS < -4.17 cohort. Tricuspid valve replacement was shown to carry a higher mortality compared to tricuspid valve repair by Zack et al., although other analyses have delivered conflicting findings (6, 38). The ePVS < -4.17 cohort had fewer cases of endocarditis-related tricuspid regurgitation and intravenous drug use. Intravenous drug users are known to have an impaired long-term survival following isolated tricuspid endocarditis-related surgery and are prone to a higher recurrence of valve endocarditis (39, 40). In the ePVS < -4.17 cohort, significantly more elective surgeries

and significantly fewer urgent interventions were performed. Thus, ePVS could represent a surrogate parameter for late referral or delayed surgery. Delayed or urgently performed surgery has been linked to a worse outcome in isolated tricuspid valve surgery, which is also mirrored by the two (5.2%) inhospital deaths in the ePVS < -4.17 cohort compared to five deaths (10.0%) in the ePVS ≥ -4.17 cohort. However, this finding did not reach statistical significance, possibly due to the small overall incidence of this outcome. Notably, patients with an ePVS < -4.17 had lower levels of GGT, although not statistically significant. In the multivariate analysis, higher GGT levels were statistically significant predictors of overall mortality. A large population study has identified elevated GGT levels as independent predictors of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality (41). Elevated GGT levels have also been described in patients in the beginning stages of heart failure and linked to their NYHA class (42). The third predictor of a poorer outcome was a higher EuroSCORE II, which was lower in the ePVS < -4.17 cohort, but did not reach statistical significance in the multivariate model. Notably, the EuroSCORE II was primarily developed with operative risk assessment in mind. Nonetheless, due to the included clinical parameters, it inevitably correlates with later outcomes, as demonstrated by Wang et al. for isolated tricuspid valve surgery (43, 44).

Our study identified an ePVS of -4.17 as the optimal cutoff point for ePVS when assessing the 1-year mortality following isolated tricuspid valve surgery. The ePVS cut-off most notably agrees with a -4 cut-off identified in a large cohort study by Ling et al. published in 2015, which included over 5,000 patients with heart failure and was also validated in a smaller outpatient cohort (45). This study also included an additional validation step which compared the calculated ePVS to the values obtained via the current gold-standard nuclear medicine plasma volume measurement technique and discovered a satisfactory correlation between the measured and calculated values (45). Notably, the same cut-off was the basis for a study in 600 TAVI patients, where patients with an ePVS past this cut-off also demonstrated significantly worse postinterventional outcomes (46). Slightly lower ePVS cut-offs in the same range were proposed by Martens et al. and Seoudy et al. (23, 33). In the study conducted by Martens et al. on a large cohort of heart failure patients the measured plasma volume and calculated ePVS were found to be comparable (23). In their mixed cohort of patients with HFpEF, heart failure with a mid-range (HFmEF) and reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF), a -6.5 cut-off was identified as the optimal cut-off in terms of heart failure related hospitalization and allcause mortality (23). Seoudy et al. identified an ePVS cut-off of -5.4 as a significant predictor of these outcomes in a TAVI cohort at 1 year after the intervention (33). Interestingly, Schaefer et al. identified a higher ePVS cut-off of 3.1 when analyzing the correlation of the calculated plasma volume status with shortand long-term outcomes in patients undergoing mitral valve surgery (34). In summary, the ePVS cut-off identified by our study is in agreement with data from other trials in different patient collectives and thus provides initial proof that, on the one hand, ePVS might represent a viable stratification parameter for patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery, and on the other hand, ePVS might represent an overarching heart failurerelated stratification parameter that might play a key role in identifying at-risk cardiac surgery patients undergoing a number of different interventions.

Within our study, we also assessed a different approach to calculating the plasma volume from the hematocrit and hemoglobin values at baseline, as previously described by Duarte et al. (20). For Duarte's PVS, 4.79 was the optimal cut-off in our study. Notably, this cut-off is similar to the one identified by Lin et al. in patients with systolic heart failure (47). In their study, a Duarte's PVS higher than 4.35 was associated with more frequent hospitalization and a higher overall mortality (47). In a large cohort of patients admitted to the emergency department with dyspnea, Duarte's PVS higher than 4.17 and 5.12 in particular was linked to significantly worse in-hospital survival, whereas Duarte's PVS > 5.12 increased the likelihood for the diagnosis of acute heart failure later on (48). Thus, the cut-off identified within our study lies well within the range of values identified by other studies.

In our study, ePVS calculated at baseline was a significant predictor of mortality. A study by Tamaki et al. evaluated the prognostic value of plasma volume calculations performed by all three aforementioned formulas: the Hakim, Strauss and Duarte formula for the prediction of outcomes of patients admitted for acutely decompensated heart failure following discharge (28). In their analysis, only ePVS calculated using the Hakim formula at baseline and before discharge reliably predicted the primary outcome (28). In a study by Kobayashi et al., Duarte's PVS measured at discharge was a reliable predictor of outcomes in patients admitted for acute decompensated heart failure, whereas the admission values and the overall change during the stay were not (24). This highlights the need for studies involving plasma volume status assessments during multiple timepoints to determine not only the optimal cut-off, but also the optimal timepoint for plasma volume calculations for patient risk stratification.

REFERENCES

- Kundi H, Popma JJ, Cohen DJ, Liu DC, Laham RJ, Pinto DS, et al. Prevalence and outcomes of isolated tricuspid valve surgery among medicare beneficiaries. *Am J Cardiol.* (2019) 123:132–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2018. 09.016
- Kawsara A, Alqahtani F, Nkomo VT, Eleid MF, Pislaru SV, Rihal CS, et al. Determinants of morbidity and mortality associated with isolated tricuspid valve surgery. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2021) 10:e018417. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.120.01 8417
- Dreyfus J, Flagiello M, Bazire B, Eggenspieler F, Viau F, Riant E, et al. Isolated tricuspid valve surgery: impact of aetiology and clinical presentation on outcomes. *Eur Heart J.* (2020) 41:4304–17. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehaa643
- Pfannmüller B, Davierwala P, Misfeld M, Borger MA, Garbade J, Mohr FW. Postoperative outcome of isolated tricuspid valve operation using arrested-heart or beating-heart technique. Ann

Despite the promising results, our study has a few limitations inherent to its retrospective character and small sample size. Most importantly, numerical echocardiography data were not electronically recorded for a large part of our patient collective, thus precluding us from conducting detailed analyses in this regard. Furthermore, the small sample size limited the combined sub-stratification analysis according to other key parameters, such as NYHA class.

In conclusion, ePVS is an easily obtainable risk score for patients undergoing isolated tricuspid valve surgery capable of predicting mid- and long-term outcomes after isolated tricuspid valve surgery. Our study proposes an ePVS cut-off of -4.17 for long-term risk stratification and a 4.79 cut-off for PVS calculated using Duarte's formula.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the corresponding author, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MM, MR, and MA: conceptualization. MM and EH: methodology. BH, EH, and MM: formal analysis. GL, AK, DW, and MA: resources. MR and EH: data curation. EH and MM: writing—original draft preparation. PW, IC, MR, GL, AK, DW, and MA: writing—review and editing. EH and BH: visualization. MM: supervision. MR: project administration. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Thorac Surg. (2012) 94:1218–22. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012. 05.020

- Hamandi M, Smith RL, Ryan WH, Grayburn PA, Vasudevan A, George TJ, et al. Outcomes of isolated tricuspid valve surgery have improved in the modern era. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2019) 108:11–5. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2019.03.004
- Zack CJ, Fender EA, Chandrashekar P, Reddy YNV, Bennett CE, Stulak JM, et al. National trends and outcomes in isolated tricuspid valve surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 70:2953–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017. 10.039
- Mangoni AA, DiSalvo TG, Vlahakes GJ, Polanczyk CA, Fifer MA. Outcome following isolated tricuspid valve replacement. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2001) 19:68–73. doi: 10.1016/S1010-7940(00)00598-4
- Ejiofor JI, Neely RC, Yammine M, McGurk S, Kaneko T, Leacche M, et al. Surgical outcomes of isolated tricuspid valve procedures: repair versus replacement. *Ann Cardiothorac Surg.* (2017) 6:214–22. doi: 10.21037/acs.2017.05.02

- Raikhelkar J, Lin H-M, Neckman D, Afonso A, Scurlock C. Isolated tricuspid valve surgery: predictors of adverse outcome and survival. *Heart Lung Circ.* (2013) 22:211–20. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2012.09.006
- Boorsma EM, Ter Maaten JM, Damman K, Dinh W, Gustafsson F, Goldsmith S, et al. Congestion in heart failure: a contemporary look at physiology, diagnosis and treatment. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2020) 17:641– 55. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-0379-7
- Miller WL. Fluid volume overload and congestion in heart failure: time to reconsider pathophysiology and how volume is assessed. *Circ Heart Fail.* (2016) 9:e002922. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115. 002922
- Miller WL, Lobo R, Grill DE, Mullan BP. Diuresis-related weight loss reflects interstitial compartment decongestion with minimal impact on intravascular volume expansion or outcomes in post-acute heart failure: metrics of decongestion and volume status. *J Card Fail.* (2021) 27:445– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2020.12.006
- Miller WL, Mullan BP. Understanding the heterogeneity in volume overload and fluid distribution in decompensated heart failure is key to optimal volume management: role for blood volume quantitation. *JACC Heart Fail.* (2014) 2:298–305. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2014.02.007
- Cao Z, Jia Y, Zhu B. BNP and NT-proBNP as diagnostic biomarkers for cardiac dysfunction in both clinical and forensic medicine. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:E1820. doi: 10.3390/ijms20081820
- Miller WL. Assessment and management of volume overload and congestion in chronic heart failure: can measuring blood volume provide new insights? *Kidney Dis.* (2017) 2:164–9. doi: 10.1159/000450526
- Sadowsky D, Suarez-Mazon A, Lugo C, Rashid T, Wu J, Gerard P, Mozzor M. Rapid nuclear medicine blood volume analysis for emergency assessment. J Emerg Trauma Shock. (2020) 13:301-5. doi: 10.4103/JETS.JETS_167_19
- Gómez Perales JL. Blood volume analysis by radioisotopic dilution techniques: state of the art. *Appl Radiat Isot.* (2015) 96:71–82. doi: 10.1016/j.apradiso.2014.11.014
- Manzone TA, Dam HQ, Soltis D, Sagar VV. Blood volume analysis: a new technique and new clinical interest reinvigorate a classic study. J Nucl Med Technol. (2007) 35:55–63; quiz 77, 79. doi: 10.2967/jnmt.106.035972
- Levy J, Brown E, Daley C, Lawrence A. Oxford Handbook of Dialysis. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2010).
- Duarte K, Monnez J-M, Albuisson E, Pitt B, Zannad F, Rossignol P. Prognostic value of estimated plasma volume in heart failure. *JACC Heart Fail.* (2015) 3:886–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2015.06.014
- Strauss MB, Davis RK, Rosenbaum JD, Rossmeisl EC. Water diuresis produced during recumbency by the intravenous infusion of isotonic saline solution. J Clin Invest. (1951) 30:862–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI102501
- Kobayashi M, Huttin O, Donal E, Duarte K, Hubert A, Le Breton H, et al. Association of estimated plasma volume status with hemodynamic and echocardiographic parameters. *Clin Res Cardiol.* (2020) 109:1060– 9. doi: 10.1007/s00392-020-01599-9
- Martens P, Nijst P, Dupont M, Mullens W. The optimal plasma volume status in heart failure in relation to clinical outcome. J Card Fail. (2019) 25:240–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2018.11.019
- Kobayashi M, Girerd N, Duarte K, Preud'homme G, Pitt B, Rossignol P. Prognostic impact of plasma volume estimated from hemoglobin and hematocrit in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Clin Res Cardiol.* (2020) 109:1392–401. doi: 10.1007/s00392-020-01639-4
- Huang C-Y, Lin T-T, Wu Y-F, Chiang F-T, Wu C-K. Long-term prognostic value of estimated plasma volume in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Sci Rep. (2019) 9:14369. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-50427-2
- Grodin JL, Philips S, Mullens W, Nijst P, Martens P, Fang JC, et al. Prognostic implications of plasma volume status estimates in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: insights from TOPCAT. *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2019) 21:634– 42. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.1407
- Yoshihisa A, Abe S, Sato Y, Watanabe S, Yokokawa T, Miura S, et al. Plasma volume status predicts prognosis in patients with acute heart failure syndromes. *Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care.* (2018) 7:330– 8. doi: 10.1177/2048872617690889
- 28. Tamaki S, Yamada T, Morita T, Furukawa Y, Iwasaki Y, Kawasaki M, et al. Prognostic value of calculated plasma volume status in

patients admitted for acute decompensated heart failure a prospective comparative study with other indices of plasma volume. *Circ Rep.* 1:361–71. doi: 10.1253/circrep.CR-19-0039

- Niedermeyer SE, Stephens RS, Kim BS, Metkus TS. Calculated plasma volume status is associated with mortality in acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Crit Care Explor*. (2021) 3:e0534. doi: 10.1097/CCE.00000000000534
- Imamura T, Narang N, Combs P, Siddiqi U, Mirzai S, Stonebraker C, et al. Impact of plasma volume status on mortality following left ventricular assist device implantation. *Artif Organs*. (2021) 45:587–92. doi: 10.1111/aor.13878
- Maznyczka AM, Barakat MF, Ussen B, Kaura A, Abu-Own H, Jouhra F, et al. Calculated plasma volume status and outcomes in patients undergoing coronary bypass graft surgery. *Heart.* (2019) 105:1020–6. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2018-314246
- Shimura T, Yamamoto M, Yamaguchi R, Adachi Y, Sago M, Tsunaki T, et al. Calculated plasma volume status and outcomes in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *ESC Heart Fail.* (2021) 8:1990– 2001. doi: 10.1002/ehf2.13270
- Seoudy H, Saad M, Salem M, Allouch K, Frank J, Puehler T, et al. Calculated plasma volume status is associated with adverse outcomes in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. J Clin Med. (2021) 10:3333. doi: 10.3390/jcm10153333
- 34. Schaefer A-K, Poschner T, Andreas M, Kocher A, Laufer G, Wiedemann D, et al. Impact of subclinical congestion on outcome of patients undergoing mitral valve surgery. *Biomedicines*. (2020) 8:363. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines8090363
- Longo D, Fauci A, Kasper D, Hauser S, Jameson J, Loscalzo J. Harrison's Manual of Medicine. 18th edition. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Professional (2002).
- 36. Vassileva CM, Shabosky J, Boley T, Markwell S, Hazelrigg S. Tricuspid valve surgery: the past 10 years from the Nationwide Inpatient Sample (NIS) database. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2012) 143:1043–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2011.07.004
- 37. Vahanian A, Beyersdorf F, Praz F, Milojevic M, Baldus S, Bauersachs J, et al. 2021 ESC/EACTS guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease: developed by the task force for the management of valvular heart disease of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). *Eur Heart J.* (2022) 43:561–632. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab395
- Yanagawa B, Elbatarny M, Verma S, Hill S, Mazine A, Puskas JD, et al. Surgical management of tricuspid valve infective endocarditis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2018) 106:708– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2018.04.012
- Bearpark L, Sartipy U, Franco-Cereceda A, Glaser N. Surgery for Endocarditis in intravenous drug users. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2021) 112:573– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2020.09.013
- 40. Di Mauro M, Foschi M, Dato GMA, Centofanti P, Barili F, Corte AD, et al. Surgical treatment of isolated tricuspid valve infective endocarditis: 25-year results from a multicenter registry. *Int J Cardiol.* (2019) 292:62–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.05.020
- Sung K-C, Ryu S, Kim B-S, Cheong ES, Park D-I, Kim BI, et al. γ-Glutamyl transferase is associated with mortality outcomes independently of fatty liver. *Clin Chem.* (2015) 61:1173–81. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2015.240424
- 42. Jiang S, Jiang D, Tao Y. Role of gamma-glutamyltransferase in cardiovascular diseases. *Exp Clin Cardiol.* (2013) 18:53–6.
- 43. Wang TKM, Akyuz K, Kirincich J, Duran Crane A, Mentias A, Xu B, et al. Comparison of risk scores for predicting outcomes after isolated tricuspid valve surgery. *J Card Surg.* (2021) 37:126–34. doi: 10.1111/jocs.16098
- 44. Nashef SAM, Roques F, Sharples LD, Nilsson J, Smith C, Goldstone AR, et al. EuroSCORE II. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2012) 41:734–44; discussion 744-5. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezs043
- 45. Ling HZ, Flint J, Damgaard M, Bonfils PK, Cheng AS, Aggarwal S, et al. Calculated plasma volume status and prognosis in chronic heart failure. *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2015) 17:35–43. doi: 10.1002/ej hf.193
- 46. Adlbrecht C, Piringer F, Resar J, Watzal V, Andreas M, Strouhal A, et al. The impact of subclinical congestion on the outcome of patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (2020) 50:e13251. doi: 10.1111/eci.13251

- Lin Y, Xue Y, Liu J, Wang X, Wei L, Bai L, et al. Prognostic value of estimated plasma volume in patients with chronic systolic heart failure. *J Investig Med.* (2021) 69:338–44. doi: 10.1136/jim-2020-001538
- 48. Chouihed T, Rossignol P, Bassand A, Duarte K, Kobayashi M, Jaeger D, et al. Diagnostic and prognostic value of plasma volume status at emergency department admission in dyspneic patients: results from the PARADISE cohort. *Clin Res Cardiol.* (2019) 108:563–73. doi: 10.1007/s00392-018-1388-y

Conflict of Interest: MM received institutional grants, research support, speaker honoraria, and travel compensation from Edwards Lifesciences, Symetis SA, Jena Valve, Boston Scientific, Medtronic, Abbott and Novartis. MA is a proctor for Edwards Lifesciences and Abbott Laboratories and an advisor to Medtronic. DW is a proctor for Abbott and a scientific advisor for Fresenius/Xenios.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of

any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Hasimbegovic, Russo, Andreas, Werner, Coti, Wiedemann, Kocher, Laufer, Hofer and Mach. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Long Term Results of the Modified Bentall Procedure With Mechanical and Biological Composite Valve Grafts

Paul Werner^{1*}, Jasmin Gritsch¹, Alexandra Kaider², Iuliana Coti¹, Emilio Osorio¹, Stephane Mahr¹, Marie-Elisabeth Stelzmueller¹, Alfred Kocher¹, Günther Laufer¹, Martin Andreas¹ and Marek Ehrlich¹

¹ Department of Cardiac Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ² Center for Medical Statistics, Informatics and Intelligent Systems, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bernhard Winkler, Vienna Health Association, Austria

Reviewed by:

Andrea Lechiancole, Azienda Sanitaria Universitaria Integrata di Udine, Italy Wei-Guo Ma, Capital Medical University, China

*Correspondence: Paul Werner paul.werner@meduniwien.ac.at

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 01 February 2022 Accepted: 09 March 2022 Published: 06 April 2022

Citation:

Werner P, Gritsch J, Kaider A, Coti I, Osorio E, Mahr S, Stelzmueller M-E, Kocher A, Laufer G, Andreas M and Ehrlich M (2022) Long Term Results of the Modified Bentall Procedure With Mechanical and Biological Composite Valve Grafts.

Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 9:867732. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.867732 **Objectives:** Despite the evident shift toward biological prostheses, the optimal choice of valve remains controversial in composite valve graft (CVG) replacement. We investigated long-term morbidity and mortality after CVG implantation in an all-comer cohort with a subgroup analysis of patients aged 50–70 years stratified after valve type.

Methods: A total of 507 patients underwent the Bentall procedure with either a mechanical (MCVG, n = 299) or a biological (BCVG n = 208) CVG replacement between 2000 and 2020. A single-center analysis comprising clinical and telephone follow-up was conducted to investigate late mortality and morbidity

Results: The 30-day mortality in all patients [age 56 ± 14 years, 78.1% male, EuroSCORE II 3.12 (1.7; 7.1)] was 5.9%. Patients who were electively operated on had a 30-day mortality of 1.5% (n = 5) while it remained higher in urgent/emergent procedures (n = 25, 15.4%). Survival at 10 and 15 years was 78.19 ± 2.26% and 72.6 ± 3.2%, respectively. In patients aged 50–70 years (n = 261; MCVG = 151, BCVG = 110), survival did not differ significantly between the valve groups (p = 0.419). Multivariable analysis showed no significant impact of valve type on survival (p = 0.069). A time-varying relation with survival was notable, showing a higher risk in the MCVG group in the early postoperative phase, which declined compared to the BCVG group in the course of follow-up.

Conclusions: The Bentall technique presents with excellent mortality when performed electively. The type of valve prosthesis showed no statistically significant effect on mortality in patients aged 50–70 years. However, a time-varying relation showing an initially higher risk with MCVG which decreased compared to BCVG at long-term follow-up was notable. Further studies with even longer follow-up of BCVGs will clarify the ideal choice of prosthesis in this patient subset.

Keywords: modified Bentall procedure, composite valve graft replacement, valve-related adverse events, aortic valve replacement, aortic replacement

INTRODUCTION

Initially, described in 1968 by Bentall and De Bono, composite valve graft (CVG) replacement, also known as the Bentall procedure, represented a novel surgical option for dilated aortic roots (1). The procedure underwent important modifications including, most notably, the abandonment of the wrap-inclusion technique due to albumin-coated Dacron prostheses and the implementation of the coronary-button technique (2) and has become a widely adopted standard of care for various root pathologies (3–5).

Although valve-sparing solutions are often the preferred approach in selected cases, CVG implantation remains universally applicable in an all-comer cohort and is not limited to favorable valve morphology. While earlier reports of patients with CVG only included mechanical conduits (5), the evident trend in surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) toward increased use of bioprosthetic valves has also led to a rising number of biological CVG implantations. However, the problem of the optimal choice of prosthesis in SAVR remains controversial in CVG replacement. Only a few studies have investigated the effect of the type of CVG on postoperative mortality and morbidity, and they have shown no relevant differences in postoperative mortality (6–8).

Herein, we report data on 507 patients with long-term followup and 21 years of experience with the Bentall procedure in a tertiary care center. Given the controversy regarding the optimal choice of conduit, a subgroup analysis of patients aged 50–70 years was performed to investigate the impact of valve choice on survival after CVG replacement.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics Statement

The following study was reviewed and approved by the ethical committee of the Medical University of Vienna (ethical-board number 2311/2020; date of approval 19.01.2021).

Patients

All patients who underwent aortic valve and associated aortic surgery between January 2000 and December 2021 were screened for their surgical procedure to identify patients who underwent CVG implantation after the modified Bentall technique. Patients who underwent root replacement that did not use CVGs and patients younger than 18 years were excluded. Retrospective data were obtained *via* the institutional database and prospective telephone follow-up was performed with assessment of adverse events (AEs) and reinterventions. Our institutional database is part of the Austrian quality-control system for cardiac surgery and is being monitored on a yearly basis. The stored mortality data are in concordance with the Austrian Federal Statistical-Agency and are updated annually.

Endpoint Definitions

The primary endpoint of this study was mortality in the overall cohort and subgroup of patients aged 50–70 years. Postoperative AEs were defined after the current Society of Thoracic

Surgeons (STS)/American Association of Thoracic Surgery (AATS)/European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) guidelines for reporting mortality and morbidity after cardiac valve interventions and were grouped into structural valve deterioration (SVD), non-structural valve dysfunction (NSVD), valve thrombosis, embolism, and bleeding events (9). Permanent neurological deficits which occurred when the patient emerged from anesthesia after the index operation were classified as perioperative stroke. Re-exploration for bleeding was classified as bleeding revision.

Surgical Technique and Conduit Selection

All cases in this study underwent the button Bentall technique, a modification of the original Bentall procedure (1), described by Kouchoukos et al. (2).

Surgical access over a median sternotomy was established. If necessary, right subclavian artery or femoral cannulation was performed before sternotomy. After the establishment of cardiopulmonary bypass and conduction of cardioplegic arrest with cold-blood cardioplegia, aortic root dissection was performed, the coronary buttons were mobilized, and the sinuses of Valsalva were excised. When a non-prefabricated graft was used, a CVG was composed by suturing the valve into a Dacron prosthesis (3-5 mm larger than valve size) with 5-0 polypropylene sutures in a running fashion. Following the first institutional use of a Valsalva conduit in 2006, the GelweaveTM Valsalva prosthesis (Terumo Aortic, Glasgow, UK) became the preferred option for non-prefabricated CVGs. Braided 2-0 polyester sutures with pledgets were placed from the ventricular to the aortic portion of the annulus to anchor the CVG. The second line of 2-0 sutures with pledgets anchoring the graft from the outside was performed for hemostatic reasons. The left coronary button was anastomosed to the CVG in an end-to-side fashion with a 6-0 polypropylene suture. The graft was subsequently pressurized with antegrade cardioplegia to check for bleeding and to distend the graft for correct evaluation of the right coronary artery (RCA) insertion before completion of the anastomosis. A thin strip of the autologous pericardium was routinely included in the button anastomoses for better hemostasis. Distal aortic anastomosis and concomitant procedures were performed according to the underlying pathology.

The valve choice was based on the patient's age, need for anticoagulation, and preference. Patients below 60 years of age more frequently received a mechanical CVG while patients over the age of 65 years routinely received biological CVGs. Some patients under the age of 60 opted for biological CVGs to avoid lifelong anticoagulation although they were advised about the risk of valve deterioration.

Statistical Methods

Continuous variables were described by mean (\pm standard deviation) or median (quartiles) in case of non-normal distributions and compared between groups of patients using the two-sample *t*-test or the Wilcoxon rank-sum test, respectively. Categorical data were compared using the chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test (if expected cell frequencies were <5).

Variables	Overall cohort	50-	70a	
	<i>n</i> = 507	MCVG (<i>n</i> = 151)	BCVG (<i>n</i> = 110)	<i>p</i> -value (50–70a)
Age (years)	56 ± 14	58 ± 6	64 ± 1	<0.001ª
Sex (male)	396 (78.1%)	126 (83.4%)	89 (80.9%)	0.60 ^b
BMI (kg/m²)	27 ± 4.4	27.7 ± 4.3	28.2 ± 4.5	0.41 ^a
EuroSCORE II (%)	3.12 [1.7; 7.1]	2.2 [1.6–5.2]	3.45 [2.2; 7.03]	<0.001°
STS Prom (%)	0.89 [0.63; 1.47]	[0.63; 1.47] 0.84 [0.61; 1.37] 0.87 [0.69; 1.40]		0.09 ^c
Arterial hypertension	408 (80.5%)	127 (84.1%)	98 (89.1%)	0.25 ^b
Diabetes	33 (6.5%)	10 (6.6%)	12 (10.9%)	0.22 ^b
Dyslipidemia	264 (52.1%)	77 (51%)	67 (60.9%)	0.11 ^b
Peripheral vascular disease	13 (2.6%)	4 (2.6%)	0	0.14 ^d
Chronical lung disease	33 (6.5%)	13 (9.2%)	5 (5%)	0.23 ^b
Atrial fibrillation/flutter	82 (16.2%)	29 (19.2%)	15 (13.6%)	0.24 ^b
History of smoking	177 (34.9%)	48 (31.8%)	44 (40.0%)	0.17 ^b
Preoperative creatinine (mg/dl)	1.06 ± 0.53	1.0 [0.85; 1.18]	0.97 [0.86; 1.15]	0.54 ^c
Connective tissue disease	25 (4.9%)	4 (2.6%)	1 (0.9%)	0.31 ^d
Previous cardiac surgery	64 (12.6%)	16 (10.6%)	13 (11.8%)	0.76 ^b
Bicuspid valve	194 (38.3%)	64 (43.8%)	29 (26.4%)	0.004 ^b

TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics.

^aTwo-sample t-test, ^bChi-squared test, ^cWilcoxon-rank-sum test, ^dFisher's-exact test.

The median follow-up times were calculated using the inverse Kaplan-Meier method (10).

The Kaplan-Meier method was used to calculate the cumulative survival probability (with 95% confidence intervals) of the study population. To compare the survival of the study cohort with an age- and sex-matched standard population, mortality data from 2013 (Austrian Federal Statistical-Agency "Statistics Austria") were used (11). The hypothetical cumulative survival of this age-sex-matched standard population was calculated using the life-table method. The comparison of survival of the study cohort to the standard population at time points of 2, 5, and 10 years was performed by z tests (standard population's survival as null hypothesis value).

To evaluate the potential valve type effect on survival, univariable and multivariable Cox proportional-hazards regression models were performed. The prognostic factors of age, EuroSCORE II (log₂-transformed), reoperative status, and high-risk indication were included in the multivariable model in addition to the factor valve type (mechanical/biological) to account for imbalances with respect to these well-known confounding factors. Time-varying effects were tested in the Cox regression models to check the proportional hazards assumption. Since a statistically significant time-varying valve type effect was detected, this term was additionally included in the univariable and multivariable models. Directly adjusted survival curves are depicted to illustrate the multivariable adjusted valve type effect on survival. Survival times were censored after 10 years of follow-up to achieve comparable follow-up periods in these two cohorts.

Cumulative incidence functions were estimated to quantify the probability of valve-related adverse events (composite endpoint incorporating bleeding, thrombosis, embolization, and SVD) accounting for death as a competing event. Gray's test was used for group comparisons.

Two-sided p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The software SAS (SAS Institute Inc., 2016, Cary, NC, USA) was used for statistical calculations.

RESULTS

Characteristics and Procedural Details

Between January 2000 and December 2020, 507 patients underwent a modified Bentall procedure at our institution. The mean age in the overall cohort was 56 \pm 14 years and 78.1% were male. The median (quartiles) EuroSCORE II was 3.12 (1.7; 7.1) and the median STS risk of mortality was 0.89 (0.63; 1.47). Patient characteristics are summarized in Table 1. Elective surgery was performed in 68% (n = 345) of patients. The indications for surgery were anulo-aortic ectasia (n = 374; 73.8%), aortic dissection (n = 104; 20.5%), endocarditis (n =16; 3.2%), and others (n = 13; 2.6%). Biological CVGs and mechanical CVGs (MCVGs) were implanted in 208 (41%) and 299 patients (59%), respectively. Prosthetic conduits are listed in **Figure 1**. Implantation of MCVG was performed in 86.3% (n =132) of cases between 2000 and 2010 and in 47.2% (*n* = 167) of cases between 2011 and 2020 (p < 0.001). Procedural details are summarized in Table 2.

The median follow-up for the primary endpoint survival was 81.5 (35.5; 127.1) months with 3,129 patient-years and a maximum of 243 months. The median follow-up for AEs was 47.9 (5.1; 104.7) months with a total of 2,230 patient years. In patients aged 50–70 years, the median survival follow-up was 102.8 months in the MCVG group (57.8 months for AEs) and



55.1 months in the biological CVG (BCVG) group (37.2 months for AEs).

Post-operative Mortality

The 30-day mortality in all patients was 5.9% (n = 30) with one case of intraprocedural mortality (0.2%). No significant difference in 30-day mortality was observed between patients who received a MCVG (n = 18) vs. BCVG (n = 12, p = 0.9). Patients who underwent surgery for acute type-A dissection presented with a higher 30-day mortality (n = 21, 20.2%, p < 0.001), as did patients who underwent urgent/emergent procedures (n = 25, 15.4%, p < 0.001). Patients who underwent elective surgery had a low 30-day mortality rate of 1.5% (n = 5). Survival at 5, 10, and 15 years was 84.1 \pm 1.8, 78.2 \pm 2.3, and 72.6 \pm 3.2%, respectively. Our study cohort's survival was compared to an age- and sex-matched Austrian standard population (Figure 2). Survival was significantly lower in patients who underwent CVG implantation than in a standard population at 2 years (97.6 vs. 87.8; *p* < 0.0001) and 5 years (93.2 vs. 84.1; p < 0.0001) but not at 10 years (82.6 vs. 78.2; p = 0.12).

Morbidity and Repeat Surgery

Overall, 37 patients (7.3%) received temporary mechanical circulatory support within 30 days after surgery, with 34 cases of extracorporeal membrane-oxygenation (ECMO) implantation (n = 6.7%) and two cases (0.4%) of intra-aortic balloon pump implantation. Indications for ECMO implantation in the patients receiving a BCVG were severely reduced left ventricular function (n = 2) after CBP, left ventricular failure

after ventricular rupture (n = 1), biventricular failure (n = 4) due to myocardial stunning, right ventricular failure (n = 2), combined respiratory and hemodynamic instability (n = 2), and cardiopulmonary resuscitation with pulseless electrical activity at the 29th postoperative day (POD). Of those patients, two patients died within 30 days after the index surgery.

Revision surgery for bleeding or tamponade was necessary in 45 patients (re-exploration n = 33, 6.5%; subxiphoidal drainage n= 12, 2.4%). Perioperative stroke was observed in 24 cases (4.7%) and perioperative transient-ischemic attacks (TIAs) occurred in 4 patients (0.8%). Early permanent pacemaker implantation (<14 days postoperative) was necessary for 13 patients (2.3%). Two patients (1% BCVG) presented with SVD after receiving a BCVG, and NSVD was observed in one case (0.2%) with severe paravalvular dehiscence after implantation of an MCVG (the patient eventually died due to prohibitive surgical risk). Valve thrombosis was diagnosed in two patients (0.4%) with an MCVG, and surgical extirpation was required in both cases. Embolic events were observed in 27 patients (5.3%), of which 24 (4.7%; stroke n = 19, TIA n = 5) presented as cerebral and three (0.6%) as peripheral. Bleeding events were reported in 32 patients (6.3%), stratified into 12 cerebral and 20 peripheral bleeding events. Endocarditis was observed in 19 patients (3.7%), of whom 9 (1.8%) underwent root rereplacement.

Repeat surgery on the thoracic aorta, aortic valve, or coronaries was performed in 35 patients (6.9%). Valve-related reoperations (n = 9; 1.8%) were performed due to endocarditis requiring root rereplacement in 8 cases (1.6%) and valve thrombus requiring extirpation in one case (0.2%). Eighteen

TABLE 2 | Procedural details.

Variables	Overall cohort	50-	70a	
		MCVG (<i>n</i> = 151)	BCVG (<i>n</i> = 110)	<i>p</i> -value (50–70a)
Operative status				0.24ª
Elective	345 (68.1%)	97 (64.2%)	80 (72.7%)	
Urgent	66 (13%)	18 (11.9%)	11 (10%)	
Emergent	95 (18.7%)	36 (23.8%)	18 (16.4%)	
Salvage	1 (0.2%)	0	1 (0.9%)	
Indication				0.34 ^a
Anulo-aortic ectasia	374 (73.8%)	106 (70.2%)	85 (77.3%)	
Dissection	104 (20.5%)	36 (23.8%)	20 (18.2%)	
Endocarditis	17 (3.4%)	7 (4.6%)	2 (1.8%)	
Other	12 (2.4%)	2 (1.3%)	3 (2.7%)	
Concomitant procedures	189 (37.3%)	54 (35.8%)	42 (38.2%)	0.69 ^b
Coronary bypass	88 (17.4%)	21 (13.9%)	12 (19.1%)	0.26 ^b
Mitral	33 (6.5%)	9 (6%)	6 (5.5%)	0.87
Tricuspid	9 (1.8%)	2 (1.3%)	3 (2.7%)	0.41
Atrial-Fibrillation	10 (2%)	3 (2%)	4 (3.6%)	0.42
Aortic				
Hemiarch	73 (14.4%)	26 (17.2%)	16 (14.5%)	0.56 ^b
Total-Arch	22 (4.3%)	5 (3.3%)	4 (3.6%)	1.0 ^a
Elephant-Trunk	6 (1.2%)	0	2 (1.8%)	0.18ª
Circulatory arrest	198 (39.1%)	60 (39.7%)	46 (41.8%)	0.74 ^b
Aortic cross-clamp (min)	131 [107; 164]	126.5 [103; 158]	135 [115; 174]	0.02°
Extracorporeal circulation (min)	184 [150; 235]	174 [139; 226]	192.5 [161; 236]	0.02 ^c

^aFisher's-exact test.

^bChi-squared test.

^cWilcoxon-rank-sum test.

patients (3.7%) underwent aortic-related repeat surgery with 2 cases (0.4%) of root rereplacement, 1 case (0.2%) of sinotubularjunction pseudoaneurysm, 5 cases (1%) of arch replacement, 9 cases (1.8%) of thoracic endovascular aortic repair, and one case (0.2%) of thoracoabdominal replacement. Coronary-related reoperations (n = 8; 1.6%) were performed due to coronary button pseudoaneurysm (n = 3; 0.6%), kinking of the proximal RCA (n = 2; 0.4%), kinking of a vein-graft to the RCA (n = 1; 0.2%), necessity of bypass revision with simultaneous thrombus extirpation and ventricular assist-device implantation (n = 1;0.2%), and ischemic cardiogenic failure (n = 1; 0.2%). Second repeat surgery was performed in seven patients (1.4%) with three cases (0.6%) of root rereplacement and four cases of aortic procedures (0.8%). Altogether, rereplacement of the root was performed in 13 patients (2.6%) in the overall cohort. The annualized event rate of root rereplacement was 0.6% in all patients. Postoperative mortality and morbidity are summarized in Table 3.

Mortality and Morbidity in Patients Aged 50–70 Years

In patients aged 50–70 years (n = 261; MCVG = 161, BCVG = 110), the 30-day mortality was 6.5% (n = 16) with no significant differences between valve types (MVCG n = 11, 6.8%, BCVG 4.5% n = 5, p = 0.36). The Kaplan-Meier estimated freedom

from mortality at 1, 5, and 10 years was 89.8 ± 2.5 , 83.1 ± 3.3 , and $79.7 \pm 3.7\%$ in the mechanical cohort and 89.3 ± 3.1 , 83.4 ± 4.1 , and $68 \pm 6.9\%$ in the biological cohort, respectively, with no statistically significant differences (log-rank p = 0.419; **Figure 3A**). When compared to an age- and sexmatched Austrian standard population, freedom from mortality was significantly lower in the MCVG cohort at 2 (98.4 vs. 86.7%, p = 0.0004) and 5 years (95.4 vs. 83.1%, p = 0.0017), but not at 10 years (88.6 vs. 79.6%, p = 0.052). In the BCVG cohort, survival was significantly lower at 2 years (97.2 vs. 88.1%, p = 0.013), but not at 5 (92.4 vs. 83.4%, p = 0.06) or 10 years (81.9 vs. 68%, p = 0.17; **Figure 3B**).

To investigate the effect of valve type on mortality in this subset, univariate and multivariable Cox proportional-hazards regression models were created. According to the number of observed events (n = 47), the four relevant prognostic confounders of age, EuroSCORE II (log₂-transformed), previous cardiac surgery, and high-risk indication (aorticdissection/endocarditis) were included in the multivariable model to evaluate the adjusted effect of valve type on survival. All variables except valve type were statistically significant prognostic factors for mortality following univariate analysis (**Table 4**). When adjusting for the confounders (multivariable model) and including the statistically significant time-varying effect of valve type (p = 0.034), the initially negative effect of



the MCVG was found to later change to a decreased risk for mortality compared to the BCVG. However, the overall valve type effect remained statistically non-significant (p = 0.069). To illustrate the time-varying valve type effect, landmark analyses were performed at the landmark time points 2 and 5 years after CG replacement (**Supplementary Material**). A direct adjusted survivor function was created to illustrate this trend in patients aged 50–70 years (**Figure 4**). As a sensitivity analysis, a sub-analysis was performed on a 1:1 matched cohort based on patients age (categorized in 5-years increments), EuroSCORE II (categorized in deciles), and BAV (bicuspid vs. non-bicuspid valve) (**Supplementary Material**).

To assess valve-related AEs, a composite endpoint incorporating bleeding, thrombosis, embolization, and SVD was assessed. A cumulative incidence function with death as competing event showed no differences between the two groups (p = 0.695) with a CI at 1, 5, and 10 years of 7.9 ± 2.4, 14.3 ± 3.6,

and 20.5 \pm 4.8% in the MCVG cohort and 7.6 \pm 2.8, 9.1 \pm 3.2, and 18.7 \pm 6% in the BCVG cohort, respectively (**Figure 5**).

DISCUSSION

Within this study, we investigated long-term mortality and morbidity in a large single-center cohort of 507 patients who underwent CVG implantation after the modified Bentall procedure, and performed a specific subset analysis of patients between the ages of 50–70 years at index surgery.

Our study presents the following principal findings: (1) the modified Bentall procedure continues to represent the goldstandard for an all-comer cohort with aortic root pathologies and can be performed with excellent early mortality comparable to isolated aortic valve replacement (1.5%) in elective cases; (2) In the specific subset of patients aged 50–70 years, no clear survival benefit was shown for any type of prosthetic

TABLE 3 | Post-operative morbidity and mortality.

Clinical events	Overall cohort	50-		
		MCVG (<i>n</i> = 151)	BCVG (<i>n</i> = 110)	<i>p</i> -value (50–70a)
30-day mortality	30 (5.9%)	11 (7.3%)	5 (4.5%)	0.36
ECMO (<30 days)	34 (6.7%)	4 (2.6%)	12 (10.9)	0.003
Perioperative stroke	24 (4.7%)	8 (5.3%)	8 (7.3%)	0.51°
Early pacemaker (<14 days)	13 (2.6%)	4 (2.6%)	3 (2.7%)	1.0 ^d
Bleeding revision/drainage	45 (8.9%)	5 (3.3%)	13 (11.8%)	0.007 ^c
Root rereplacement ^a	0.6% ppy (n = 13)	0.6% ppy ($n = 4$)	0.3% ppy (n = 1)	
SVDª	<0.01% ppy (n = 2)	0% ppy	0.3% ppy (n = 1)	
NSVD ^a	<0.01% ppy (n = 1)	0% ppy	0% ppy	
Embolic events ^a	1.2% ppy (n = 27)	2% ppy (n = 13)	1.1% ppy (n = 4)	
Bleeding ^a	1.4% ppy (n = 32)	1.4% ppy (n = 9)	1.7% ppy (n = 6)	
Endocarditis ^a	0.9% ppy (n = 19)	0.8% ppy (n = 5)	1.1% ppy (n = 4)	
Bleeding/embolization/thrombus/SVD ^b	/			0.70 ^e
1 year		7.9% [4–13.5]	7.6% [3.3–14.2]	
5 years		14.3% [8.2–22.1]	9.1% [4.2–16.5]	
10 years		20.5% [12–30.6]	18.7% [8.7–31.8]	

^aAnnualized event-rates (event per patient year = ppy).

^bCumulative incidence with death as competing event.

^cChi-squared test.

^dFisher's exact test.

^eGray's test.



valve, however, there was a strong tendency for an initially higher risk with MCVG which decreased compared to BCVG at long term follow-up; (3) In patients aged 50–70 years, no difference in the incidence of a composite endpoint comprising valve-related morbidity was observed between mechanical and biological CVGs.

The observed 30-day mortality in our overall cohort was 5.9%, with no significant differences between mechanical and

TABLE 4 | Univariable and multivariable Cox regression models for post-operative mortality (50–70a).

Prognostic factor	Univariable r	nodels	Multivariable model		
	HR [95% CI]	P-value	HR [95% CI]	P-value	
Age (years)	1.063 [1.01-1.12]	0.0127	1.07 [1.01–1.13]	0.02	
EuroSCORE II (log ₂ -transformed)	1.79 [1.42–2.17]	<0.0001	1.66 [1.29–2.14]	<0.001	
Previous cardiac surgery	2.8 [1.39–5.65]	0.004	1.32 [0.611–2.86]	0.48	
Indication (dissection/endocarditis)	2.98 [1.67–5.32]	0.0002	1.54 [0.79–3]	0.21	
Valve type (mechanical)		0.079 ^b		0.069 ^c	
6 months ^a	0.71 [0.39–1.29]		1.29 [0.64–2.58]		
1 year ^a	0.60 [0.32–1.13]		1.08 [0.52–2.24]		
5 years ^a	0.40 [0.17–0.94]		0.71 [0.28–1.80]		
9 years ^a	0.35 [0.14–0.90]		0.61 [0.22–1.70]		

^aAfter surgery.

^bOverall p-value (time-dependent effect: p = 0.04).

^cOverall p-value (time-dependent effect: p = 0.033).



biological CVGs, which is comparable to other collectives in the literature. Di Marco et al. reported on the currently largest single-center cohort (n = 1,045) after MCVG and BCVG implantation, showing operative mortality of 5.3% without significant differences between valve types (3). The Leipzig group reported hospital mortality of 3.9% in their overall cohort of

597 patients who were implanted with MCVGs and BCVGs (4). In a different single-center cohort of 593 patients with only MCVGs, the 30-day mortality was 3.2%, with 2.5% in elective cases and 6.5% in urgent cases (5). A meta-analysis published in 2016, including 46 studies with 7,629 patients undergoing a Bentall procedure, showed a pooled early mortality of 6%



FIGURE 5 | Cumulative incidence function for a composite endpoint for valve-related morbidity including bleeding events, embolic events, valve thrombo structural valve deterioration in patients aged 50–70a.

(12). We observed low 30-day mortality of 1.5% in patients who underwent elective CVG implantation, which is comparable to isolated SAVR and represents an excellent safety profile for an aortic root procedure. The low mortality of elective cases might be attributable to the standardization of the procedure within the last 20 years including modifications, such as the button technique and the broad implementation of temporary mechanical circulatory support. However, in urgent/emergent cases and type-A dissection, the Bentall procedure remains at higher risk as indicated by the 30-day mortality in our collective and within the literature (3, 4, 13).

The optimal valve choice in the so-called "gray area" of patients aged 50–70 years has been a matter of discussion in past decades and remains controversial. Nevertheless, the trend toward an increasing number of bioprostheses used in SAVR continues and is also present in CVG replacement. In our series, 86.3% of patients between 2000 and 2010 received an MCVG, while BCVG implantation was more frequent between 2010 and 2020 with 53% (p < 0.001). Evidence on valve choice in the Bentall procedure is limited as only a few studies have investigated the effect of valve type, especially in patients aged 50–70 years. An earlier analysis, including BCVG, stentless prostheses, and MCVG, showed no differences regarding

early and midterm mortality between mechanical and biological solutions (6). In a more recent publication with two equally sized (n = 138) propensity-matched CVG cohorts stratified after valve type, no differences in early and late mortality were observed between the groups (7). Follow-up was limited with mean values ranging from 29 months in the biological group to 40 months in the mechanical group. In the only subgroup analysis of patients aged 50-70 years, Etz et al. reported no significant differences in long-term survival, reinterventions rates, or stroke (4). They concluded that BCVG might be an equivalent alternative to MCVG in this patient subset. However, their conclusion is challenged by more recent evidence from larger retrospective analyses in SAVR patients. Particularly, a California state-wide analysis showed improved survival in patients with mechanical AVR below the age of 55 and data from the nationwide SWEDEHEART registry reported a survival benefit of mechanical over biological prostheses in patients aged up to 69 years at replacement (14, 15). Even though we did not find a statistically significant effect of valve type on mortality, a time-varying effect with initially increased risk for MCVG which later decreased compared to BCVG was notable (p =0.069). Similar results were observed in an Italian multicentricregistry comparing MCVG and BCVG implantation, where a

non-significant (p = 0.09) trend to improved late survival in MCVG patients was reported (8). A possible factor contributing to the initially increased mortality in the MCVG cohort might be a numerically higher number of urgent (MCVG 11.9% vs. BCVG 10%) and emergent (MCVG 23.8% vs. BCVG 16.4%) procedures (nonetheless, surgical indication, including dissection and endocarditis, was not a predictive factor for mortality in the multivariable model). Patients in the BCVG group showed a trend toward decreased survival in long-term follow-up, which can be partially explained by an older cohort with a numerically higher burden of comorbidities (although statistically nonsignificant). Further considerations, such as the impact of structural deterioration remain speculative, as only one case of SVD and one root rereplacement in the BCVG aged 50-70a were observed in our cohort with no significant differences in reinterventions. Our cohort presented a median survival followup of 102.8 months in the MCVG group (57.8 months for AEs) and 55.1 months in the BCVG group (37.2 months for AEs). SVD, which remains the burden of bioprosthetic valves, usually occurs after 5 years postoperatively. As we recently showed, a rapid increase in SVD events in certain valve types can be expected starting 6 years after surgery with aortic valve reinterventions as a negative predictor of survival in SAVR (16). Longer follow-up times in this subset (50-70a) will be needed to obtain a more comprehensive picture of the effects of SVD in CVG replacement. The survival benefit of mechanical valves in patients who have undergone SAVR aged up to 55/69 years shown by recent analyses (14, 15) and the absence of evidence of survival benefits for BCVG should not be neglected when opting for the optimal CVG choice in patients aged 50-70 years.

Interestingly, the incidence of a composite endpoint for valverelated morbidity did not differ between the MCVG and BCVG cohorts aged 50–70 years (**Figure 5**). No significant difference in the number of bleeding or embolic events was observed between the groups. This might be attributable to improved management of anticoagulation in patients receiving mechanical prostheses, including self-measurement strategies and lower thrombogenicity of modern mechanical valves.

Study Strengths and Limitations

This study presents one of the largest single-center cohorts of patients who underwent a modified Bentall procedure at a tertiary care center with a relevant number of patients aged 50–70 years at the time of surgery. Due to its retrospective nature, this study presents has some limitations. Although patient followup was meticulously performed, it was naturally hindered by patient refusal, relocation, and death. In a single-center cohort, a specific set of surgeons is represented and may thus introduce an unknown bias. Biological CVGs have been implanted more frequently in the latter half of the study period. Therefore, followup in this group is inevitably proportionally shorter compared to MCVGs. Consequently, analyses between the valve groups in patients aged 50–70 years were limited to 10 years of follow-up. The present study is retrospective in nature and, therefore, its results cannot substitute those of a prospective randomized trial which would randomize eligible patients to either mechanical or biological CVG replacement.

CONCLUSION

The modified Bentall technique presents satisfactory results in an all-comer series with low mortality when electively performed, but remains a high-risk procedure when performed in urgent or emergent cases. The choice of valve conduit showed no statistically significant effects on mortality in patients aged 50–70 years. However, there was a strong tendency for an initially higher risk with MCVG, which decreased compared to BCVG at long-term follow-up. Further studies with longer follow-up of biological valve conduits are needed to determine the ideal choice of valve in this specific patient subset.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Committee of the Medical University of Vienna (ethical-board number 2311/2020; date of approval 19.01.2021). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PW was responsible for conceptualization, data curation, investigation, formal analysis, methodology, and writing. JG and IC were responsible for data curation, resources, review, and editing. AKa was responsible for the methodology, resources, and formal analysis. EO, SM, and M-ES were responsible for reviewing, editing, and conceptualization. AKo and GL were responsible for the review with editing and supervision. MA was responsible for conceptualization, review with editing, and supervision. ME was responsible for conceptualization, project administration, reviewing, editing, and supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are thankful to our database administrator, Ms. Manduric, and to the Medical University of Vienna IT4Science-Team for their support and continuous effort in data acquisition for this project.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcvm. 2022.867732/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Bentall H, De Bono A. A technique for complete replacement of the ascending aorta. *Thorax.* (1968) 23:338–9. doi: 10.1136/thx.23.4.338
- Kouchoukos NT, Wareing TH, Murphy SF, Perrillo JB. Sixteenyear experience with aortic root replacement. Results of 172 operations. *Ann Surg.* (1991) 214:308–18; discussion 18–20. doi: 10.1097/0000658-199109000-00013
- Di Marco L, Pacini D, Pantaleo A, Leone A, Barberio G, Marinelli G, et al. Composite valve graft implantation for the treatment of aortic valve and root disease: results in 1045 patients. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2016) 152:1041– 8.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2016.05.021
- Etz CD, Bischoff MS, Bodian C, Roder F, Brenner R, Griepp RB, et al. The Bentall procedure: is it the gold standard? A series of 597 consecutive cases. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2010) 140 (6 Suppl):S64–70; discussion S86–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2010.07.033
- van Putte BP, Ozturk S, Siddiqi S, Schepens MA, Heijmen RH, Morshuis WJ. Early and late outcome after aortic root replacement with a mechanical valve prosthesis in a series of 528 patients. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2012) 93:503–9. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.07.089
- Byrne JG, Gudbjartsson T, Karavas AN, Mihaljevic T, Phillips BJ, Aranki SF, et al. Biological vs. mechanical aortic root replacement. *Eur J Cardiothorac* Surg. (2003) 23:305–10. doi: 10.1016/s1010-7940(02)00816-3
- Pantaleo A, Murana G, Di Marco L, Jafrancesco G, Barberio G, Berretta P, et al. Biological versus mechanical Bentall procedure for aortic root replacement: a propensity score analysis of a consecutive series of 1112 patients. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2017) 52:143–9. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx070
- Lechiancole A, Celiento M, Isola M, Gatti G, Melina G, Vendramin I, et al. Modified Bentall procedure: mechanical vs biological valved conduits in patients older than 65years. *Int J Cardiol.* (2019) 296:38–42. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.07.053
- Akins CW, Miller DC, Turina MI, Kouchoukos NT, Blackstone EH, Grunkemeier GL, et al. Guidelines for reporting mortality and morbidity after cardiac valve interventions. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2008) 85:1490–5. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.12.082
- Schemper M, Smith TL. A note on quantifying follow-up in studies of failure time. *Control Clin Trials.* (1996) 17:343–6. doi: 10.1016/0197-2456(96)00075-X
- 11. *Statistics Austria.* Available online at: https://www.statistik.at/web_de/ statistiken/menschen_und_gesellschaft/bevoelkerung/sterbetafeln/index. html

- 12. Mookhoek A, Korteland NM, Arabkhani B, Di Centa I, Lansac E, Bekkers JA, et al. Bentall procedure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2016) 101:1684–9. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015.10.090
- Yang B, Patel HJ, Sorek C, Hornsby WE, Wu X, Ward S, et al. Sixteen-Year experience of david and bentall procedures in acute type a aortic dissection. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2018) 105:779–84. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2017.09.029
- Goldstone AB, Chiu P, Baiocchi M, Lingala B, Patrick WL, Fischbein MP, et al. Mechanical or biologic prostheses for aortic-valve and mitral-valve replacement. N Engl J Med. (2017) 377:1847–57. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1613792
- Glaser N, Jackson V, Holzmann MJ, Franco-Cereceda A, Sartipy U. Aortic valve replacement with mechanical vs. biological prostheses in patients aged 50-69 years. *Eur Heart J.* (2016) 37:2658–67. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv580
- Werner P, Coti I, Kaider A, Gritsch J, Mach M, Kocher A, et al. Longterm durability after surgical aortic valve replacement with the trifecta and the intuity valve—a comparative analysis. *Euro J Cardio Thorac Surg.* (2021) 61:416–24. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezab470

Conflict of Interest: MA is a proctor, speaker, consultant in Abbott, Edwards, Medtronic, and received institutional funding (Abbott, Edwards, Medtronic, LSI). AKo is a proctor (Edwards) and received speaker fees (Edwards). GL is an advisory-board member (Edwards).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Werner, Gritsch, Kaider, Coti, Osorio, Mahr, Stelzmueller, Kocher, Laufer, Andreas and Ehrlich. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Perioperative and Short-Term Outcomes of Sinus Replacement and Conservative Repair for Aortic Root in Acute Type A Aortic Dissection: A Prospective Cohort Study

Yi Chang, Xiangyang Qian*, Hongwei Guo, Yizhen Wei, Cuntao Yu, Xiaogang Sun, Bo Wei, Qiong Ma and Yi Shi

Department of Vascular Surgery, National Center for Cardiovascular Diseases, Cardiovascular Institute, Fuwai Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Science and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antonio Miceli, Istituto Clinico Sant'Ambrogio, Italy

Reviewed by:

Maria Cannoletta, Royal Brompton Hospital, United Kingdom Jian Zhuang, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, China

> *Correspondence: Xiangyang Qian m13701097213@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 21 February 2022 Accepted: 19 April 2022 Published: 19 May 2022

Citation:

Chang Y, Qian X, Guo H, Wei Y, Yu C, Sun X, Wei B, Ma Q and Shi Y (2022) Perioperative and Short-Term Outcomes of Sinus Replacement and Conservative Repair for Aortic Root in Acute Type A Aortic Dissection: A Prospective Cohort Study. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 9:880411. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.880411 **Background:** To compare outcomes between sinus replacement (SR) and conservative repair (CR) for dissected roots with normal size.

Methods: From October 2018 to April 2021, a prospective cohort study was carried out. Patients were assigned to two groups (SR group and CR group) according to whether they underwent sinus replacement. Propensity score matching was applied to adjust preoperative variables and Kaplan–Meier method was used for survival analysis.

Results: Three hundred and eighty-seven patients were enrolled. In the whole cohort, 18 patients (4.7%) died postoperatively. The operative mortality of SR group was comparable to CR group (3.2% vs. 6.0%, p = 0.192 before matching; 3.5% vs. 7.0%, p = 0.267 after matching) and the incidence of hemostasis management under restarted cardiopulmonary bypass for root bleeding was lower in SR group (1.6% vs. 7.0%, p = 0.002 before matching; 2.1% vs. 8.5%, p = 0.03 after matching). The median follow-up duration was 12 months. There were 3 reoperations in the CR group. The estimated cumulative event rate of reoperation was 1.1 % at 12 months and 1.6% at 24 months in CR group, with a trend of a lower rate in the SR group (log-rank p = 0.089 before matching, p = 0.075 after matching). There was one late death in each group. The estimated cumulative event rate of death was 3.8% at 12 months and 24 months in the SR group, and was 6.6% in the CR group with no significant difference (log-rank p = 0.218 before matching, p = 0.120 after matching). Aortic regurgitation significantly improved postoperatively and remained stable during follow-up.

Conclusions: Sinus replacement is a simple, safe, and effective technique for repairing severely dissected sinus with a comparable time spent in operation and excellent immediate and short-term results. It had the advantages of eliminating false lumen and avoiding aortic root bleeding.

Keywords: aortic dissection, aortic root repair, prospective cohort study, propensity score matching, sinus replacement

INTRODUCTION

Surgical treatment of acute type A aortic dissection (ATAAD) is challenging and management of the involved aortic root is a key point. In the guidelines, the aortic root involved in dissection should be replaced when its diameter is larger than 45 mm (1). For those aortic roots with normal size, the conservative repair is preferred, accompanied by an estimated freedom from root reoperation of 82-100% at 5 years and 69-93% at 10 years (2). The reoperation was closely related to pathological features and operation choice (3-5). Among various techniques, sinus replacement (SR) (or other names like single patch technique, patch neointima technique) presented with excellent early and long-term results according to our experience and previous research (6, 7). To compare the outcomes between sinus replacement and other conservative repair techniques, we conducted a prospective cohort study from October 2018 to April 2021. In this study, we analyzed the perioperative and short-term outcomes to demonstrate more reliable evidence about aortic root management in ATAAD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Cohort

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Fuwai Hospital in September 2018 and the approval number was 2018-1094. From October 2018 to April 2021, patients with ATAAD were recruited for this prospective cohort study in our institution. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) aortic sinus or root being involved; (2) open surgical repair being performed. All the inclusion criteria must be met simultaneously. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) having connective tissue diseases; (2) aortic root diameter being more than 45 mm and requiring aortic root replacement; (3) having three aortic sinuses involved simultaneously. One exclusion criterion was enough to reject the candidate. The patients accepted sinus replacement or other conservative repair techniques at surgeons' discretion and then they were assigned to the SR group and CR group. Based on a two-tailed $\alpha = 0.05$, power $(1 - \beta) = 0.90$, and relative risk of aortic root reoperation = 0.125 (based on data from a previous study [2] and our estimation), a sample size of 180 for each group was originally calculated for comparison between the two groups. Taking into account an anticipated 10% loss to follow-up rate, 200 patients were selected for each group to ensure an adequate final sample size. The flow chart of patient enrollment was shown in Supplementary Figure I. Written informed consent was obtained from all participating patients before the start of the study.

Definition and Classification

Acute aortic dissection was defined as a dissection operated on no later than 14 days after the onset of symptoms. Aortic regurgitation (AR) grade was defined as: 0 = none or trivial, 1 = mild, 2 = moderate, 3 = moderate to severe, and 4 =severe. The classification proposed by Neri et al. (8) was used for coronary artery involvement. Restarted CPB referred to a reoperation under restarting cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) or cross-clamp for bleeding or myocardial ischemia in the same surgery. The primary end-point was defined as aortic root reoperation during follow-up. The second end-point was defined as death during follow-up.

Surgical Procedures

A standard median sternotomy was performed for all patients. The strategy of initial arterial cannulation and cardiopulmonary bypass was decided individually, according to the operation method choice, surgeon's preference, and patient's status.

Sinus replacement was conducted as follows: ascending aorta was transected 1 cm above sinotubular junction and the intimal flap of the involved sinus was removed maintaining a remanent edge of 5 mm apart from the cusp insertion. Dissecting aortic root from surrounding tissue was troublesome so adventitia was reserved to omit to separate an involved root. A patch deriving from artificial graft was trimmed to a scallop shape similar to native Valsalva sinus. A 5-0 running polypropylene suture was used to sew the patch and remanent intima and adventitia together. Of note, the bottom of the patch should be sewed to the aortic annulus (Figures 1A-C). If we performed sinus replacement in the left or right coronary sinus we would judge the severity of the dissected coronary artery by Neri classification. In type A, the intima of the coronary orifice was trimmed into a button with a 5 mm circumferential cuff. The intimal button was attached snugly to the adventitia by running suture. After sinus replacement was performed as mentioned above, a circular hole was created on the patch for receiving the coronary button. Then the button was re-implanted to the patch using a 5-0 running polypropylene suture (Figures 2A-C). In types B and C, we selected coronary artery bypasses grafting (CABG) for security. The avulsed commissure was attached to adventitia using interrupted mattress suture with the pledge. Then the root stump was prepared for proximal anastomosis. In the CR group, two approaches were used at the surgeon's discretion: neomedia technique and adventitial inversion technique, as the previous study described (9, 10). Neomedia technique was inserting a shaped patch into the false lumen of the root and then intima, the patch, and adventitia were anastomosed with graft. The adventitial inversion technique referred to invert the redundant adventitia overlapping the intima to reinforce anastomosis. These two techniques could reinforce the sutural margin of the aortic root. A total arch replacement was routinely applied in our institution to repair the involved arch. Frozen elephant trunk or endovascular stents were used distally. When the dissection was limited to ascending aorta or proximal arch, isolated ascending aorta replacement or hemi-arch replacement was recommended. Hypothermic circulatory arrest (HCA) and antegrade selective cerebral perfusion were used for arch repair.

Follow-Up

Data was obtained from each patient's medical chart during regular visits to the outpatient clinic or by telephone contact. The survivors received follow-up using transthoracic echocardiography, CT scan, or both. Survival, reoperation, and AR grade were investigated.





Statistical Analysis

Data were presented as mean and SD for continuous data conforming to the normal distribution and as number (%) for categorical data. Shapiro–Wilk test was used to evaluate the normality of continuous data. The mean of two continuous normally distributed variables was compared by independent samples Student's *t*-test. Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to compare non-normal continuous variables. Comparison of categoric variables between groups was analyzed by likelihood ratio Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test.

Propensity score matching was applied to achieve balanced exposure groups at baseline (i.e., minimal confounding). The probability of each patient having an aortic sinus replacement (i.e., the propensity score) was calculated using a logistic regression model. Covariates adjusted and evaluation of propensity score model was demonstrated in **Supplementary Table I**. Patients were then matched one-to-one using nearest neighbor matching and caliper width of 0.1 of SD of the logit of the propensity score. After propensity score matching, a comparison of continuous data conforming to normal distribution between groups was analyzed by paired t-test. Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to compare nonnormal continuous variables. Paired Chi-square test was used to compare multiple categorical variables between the two groups. McNemar test was used to compare binary variables between the two groups. Univariate logistic regression analysis was used to calculate the relative risk (RR) of sinus replacement after matching. Kaplan-Meier method was used for survival analysis and log-rank test was used to compare the difference in cumulative event rate. The competing risk model was constructed by subdistribution hazard function to control the effect of long-term mortality on the primary outcome:longterm risk for reintervention. Statistical significance was denoted by p-values < 0.05. The statistical analyses were conducted by SAS (version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA).

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics.

Variable		Unmatched		Р		Matched		Р
	Overall n = 387	SR group <i>n</i> = 187	CR group $n = 200$		Overall n = 284	SR group <i>n</i> = 142	CR group $n = 142$	
Age, year (X ±SD)	52.3 ± 11.5	51.6 ±11.0	52.9 ± 11.9	0.27	53.2 ± 11.2	53.2 ± 10.9	53.2 ±11.6	0.98
BMI (X ±SD)	26.6 ± 4.3	26.7 ±4.7	26.5 ± 3.9	0.80	26.3 ± 4.4	26.3 ± 4.9	26.4 ± 3.8	
Male (n, %)	263(68.0)	130(69.5)	133(66.5)	0.53	194(68.3)	97(68.3)	97(68.3)	1.00
HT (n, %)	325(84.0)	150(80.2)	175(87.5)	0.05	239(84.2)	113(79.6)	126(88.7)	0.05
CAD (n, %)	60(15.5)	23(12.3)	37(18.5)	0.09	37(13.0)	20(14.1)	17(12.0)	0.72
DM (n, %)	12(3.1)	5(2.7)	7(3.5)	0.64	10(3.5)	3(2.1)	7(4.9)	0.34
COPD (n, %)	3(0.8)	2(1.1)	1(0.5)	0.61*	3(1.1)	2(1.4)	1(0.7)	1.00
CRI (n, %)	9(2.3)	3(1.6)	6(3.0)	0.51*	7(2.5)	3(2.1)	4(2.8)	1.00
Previous heart surgery (n, %)	3(0.8)	1(0.5)	2(1.0)	0.22*	3(2.1)	1(0.7)	2(1.4)	0.22
VMS (n, %)	3(0.8)	3(1.6)	O(0.0)	0.11*	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	NA
Initial tear (n, %)				0.05				0.98
aAO	289(74.7)	133(71.1)	156(78.0)		220(77.5)	110(77.5)	110(77.5)	
Arch	85(22.0)	50(26.7)	35(17.5)		57(20.1)	28(19.7)	29(20.4)	
DTA	13(3.4)	4(2.1)	9(4.5)		7(2.5)	4(2.8%)	3(2.1)	
Type of CAI (left) (n, %)				0.04*				1.00
No	361(93.3)	169(90.4)	192(96.0)		270(95.1)	136(95.8)	134(94.4)	
A	26(6.7)	18(9.6)	8(4.0)		14(4.9)	6(4.2)	8(5.6)	
В	0(0.0)	O(0.0)	O(0.0)		0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	
С	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	O(0.0)		0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	
Type of CAI (right) (n, %)				0.01*				0.86
No	265(68.5)	116(62.0)	149(74.5)		202(71.1)	97(68.3)	105(73.9)	
А	98(25.3)	60(32.1)	38(19.0)		65(22.9)	35(24.6)	30(1.1)	
В	17(4.4)	6(3.2)	11(5.5)		11(3.9)	6(4.2)	5(3.5)	
С	7(1.8)	5(2.7)	2(1.0)		6(2.1)	4(2.8)	2(1.4)	
Scr, μ mol/L(X \pm SD)	96.4 ± 35.8	95.4 ± 37.3	97.4 ± 34.4	0.58	93.4 ± 31.5	89.5 ± 28.8	97.2 ± 33.7	0.03
Lac,mmol/L (media n, IQR)	1.47 (1.06–2.17)	1.54 (1.14–2.20)	1.41 (1.03–2.16)	0.28§	1.43 (1.08–2.13)	1.45 (1.14–2.17)	1.38 (1.06–2.03)	0.99§
GPT, IU/L (media n, IQR)	22.0 (15.0–36.0)	23.0 (15.0–35.0)	20.0 (14.0–36.0)	0.40§	23.0 (14.0–36.0)	22.0 (14.0–32.0)	25.0 (14.0–37.0)	0.72§
Tnl, ng/ml (X ±SD)	0.05 ±0.19	0.05 ±0.11	0.05 ±0.24	0.84	0.05 ±0.16	0.05 ±0.11	0.04 ±0.20	0.58
Root diameter, mm (X ±SD)	37.5 ± 4.3	38.0 ± 4.3	37.1 ± 4.4	0.03	37.7 ± 4.5	38.0 ± 4.3	37.4 ± 4.6	0.09
AR (n, %)				0.003*				0.28
No or trivial	176(45.5)	76(40.6)	100(50.0)		124(43.7)	55(38.7)	69(48.6)	
Mild	155(40.1)	75(40.1)	80(40.0)		115(40.5)	57(40.1)	58(40.8)	
Moderate	39(10.1)	28(15.0)	11(5.5)		31(10.9)	23(16.2)	8(5.6)	
Moderate-severe	12(3.1)	8(4.3)	4(2.0)		10(3.5)	7(4.9)	3(2.1)	
severe	3(0.8)	O(0.0)	3(1.5)		2(0.7)	0(0.0)	2(1.4)	

SR, sinus replacement; CR, conservative repair; HT, hypertension; CAD, coronary artery disease; DM, diabetes mellitus; CRI, chronic renal insufficiency; VMS, visceral malperfusion syndrome; aAO, ascending aorta; DTA, descending thoracic aorta; CAI, coronary artery involvement; Scr, serum creatinine; Lac, lactic acid; IQR, Interquartile Range; GPT, glutamic-pyruvic transaminase; TnI, troponin I; AR, aortic regurgitation.

*Fisher's exact test was used.

[§]Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics and Operative Outcomes

At the end of the study, 387 effective cases were collected, with 187 cases in the SR group and 200 cases in the CR group. In the whole cohort, the average age was 52.3 ± 11.5

years, with a male preponderance (68.0%). Coronary artery involvement occurred more frequently in SR group (9.6% vs. 4.0%, p = 0.04 for left coronary artery; 38.0% vs. 25.5%, p = 0.01 for right coronary artery). The grade of aortic regurgitation differed significantly between the two groups (p = 0.003). The patients' baseline characteristics are presented in **Table 1**. Altogether, 142 pairs of patients were well-matched across groups

TABLE 2 | Operative characteristics.

Variable		Unmatched		Р		Matched		Р
	Overall n = 387	SR group <i>n</i> = 187	CR group $n = 200$		Overall $n = 284$	SR group $n = 142$	CR group $n = 142$	
SP (n, %)	187(48.3)	187(100.0)	0(0.0)	_	142(50.0)	142(100.0)	0(0.0)	_
LCS	17(9.1)	17(9.1)	O(0.0)		13(4.6)	13(9.2)	O(0.0)	
RCS	53(28.3)	53(28.3)	O(0.0)		36(12.7)	36(25.4)	0(0.0)	
NCS	123(65.8)	123(65.8)	O(0.0)		92(32.4)	92(64.8)	0(0.0)	
Commissure reattachment (n, %)	142(36.7)	66(35.3)	76(38.0)	0.58	105(37.0)	52(36.6)	53(37.3)	0.90
Arch repair (n, %)				0.95*				0.96
None	7(1.8)	4(2.1)	3(1.5)		7(1.8)	4(2.8)	3(2.1)	
HAR	17(4.4)	8(4.3)	9(4.5)		11(3.9)	5(3.5)	6(4.2)	
TAR	363(93.8)	175(93.6)	188(94.0)		266(93.7)	133(93.7)	133(93.7)	
DTA management (n, %)				0.08				0.60
None	48(12.4)	20(10.7)	28(14.0)		38(13.4)	16(11.3)	22(15.5)	
FET	308(79.6)	157(84.0)	151(75.5)		224(78.9)	116(81.7)	108(76.1)	
Endovascular stent	31(8.0)	10(5.3)	21(10.5)		22(7.7)	10(7.0)	12(8.5)	
CABG (n, %)	64(16.5)	34(18.2)	30(15.0)	0.40	47(16.5)	28(9.7)	19(13.4)	0.16
CPB duration, min(X \pm SD)	183.5 ± 71.6	184.7 ± 61.9	182.5 ± 79.7	0.76	185.8 ± 74.0	185.7 ± 62.0	185.8 ± 84.6	0.99
Cross-clamp duration, min (X $\pm \text{SD}$)	112.2 ± 41.9	114.7 ± 43.6	109.9 ± 40.3	0.26	113.1 ± 39.7	114.3 ± 39.9	112.0 ± 39.6	0.62
HCA duration, min(X \pm SD)	14.0 ± 9.3	14.3 ± 8.8	13.7 ± 9.7	0.53	13.6 ± 9.3	13.9 ± 9.2	13.6 ± 9.4	0.94
Operation duration, hour, (X \pm SD)	6.4 ± 1.9	6.3 ± 1.7	6.5 ± 2.0	0.20	6.4 ± 1.9	6.3 ± 1.7	6.4 ± 2.1	0.46

SR, sinus replacement; CR, conservative repair; LCS, left coronary sinus; RCS, right coronary sinus; NCS, none coronary sinus; HAR, hemi-arch replacement; TAR, total arch replacement; DTA, descending thoracic aorta; FET, frozen elephant trunk; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; CPB, cardiopulmonary bypass; HCA, hypothermic circulatory arrest. *Fisher's exact test was used.

regarding baseline characteristics, consistent with the right half of **Tables 1–3**. The absolute standardized mean differences between the two groups regarding baseline characteristics are shown in **Supplementary Table II**.

In the SR group, 181 patients had one sinus replacement and 6 patients had two sinuses replacements. The noncoronary sinus was most frequently involved and was replaced in 123 patients. In the whole cohort, 64(16.5%) patients underwent CABG for coronary artery involvement or coronary artery disease. All the concomitant operations were distributed similarly between the two groups. The main time variables including CPB duration, cross-clamp duration, HCA duration, and operation duration were comparable with no significant difference. Operative characteristics are listed in **Table 2**.

The operative mortality of the whole cohort was 4.7% (18 patients), 6 in the SR group and 12 in the CR group. The main presumed causes of death were acidosis and multiple organ failure (8 cases), circulatory failure (5 cases), and stroke (5 cases). The operative mortality of SR group was comparable to CR group (3.2% vs. 6.0%, p = 0.192 before matching; 3.5% vs. 7.0%, p = 0.267 after matching). Significantly fewer patients needed restarted CPB for root bleeding in SR group (1.6% vs. 7.0%, p = 0.002 before matching; 2.1% vs. 8.5%, p = 0.03 after matching). The other perioperative outcomes are demonstrated in **Table 3**. There was no significant association between sinus replacement and operative mortality after matching (RR = 0.48; 95% CI 0.16–1.45). A comparison of operative and perioperative

outcomes across the three root management groups is shown in **Supplementary Table IV**.

Follow-Up Results

During a median follow-up of 12 (Interquartile Range [IQR] 9-17) months, five and four patients were lost to follow-up in the SR group and CR group, respectively, and 20 patients were lack of latest echocardiography data. There was one late death in each group (unknown reason) and 3 patients received reoperation due to residual aortic root dissection in the CR group. No patients had aortic regurgitation more than moderate during followup in both groups. Postoperative deaths were included in the estimation of long-term mortality. No reoperation occurred in the SR group. The estimated cumulative event rate of reoperation was 1.1 % at 12 months and 1.6% at 24 months in the CR group (Figure 3A). The estimated cumulative event rate of death was 3.8% at 12 months and 24 months in SR group, and was 6.6% at 12 months and 24 months in the CR group (Figure 4A), respectively. No matter before or after matching, there was no significant difference in the long-term cumulative event rate of reoperation in the SR group (log-rank p = 0.089 before matching, p = 0.075 after matching), and no significant difference in the cumulative event rate of death among the two groups (logrank p = 0.218 before matching, p = 0.120 after matching), as shown in Figures 3, 4. In competing risk analysis, there was no significant difference in the cumulative event rate of reoperation after controlling the effect of long-term mortality

TABLE 3 | Perioperative outcome characteristics.

Variable		Unmatched		Р	Matched			Р
	Overall n = 387	SR group <i>n</i> = 187	CR group $n = 200$		Overall n = 284	SR group <i>n</i> = 142	CR group $n = 142$	
MV duration, hour (median, IQR)	21.0 (13.0–44.0)	21.0 (13.0–56.0)	21.0 (13.0–41.5)	0.34§	19.0 (13.0–40.0)	20.0 (13.0–43.0)	18.5 (13.0–40.0)	0.59§
ICU stay, day (X \pm SD)	5.4 ± 4.7	5.5 ± 5.1	5.3 ± 4.2	0.66	5.0 ± 4.3	5.0 ± 4.8	5.0 ± 3.7	0.97
Operative mortality (n, %)	18(4.7)	6(3.2)	12(6.0)	0.19	15(5.3)	5(3.5)	10(7.0)	0.27
Restarted CPB for root bleeding (n, %)	17(4.4)	3(1.6)	14(7.0)	0.002	15(5.3)	3(2.1)	12(8.5)	0.03
PMI (n, %)	1(0.3)	0(0.0)	1(0.5)	1.00*	1(0.3)	0(0.0%)	1(0.7)	1.00
Reoperation for bleeding (n, %)	7(1.8)	2(1.1)	5(2.5)	0.45*	2 (0.7)	0(0.0)	2(1.4)	0.50
IABP (n, %)	1(0.3)	0(0.0)	1(0.5)	1.00*	1(0.4)	0(0.0)	1(0.7)	1.00
ECMO (n, %)	4(1.0)	0(0.0)	4(2.0)	0.12*	4(1.4)	0(0.0)	4(2.8)	0.13
Stroke (n, %)	8(2.1)	1(0.5)	7(3.5)	0.07*	5 (1.8)	0(0.0)	5(3.5)	0.06
CRRT (n, %)	23(5.9)	12(6.4)	11(5.5)	0.70	14(4.9)	7(4.9)	7(4.9)	1.00
Paraplegia (n, %)	6(1.6)	0(0.0)	6(3.0)	0.03*	3(1.1)	0(0.0)	3(2.1)	0.25

SR, sinus replacement; CR, conservative repair; MV, mechanical ventilation; IQR, Interquartile Range; ICU, intensive care unit; CPB, CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; PMI, myocardial infarction; IABP, intra-aortic balloon pump implantation; ECMO, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation; CRRT, continuous renal replacement therapy. [§]Wilcoxon signed rank test was used.

*Fisher's exact test was used.



(Multivariate subdistribution hazard model analysis can be seen in **Supplementary Table III** and survival curves are shown in **Supplementary Figure II**).

DISCUSSION

This study is important because it compares different aortic root repair strategies prospectively. The main findings of our study can be summarized as follows:

- 1) Regarding pathological features of dissection, sinus replacement was a safe and simple technique with a comparable operative mortality and time spent in operation.
- 2) Sinus replacement had an advantage in decreasing severe aortic root bleeding that needed to be restarted cardiopulmonary bypass.
- 3) In short-term follow-up, there was no reoperation in the sinus replacement group.

Even in the third decade of the twenty-first century, treatment of ATAAD is also a challenging task. The management of aortic roots is crucial. For those people with connective tissue disease or a large root (diameter > 45mm), aortic root replacement is appropriate (1).

When the aortic root can be preserved, restoring aortic valve competency and avoiding catastrophic bleeding should be


considered. To eliminate residual dissection and avoid proximal catastrophic bleeding due to vulnerable tissue, multiple root repair techniques using prosthetic and biologic materials have been reported (6, 7, 9, 10).

In our center, we carried out sinus replacement for the patients with severely dissected sinus and preservable roots. This technique had remarkable feasibility because tailoring and suturing the patch were simple and easily observable. The thin and flexible vascular graft patch had no influence on root morphology. We could add stitches on the patch without concerning frail adventitia tearing and catastrophic bleeding. Differing from other methods, we just removed intima but reserved adventitia on basis of two considerations: first, the avulsed intima had lost its structural function and could not hold the suture well; second, dissecting adventitia from surrounding tissues was time-consuming and might lead to adventitia rupture and subsequent bleeding.

In this prospective cohort study, the duration of CPB, crossclamp HCA, and operation in the SR group was no longer than that of the CR group. The time variables were comparable to Urbanski's study (6). It can be believed that sinus replacement was feasible without wasting time.

Overall, compared with previous studies (6, 7, 9, 10), we had a lower operative mortality and a comparable incidence of main complications in this study. The operative mortality was comparable between the two groups before and after matching. We considered that perioperative death was multifactorial in ATAAD treatment. In this study, management of aortic root was not a risk factor for death after adjusting for other lethal comorbidities. Coronary malperfusion was an independent risk factor of mortality (11) and a successful management of the involved coronary artery was reported by several studies (8, 12, 13). For the patients whose coronary orifice was dissected circumferentially, we selected reimplantation of the coronary orifice to the patch in the SR group. The intima

of the coronary orifice was trimmed into a button without separating adventitia from surrounding tissue. This was a more precise repair of the coronary orifice. In the CR group, intermittent pledgetted stitches around the orifice or CABG were either choice for circumferentially dissected coronary orifice. According to our strategy, CABG was used as a standard approach for main trunk dissection and detachment of orifice. Fortunately, there were no coronary artery-related events and deaths in both groups. Sinus replacement did not increase operative mortality.

It seemed to be expected that a significantly lower incidence of root bleeding requiring restarted CPB occurred in the SR group. We considered that the intima completely detaching from adventitia was not strong enough to hold the suture. If the intima was not removed completely, once anastomotic bleeding occurred, adding stitches on fragile adventitia and intima would lead to catastrophic bleeding. The sinus replacement technique could avoid these troubles to some extent. Because we preserved adventitia and sutured it with patch together, there was also a space between adventitia and patch. Tight stitching was needed to prevent blood from leaking into this space.

Regarding follow-up, we just presented short-term results. Three patients received reoperation of aortic root due to residual dissection in the CR group. In the SR group no reoperation occurred. There were no significant differences in the cumulative event rate of reoperation between the two groups, even after adjusting by competing risk analysis. This might attribute to the short follow-up time and few reoperation events. The excellent mid-and long-term result of a similar technique was found in Irimie et al. report (14). In their study, there was no aortic root reoperation during follow-up with a mean duration of 70 months. As we speculated before, complete removal of dissected intima could eliminate residual false lumen of the aortic root and decrease the risk of reoperation.

Mazzucotelli et al. (15) found that preservation of the aortic valve during surgery for ATAAD may be a valuable choice

regardless of the severity of AR. The same conclusion was drawn by Rylski et al. (9) and Ro et al. (16). Indeed, aortic regurgitation secondary to aortic dissection is commonly due to detachment of aortic valve commissure and resuspension of the commissures could typically preserve aortic valve competency. In this study, as many as 36.7% of patients received commissure reattachment. The grade of AR significantly improved postoperatively and remained stable during follow-up no matter what approaches were used to repair the root. In the present study, the followup duration was short and the stability of aortic valve function needed long-term observation.

This study has some limitations. First, up to 8 surgeons attended this study and performed these procedures, so the differences in technique might increase the uncertainty of the results. Second, the follow-up duration was short and long-term results needed to be determined in the future.

CONCLUSION

Sinus replacement was a safe and simple technique with a comparable operative mortality and time spent in operation. It also had an excellent immediate and short-term results. It had the advantages of eliminating false lumen, preventing severe root bleeding, and might avoid residual aortic root dissection and reoperation.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Hiratzka LF, Bakris GL, Beckman JA, Bersin RM, Carr VF, Casey DE, et al. 2010 ACCF/AHA/AATS/ACR/ASA/SCA/SCAI/SIR/STS/SVM guidelines for the diagnosis and management of patients with Thoracic Aortic Disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American College of Radiology, American Stroke Association, Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Interventional Radiology, Society of Thoracic Surgeons, and Society for Vascular Medicine. *Circulation.* (2010) 121:e266–369. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e3181d4739e
- Trimarchi S, Eagle KA, Nienaber CA. Role of age in acute type A aortic dissection outcome: report from the International Registry of Acute Aortic Dissection (IRAD). *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2010) 140:784e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.11.014
- Tan ME, Morshuis WJ, Dossche KM, Kelder JC, Waanders FG, Schepens MA. Long-term results after 27 years of surgical treatment of acute type a aortic dissection. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2005) 80:523–9. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2005.02.059
- Concistrè G, Casali G, Santaniello E, Montalto A, Fiorani B. Dell'Aquila A, Musumeci F. Reoperation after surgical correction of acute type A aortic dissection: risk factor analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2012) 93:450–5. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.10.059
- Kirsch M, Soustelle C, Houël R, Hillion ML, Loisance D. Risk factor analysis for proximal and distal reoperations after surgery for acute type A aortic dissection. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2002) 123:318–25. doi: 10.1067/mtc.2002.119702

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Fuwai Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YC: data curation and writing—original draft. XQ: conceptualization, methodology, investigation, and funding acquisition. HG, YW, CY, XS, BW, QM, YS: investigation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission (No. Z181100001718166).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Ye Lu and Yanyan Zhao for their help on statistical analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcvm. 2022.880411/full#supplementary-material

- Urbanski PP, Lenos A, Irimie V, Bougioukakis P, Zacher M, Diegeler A. Acute aortic dissection involving the root: operative and long-term outcome after curative proximal repair. *Interact CardioVasc Thorac Surg.* (2016) 22:620–6. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivw002
- Chen LW, Wu XJ Li QZ, Dai XF, A. modified valve-sparing aortic root replacement technique for acute type A aortic dissection: the patch neointima technique. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2012) 42:731–3. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/e zs371
- Neri E, Toscano T, Papalia U, Frati G, Massetti M, Capannini G, et al. Proximal aortic dissection with coronary malperfusion: presentation, management, and outcome. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2001) 121:552–60. doi: 10.1067/mtc.2001.112534
- Rylski B, Bavaria JE, Milewski RK, Vallabhajosyula P, Moser W, Kremens E, et al. Long-term results of neomedia sinus valsalva repair in 489 patients with type A aortic dissection. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2014) 98:582–8. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.04.050
- Tanaka K, Morioka K, Li W, Yamada N, Takamori A, Handa M, et al. Adventitial inversion technique without the aid of biologic glue or Teflon buttress for acute type A aortic dissection. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2005) 28:864–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2005. 08.029
- Czerny M, Siepe M, Beyersdorf F, Feisst M, Gabel M, Pilz M et al. Prediction of mortality rate in acute type A dissection: the German Registry for Acute Type A Aortic Dissection score. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2020) 58:700–6. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezaa156
- Tang YF, Zhang GX, Liao ZL, Han L, Xu ZY. Surgical treatment of coronary malperfusion with acute type A aortic dissection. *Chin Med J.* (2016) 129:1000–2. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.179797

- Kreibich M, Bavaria JE, Branchetti E, Brown CR, Chen Z, Khurshan F, et al. Management of patients with coronary artery malperfusion secondary to type A aortic dissection. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2019) 107:1174–80. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2018.09.065
- Irimie V, Atieh A, Kucinoski G, Jankulovski A, Zacher M, Urbanski PP. Longterm outcomes after valve-sparing anatomical aortic root reconstruction in acute dissection involving the root. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2020) 159:1176–84.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2019.04.036
- Mazzucotelli JP, Deleuze PH, Baufreton C, Duval AM, Hillion ML, Loisance DY, et al. Preservation of the aortic valve in acute aortic dissection: long-term echocardiographic assessment and clinical outcome. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (1993) 55:1513–7. doi: 10.1016/0003-4975(93)91 100-2
- Ro SK, Kim JB, Hwang SK, Jung SH, Choo SJ, Chung CH, et al. Aortic root conservative repair of acute type A aortic dissection involving the aortic root: Fate of the aortic root and aortic valve function. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2013) 146:1113–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012. 08.055

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Chang, Qian, Guo, Wei, Yu, Sun, Wei, Ma and Shi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Septal Thickness Does Not Impact Outcome After Hypertrophic Obstructive Cardiomyopathy Surgery (Septal Myectomy and Subvalvular Mitral Apparatus Remodeling): A 15-Years of Experience

Giuseppe M. Raffa^{1*}, Eluisa La Franca¹, Carlo Lachina¹, Andrea Palmeri¹, Mariusz Kowalewski^{2,3}, Steven Lebowitz⁴, Alessandro Ricasoli¹, Matteo Greco¹, Sergio Sciacca¹, Marco Turrisi¹, Marco Morsolini¹, Vincenzo Stringi¹, Gabriella Mattiucci¹ and Michele Pilato¹

¹ Department for the Treatment and Study of Cardiothoracic Diseases and Cardiothoracic Transplantation, IRCCS-ISMETT (Istituto Mediterraneo per i Trapianti e Terapie ad Alta Specializzazione), Palermo, Italy, ² Department of Cardiac Surgery, Central Clinical Hospital of the Ministry of Interior, Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warsaw, Poland, ³ Innovative Medical Forum, Thoracic Research Center, Collegium Medicum, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Bydgoszcz, Poland, ⁴ The University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Background: The aim of this study was to assess the impact of septal thickness on long-term outcomes of surgical treatment for hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy (HOCM) and correction of mitral subvalvular anomalies.

Methods: Sixty-six consecutive patients (58 \pm 12 years, 56% female) undergoing extended septal myectomy and subvalvular mitral apparatus remodeling from 2007 to 2021 were retrospectively reviewed. Patients were divided into 2 groups according to septal thickness: moderate [< 18 mm, 29 patients (44%)] and severe [\geq 18 mm, 37 patients (56%)]. End points included survival, symptom improvement, reduction of left ventricle outflow tract (LVOT) gradient, resolution of mitral regurgitation (MR), and reoperation.

Results: The mean interventricular septal thickness was 19 ± 3 mm, 15.8 ± 0.8 mm in patients with moderate and 21.4 ± 3.2 mm in those with severe hypertrophy. Preoperative data, intraoperative variables, postoperative complication rates, predischarge echocardiographic and clinical parameters did not differ between the two study groups [except for procedures involving the posterior mitral leaflet (p = 0.033) and septal thickness after myectomy (p = 0.0001)]. Subvalvular apparatus remodeling (secondary chordae of mitral valve resection and papillary muscle and muscularis trabecula procedures including resection, splitting, and elongation) was invariably added to septal myectomy (100%). Four (6%) procedures involved the posterior mitral leaflets. Mitral valve replacement was carried out in two patients (3%, p = 0.4). Reoperation

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sandro Gelsomino, Maastricht University, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Santarpino, Nürnberg Hospital, Germany Roberto Lorusso, Maastricht University Medical Center, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Giuseppe M. Raffa giuseppe.raffa78@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 12 January 2022 Accepted: 16 May 2022 Published: 15 June 2022

Citation:

Raffa GM, Franca EL, Lachina C, Palmeri A, Kowalewski M, Lebowitz S, Ricasoli A, Greco M, Sciacca S, Turrisi M, Morsolini M, Stringi V, Mattiucci G and Pilato M (2022) Septal Thickness Does Not Impact Outcome After Hypertrophic Obstructive Cardiomyopathy Surgery (Septal Myectomy and Subvalvular Mitral Apparatus Remodeling): A 15-Years of Experience. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 9:853582. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.853582 for persistent MR was necessary in one patient (1%, p = 0.4). Neither iatrogenic ventricular septal defect nor in-hospital mortality occurred. During follow-up (mean 4.8 ± 3.8 years), two deaths occurred. NYHA class was reduced from 2.9 ± 0.7 to 1.6 ± 0.6 (p < 0.0001), the LVOT gradient from 89.7 ± 34.5 to 16.3 ± 8.8 mmHg (p < 0.0001), mitral valve regurgitation grade from 2.5 ± 1 to 1.2 ± 0.5 (p < 0.0001), and septal thickness from 18.9 ± 3.7 to 13.9 ± 2.7 mm (p < 0.0001).

Conclusions: Regardless of septal thickness, subvalvular apparatus remodeling with concomitant septal myectomy can provide satisfactory long-term outcomes in terms of symptom improvement, LVOT obstruction relief, and MR resolution (without mitral valve replacement in most cases) in patients with HOCM.

Keywords: hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy, mitral valve repair, mitral approach, systolic anterior motion, extensive myectomy

INTRODUCTION

Transaortic surgical septal myectomy (1) for the treatment of hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy (HOCM) is associated with low operative morbidity and mortality, and reduction of the outflow gradient (2, 3). Systolic anterior motion (SAM) of the anterior mitral leaflet (AML) as a contributor to the pathophysiology of left ventricle outflow tract (LVOT) obstruction has been addressed (4-6) and in patients without severe hypertrophy (7, 8), SAM and mitral abnormalities (e.g., leaflet elongation and a wide array of malformations of the papillary muscles (PM) and chordae) may influence the dynamic obstruction of LVOT. In this context, the correction of subvalvular mitral apparatus abnormalities in addition to septal myectomy has been advocated (6, 8, 9) in order to abolish the LVOT gradient and to restore mitral competence. Although a matter of debate (10), these procedures include secondary chordae cutting (11), anterior leaflet plication (12) or extension (13), reorientation of PM (14), edge-to-edge repair (15), and mitral valve (MV) surgery (6, 7, 9, 16). MV replacement has been also reported (7, 16) if SAM and severe mitral regurgitation (MR) are challenging to manage.

The role of septal thickness in long-term outcomes of correction of subvalvular mitral apparatus abnormalities during myectomy is an under-studied matter of debate.

In this study we sought to assess the implications of septal thickness in long-term clinical and echocardiographic outcomes of patients requiring subvalvular MV remodeling (6, 9) in addition to extended septal myectomy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This retrospective and monocentric study was approved by the ethics committee of our institute (IRRB/35/16) and individual consent was obtained from each patient.

Study Population

The study included 66 consecutive adult patients with HOCM treated surgically by extended septal myectomy and subvalvular MV remodeling between March 2007 and September 2021 at our

institution. The patients had peak LVOT gradients \geq 50 mmHg at rest or during stress and drug-refractory disabling symptoms (17) and were divided in 2 groups according to the septal thickness: moderate [< 18 mm, 29 patients (44%)] and severe [\geq 18 mm, 37 patients (56%)]. The cutoff of 18 mm was decided according to data available in the literature (7, 8). The 66 patients operated on represent 37% of 178 patients referred to our dedicated hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy out-patient clinic who underwent surgery. Exclusion criteria were: history of mitral operation (including Mitraclip). Emergency operations and patients having undergone previous surgical myectomy or alcoholization were included.

Review of hospital records and analysis of preoperative history and reports, operative notes, and postoperative and follow-up echocardiography reports were carried out using a dedicated database.

Diagnosis

All patients underwent preoperative Doppler transthoracic echocardiogram examination. Measurements of septal thickness were performed at end-diastole, in short-axis views from the mitral and mid left ventricle levels. Resting LVOT velocity was measured by continuous-wave Doppler of the outflow tract from an apical window. In HOCM patients who had a resting LVOT gradient < 30 mmHg but manifested drug refractory symptoms, provocative maneuvers such as the Valsalva were used during examination. Less symptomatic patients with LVOT gradient > 50 mmHg at rest underwent stressechocardiogram. MV anatomy and function were evaluated by transthoracic and transesophageal echocardiogram (TEE) using an interactive approach. The degree of MR was measured by Doppler color flow imaging and quantitatively graded as mild (1 + /4 +), moderate (2 + /4 +), moderate-to-severe (3 + /4 +) and severe (4 + /4 +). A thorough analysis of the mitral subvalvular anomalies, including fibrotic and retracted secondary chordae inserted on the AML, abnormal chordae tendineae attached to the ventricular septum or free wall, and PM abnormalities was performed (6, 18). Cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging providing detailed information on cardiac morphology, ventricular function, and myocardial tissue characteristics was not routinely performed. Most patients underwent pre-operative genetic and electrophysiology consults. Coronary anatomy was evaluated by angiograms and computed tomography scans. Intraoperative specimens were evaluated by pathologists.

Surgical Technique

Complete surgical details have been reported previously (6), Figure 1. The operations were guided by TEE with particular attention paid to the septal anatomy and thickness, and MV apparatus. Briefly, all operations were performed through a full sternotomy, with aorta and right atrial cannulation and intermittent antegrade cold blood cardioplegia, and with mild hypothermia (34°C). Transaortic myectomy was performed in all patients starting at nadir of the right coronary sinus, and extended apically to achieve exposure of the PM bases. Muscular resection was extended toward the lateral ventricular wall up to the left trigone. The PM were carefully inspected to detect any hypertrophy, fusion, displacement, anomalies, or aberrances (e.g., bifurcation and fibrosis). Subvalvular mitral apparatus remodeling included (1) resection of all anomalous muscular trabecula and accessory PM; (2) resection of fibrotic, thickened, and agglutinated secondary chordae tendineae from the tip of the PM to the ventricular surface of the anterior mitral leaflet; and (3) splitting of hypertrophied and thickened PM. In cases of mitral leaflet repair, bicaval cannulation and a left or right atrial approach was used. The leaflet repair was done after myectomy and after the complete "release" of the AML obtained by the resection of diseased secondary chordae "anchoring" the leaflet itself to the PM and the septum. Further procedures on cardiopulmonary bypass were performed if necessary. After weaning from cardiopulmonary bypass and before protamine administration, a pharmacological stress test with adrenaline (from 5 to 10 mcg) was performed to assess for any residual LVOT gradient, SAM, and MR by the induction of tachycardia and systemic hypertension.

Outcomes

Primary outcomes of the study were survival, symptom improvement [decrease in New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class], reduction of LVOT gradient, and resolution of MR. Secondary outcomes included postoperative complications and reoperation for recurrence of LVOT obstruction and severe MR.

Follow-Up Data

Yearly patient follow-up included physical examination, chest X-ray, electrocardiogram, transthoracic echocardiogram, and blood tests, and was performed in our dedicated outpatient clinic or by telephone interview. At September 1, 2021, the follow-up was 100% complete. The longest follow-up time was 14.6 years.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables were expressed as mean, standard deviation, and range. Categorical variables were expressed

as absolute value and percentage. The comparison between (1) patients with septal thickness < 18 mm and \geq 18 mm; (2) NYHA, LVOT gradient, septum thickness, and residual MR before and after surgery were assessed by Chi-Square test, Fisher's exact test, and logistic regression. Linear regression analysis was also applied to assess association with outcomes with septal thickness considered as a continuous predictor. Freedom from events at follow-up was assessed with Kaplan–Meier estimator and log-Rank test. Data management and analysis were done with SAS version 9.4. All *p*-values of < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

The preoperative characteristics of the patients are depicted in **Table 1**. No major differences were observed between the two groups. The mean age was 58 ± 12 years, with 29 males and 37 females. Although patients were treated medically with β -blockers and/or calcium-channel blockers, all were symptomatic in NYHA class I-II (n = 15), III (n = 40), or IV (n = 11). Nine patients (13%) had a history of acute pulmonary edema and one (1%) was hospitalized at our institute due to cardiogenic shock. One patient underwent a second reoperation because of failure of previous surgeries performed elsewhere. History of previous alcoholization was recorded in one patient.

The mean interventricular septal thickness was 19 ± 3 mm, 15.8 ± 0.8 mm in patients with moderate and 21.4 ± 3.2 mm in those with severe hypertrophy. Six (9%) patients had an extreme septal thickness (≥ 26 mm). Intraventricular peak gradient was 89 ± 34 mmHg. MR was graded 1 + and 2 + /4 + in 29 patients, 3 + /4 + in 25 patients, and 4 + /4 + in 12 patients. The average length of the AML and posterior mitral leaflet were 26 ± 3 mm and 16 ± 3 mm, respectively. A significant difference in neither preoperative clinical characteristics nor in echocardiographic data were detected between patients with moderate and severe septal thickness.

Perioperative Outcomes

Surgical data and postoperative outcomes are summarized in Table 2. Intraoperative data, postoperative complication rate, and pre-discharge echocardiographic and clinical parameters did not differ between the two study groups [except for procedures involving the posterior mitral leaflet (p = 0.033) and septal thickness after myectomy (p = 0.0001)]. The analysis of the LVOT demonstrated thickened secondary chordae tendineae tractioning the AML to the interventricular septum in 64 patients (97%) and PM malformations in 55 patients (83%) including PMs hypertrophy (25 patients, 37%), accessory PMs (17 patients, 25%) and PMs fusion (13 patients, 20%). Surgical myectomy was performed in all patients (100%). Subvalvular mitral apparatus remodeling by means of secondary MV chordae resection (97%) and PM procedures (resection, splitting, and elongation; 83%) was added to myectomy where indicated. The mean number of resected secondary chordae was 3 ± 1 .



performed in all patients starting at nadir of the right coronary sinus, and extended apically to achieve exposure of the papillary muscles bases. Muscular resection was extended toward the lateral ventricular wall up to the left trigone (**B**). Subvalvular mitral apparatus remodeling included (1) resection of fibrotic, thickened, and agglutinated secondary chordae tendineae from the tip of the papillary muscles to the ventricular surface of the anterior mitral leaflet (**C**); (2) resection of all anomalous muscular trabecular and splitting (**) of hypertrophied and thickened papillary muscles (**D**). LAL, left aortic leaflet; NCL, non-coronary leaflet.

In 4 patients, due to redundancy and excessive tissue of the posterior mitral leaflet, resection and shortening of the leaflet itself was performed. Of note, all four of these patients were in the moderate septal thickness group. Intuitively, the septal thickness reduction was greater in the group with septal thickness less than 18 mm (12.7 \pm 1.4 mm vs. 15 \pm 2.9 mm, p = 0.0001). Two patients required valve replacement due to persistent severe MR after LVOT obstruction resolution. One patient, at the beginning of our experience in 2007, underwent early reoperation (during the same hospitalization) after a complicated postoperative course. A mechanical mitral prosthesis for recurrent SAM and severe MR was implanted on postoperative day 55 and the patient was discharged on post-operative day 6. In a 58-year-old female patient, a mechanical prosthesis was necessary after 3 failed attempts (including posterior leaflet shortening) to correct severe MR, although complete LVOT obstruction and SAM resolution were obtained. In this case, the AML was dysplastic and

retracted. Aortic valve replacement (6 patients) and coronary artery bypass (2 patients) were also performed. No iatrogenic ventricular septal defect occurred. Intraoperative, in-hospital, and 30-day mortality were 0%. No patients developed complete atrioventricular block, but 3 patients (4%) required pacemaker implantation because of tachy-brady syndrome. Pre-discharge pharmacological treatment included b-blockers (56 patients, 85%), diuretics (52 patients, 79%), renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors (23 patients, 35%) and calcium channel blockers (4 patients, 6%).

Follow-Up Results

The mean follow-up time was 4.8 ± 3.8 years (range 0– 14.5). Two deaths occurred, one at 83 days after surgery due to gastrointestinal bleeding and cardiogenic shock. The same patient was admitted in cardiogenic shock before HOCM surgery and a postmortem autopsy showed severe myocardial fibrosis, suggesting irreversible diastolic dysfunction. A late death

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics.

	All, <i>n</i> = 66	Septal thickness < 18 mm (n = 29)	Septal thickness \geq 18 mm ($n = 37$)	P-value
Female sex	37 (56)	20 (54)	17 (46)	0.08
Age (years)	58.4 ± 12.5 (26–80)	59.5 ± 11.7 (36–80)	57.5 ± 13.2 (26–75)	0.5
BMI (kg/m ²)	27.6 ± 3.4 (20–39)	26.8 ± 3.1 (20–35)	28.3 ± 3.4 (21–39)	0.07
Family history for HOCM	22 (33)	9 (13)	13 (20)	0.7
Family history for SCD	23 (34)	9 (13)	14 (21)	0.6
Previous alcoholization	1 (1)	1 (1)	O (O)	0.4
Syncope/lipothimia	15 (22)	6 (9)	9 (13)	0.7
Angina	33 (50)	12 (18)	21 (32)	0.3
Acute pulmonary edema	9 (13)	4 (6)	5 (7)	1
Pre-operative NYHA functional class	2.9 ± 0.7 (1–4)			0.6
I–II, n (%)	15 (22)	6 (9)	9 (13)	
III, n (%)	40 (61)	18 (28)	22 (33)	
IV, n (%)	11 (17)	5 (7)	6 (10)	
Pre-operative atrial fibrillation	37 (56)	13 (19)	24 (37)	0.1
Pre-operative SAM	53 (80)	22 (41)	31 (59)	0.5
Pre-operative ICD	13 (19)	3 (4)	10 (15)	0.1
Pre-operative LVEF (%)	64.2 ± 7.1 (40–83)	$63.9 \pm 5.3 (55 - 75)$	64.5 ± 8.3 (40-83)	0.7
Pre-operative SPAP (mmHg)	27.4 ± 11.1 (19–70)	28.8 ± 12.8 (19–70)	26.4 ± 9.6 (20–58)	0.3
Pre-operative LVOT gradient* (mmHg)	89.7 ± 34.5 (28–174)	95.5 ± 35.6 (28–174)	85.1 ± 33.4 (40–165)	0.2
Pre-operative septal thickness (mm)	18.9 ± 3.7 (14–29)	15.8 ± 0.8 (14–17)	21.4 ± 3.2 (19–29)	0.7
Pre-operative MR grade	2.5 ± 1 (0-4)			0.4
1 + and 2 + /4 +	29 (43)	14 (21)	15 (22)	
3 + /4 +	25 (39)	9 (13)	16 (26)	
4 + /4 +	12 (18)	6 (9)	6 (9)	
Anterior mitral leaflet length (mm)	26.5 ± 3.8 (18–35)	26.2 ± 3.5 (21–32)	26.7 ± 4 (18–35)	0.6
Posterior mitral leaflet length (mm)	16.6 ± 3.7 (8–24)	17.5 ± 2.8 (11–22)	16 ± 4.2 (8–24)	0.1

BMI, body mass index; HOCM, Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy; SCD, sudden cardiac death; NYHA, New York Heart Association; SAM, systolic anterior motion; ICD, implantable cardioverter defibrillator; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; SPAP, systolic pulmonary artery pressure; LVOT, left ventricle outflow tract; MR, mitral regurgitation.

*Peak gradient at rest.

Continuous variables were expressed as mean, standard deviation and range.

Categorical variables were expressed as absolute value and percentage.

occurred in one patient due to pneumonia 717 days after surgery. This patient underwent reoperation 97 days after HOCM surgery because of endocarditis of the aortic prosthesis and pacemaker lead. Follow-up data are available in **Table 2**. Recurrence of SAM was detected in 7 patients without significant obstruction. Severe MR occurred in one patient who is currently under close follow-up for asymptomatic MR. Two patients with obesity had NYHA III symptoms at follow-up.

At the last available follow-up, the survival and freedom from reoperation was 96%. NYHA class was reduced from 2.9 ± 0.7 to 1.6 ± 0.6 (p < 0.0001), the LVOT gradient from 89.7 ± 34.5 to 16.3 ± 8.8 mmHg (p < 0.0001), MV regurgitation grade from 2.5 ± 1 to 1.2 ± 0.5 (p < 0.0001), and septal thickness from 18.9 ± 3.7 to 13.9 ± 2.7 mm (p < 0.0001), **Figure 2**. Freedom from composite end points at follow-up by means of recurrent LVOT obstruction (peak gradient ≥ 20 mmHg), MR $\geq 3 + /4 +$, and NYHA ≥ 3 are depicted in **Figure 3**. Seven patients (10%) showed a mean LVOT peak gradient of 35.8 ± 2.6 mmHg and a mean NYHA class 2.2 ± 0.4 (in two patients were detected a 2 + /4 + grade of MV regurgitation. All these patients are medically treated and strictly followed at

out outpatients clinic. Details of these patients are depicted in **Supplementary Table 1**.

Further linear regression analysis of LVOT obstruction (p = 0.2232), SAM (p = 0.2982), and MR (p = 0.6468) recurrence with septal thickness as the continuous variable did not show any statistical relationship.

DISCUSSION

This study reports the long-term clinical and echocardiographic outcomes of subvalvular mitral anomalies correction with concomitant extended septal myectomy in HOCM patients with moderate (< 18 mm) and severe (≥ 18 mm) inteventricular septal thickness.

Our 15-year experience demonstrates that (1) HOCM is a wide spectrum of disease in which both septal hypertrophy and the MV apparatus invariably contribute to dynamic LVOT obstruction; (2) the subvalvular mitral apparatus (chordae and PM) promote SAM and contribute to obstruction; (3) regardless of septal thickness, subvalvular apparatus remodeling

TABLE 2 | Intraoperative results, early and long term outcomes.

	All, <i>n</i> = 66	Septal thickness < 18 mm (<i>n</i> = 29)	Septal thickness \geq 18 mm ($n = 37$)	P-value
Aortic cross-clamp (min)	41.4 ± 10.6 (20–80)	41.9 ± 10.9 (20–65)	41.1 ± 10.6 (24–80)	0.7
Cardiopulmonary bypass (min)	56.5 ± 12.7 (25–105)	56.8 ± 13.7 (25–88)	56.2 ± 12.1 (38–105)	0.8
Resected cords (n)	3.5 ± 1.6 (0-8)	3.5 ± 1.6 (0–8)	3.5 ± 1.6 (0-7)	0.9
Procedures on papillary muscles (n)	1.3 ± 0.8 (0–3)	1.4 ± 0.9 (0–3)	1.2 ± 0.8 (0-2)	0.4
Mitral valve replacement	2 (3)	0	2 (3)	0.4
Intraoperative mitral valve replacement for MR	1 (1)	0	1 (1)	0.4
Posterior mitral leaflet shortening	4 (6)	4 (6)	O (O)	0.033
Other procedures	6 (9)	4 (6)	2 (3)	0.3
Blood transfusion	37 (56)	17 (25)	20 (30)	0.8
Re-exploration	1 (1)	1 (1)	O (O)	0.4
Low cardiac output syndrome	2 (3)	1 (1)	1 (1)	1
Sepsis	3 (4)	1 (1)	2 (3)	1
Post-operative atrial fibrillation	33 (50)	11 (16)	22 (34)	0.1
Post-operative PM implantation	3 (4)	2 (3)	1 (1)	0.5
Post-operative Complete AV block	0			
latrogenic ventricular septal defect	0			
Length of stay (days)	10.6 ± 8.3 (5–62)	10.1 ± 6 (5–33)	10.9 ± 9.8 (5–62)	1
Pre-discharge SAM	2 (3)	1 (1)	1 (1)	1
Pre-discharge				
LVOT gradient* (mmHg)	15.4 ± 8.5 (0–33)	14.7 ± 8 (0–30)	16 ± 8.8 (0–33)	0.5
Septal thickness (mm)	14 ± 2.6 (7–16)	12.7 ± 1.4 (10–16)	15 ± 2.9 (7–16)	0.0001
NYHA functional class	1.3 ± 0.5 (1–3)			0.7
I–II	63 (95)	27 (41)	36 (55)	0.7
III	3 (5)	2 (3)	1 (1)	
MR grade	1.2 ± 0.6 (0-3)			0.2
≤ 1 + /4 +	50 (75)	25 (37.5)	25 (37.5)	
2 + /4 +	15 (22)	4 (6)	11 (16)	
3 + /4 +	1 (3)	0	1 (3)	
Hospital mortality	0			
Follow-up				
SAM	7 (11)	2 (3)	5 (8)	0.5
LVOT gradient* (mmHg)	16.3 ± 8.8 (6–40)	18.2 ± 9.2 (6–40)	14.8 ± 8.2 (8–39)	0.1
Septal thickness (mm)	13.9 ± 2.7 (9–16)	$12.9 \pm 1.9 (10 - 18)$	14.8 ± 3 (9–16)	0.0068
NYHA functional class	$1.6 \pm 0.6 \ (1-3)$			0.9
I	27 (43)	11 (17)	16 (25)	
II	35 (54)	16 (25)	19 (29)	
III	2 (3)	1 (1)	1 (1)	
MR grade	1.2 ± 0.5 (0-4)			0.6
≤ 2 + /4 +	62 (98)	28 (44)	34 (54)	
4 + /4 +	1 (2)	0	1 (1)	
Reoperation at follow-up for MR	0			
Exitus at follow-up	2 (3)	1 (1.5)	1 (1.5)	1

MR, mitral regurgitation; PM, pacemaker; AV, atrio-ventricular; SAM, systolic anterior motion. LVOT, left ventricle outflow tract; NYHA, New York Heart Association. *Peak gradient at rest.

Continuous variables were expressed as mean, standard deviation and range.

Categorical variables were expressed as absolute value and percentage.

Bold values are referred to the significative p value.

added to septal myectomy can provide satisfactory earlyand long-term outcomes in terms of symptom improvement, LVOT obstruction, and MR resolution; (4) conservative procedures on the subvalvular mitral apparatus ("remodeling") can correct SAM and MR and avoid, in most cases, MV replacement; (5) surgical remodeling of the subvalvular apparatus does not impair MV function at long-term follow-up; and (6) a dedicated HOCM team (dedicated clinical



FIGURE 2 | Early and long term outcome after extended septal myectomy and subvalvular mitral apparatus remodeling. NYHA: New York Heart Association; MR: mitral regurgitation; LVOT: left ventricle outflow tract; IVS: interventricular septum. "*" explains the events.



and interventional cardiologists, radiologists, surgeons, pathologists, and geneticists) is crucial to assess patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and for planning the most appropriate treatment.

In our series, septal myectomy was performed in all cases, confirming the well-defined role of this technique for the relief of drug-refractory symptoms in patients with LV outflow obstruction (1–3, 17). Presently, the mortality rate after this procedure is below 1% (19, 20) and approaching zero in some series (21).

Concerns surround managing patients with moderate hypertrophy (7, 8, 11) in which the role of the MV in LVOT obstruction is predominant (4-6). Isolated myectomy should be considered cautiously because of iatrogenic ventricular septal defect occurrence and the insignificant relief of symptoms and LVOT obstruction (22). In fact, less marked septal basal hypertrophy may not be the sole cause of LVOT obstruction (8) and this clinical picture has been reported to be associated with mitral valvular and subvalvular anomalies (7, 8). These variants include changes in the MV leaflets (elongation, laxity, calcifications) and, more often, aberrancies of PM and secondary chordae (4, 5). We defined the complex anatomy of the LVOT in patients with HOCM as a "crowded" LVOT (18) in which, historically, replacement of the MV and subvalvular apparatus resection was the only viable option to treat the SAM-mediated obstruction and MR (22). In 2019, The Society of Thoracic Surgeons reported results of septal myectomy in the United States from a national database of more than 2,300 patients (16). About 1/3 of septal myectomy cases required MV operation (n = 801), including mitral repair (62%) and replacement (38%). Replacement compared to repair was associated with an increased risk of in-hospital mortality (4.4% vs. 1.9%) and MV surgery in addition to isolated septal myectomy (mortality 1.6%) was associated with an increased composite risk [OR 1.81, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.39 to 2.36, p < 0.0001]. In the series by Lapenna et al. (7) the long-term mortality was higher in 23 patients with moderate septal thickness that required MV replacement plus septal myectomy compared to those with septal myectomy alone (n = 41) or septal myectomy plus MV repair (n = 12). In a prospective clinical trial (NCT02054221), 88 patients were randomized to MV replacement or repair during myectomy. At 2-year follow-up, the rates of overall survival, freedom from sudden cardiac death, and freedom from thromboembolic events were significantly higher in the repair group (23). Finally, the same group conducted a meta-analysis of over 2,762 patients with HOCM and MR (24) reporting a strong clinical benefit of MV repair compared to replacement in adult patients with HOCM.

The superiority of MV repair is well established for degenerative MV disease (25) and all efforts should be made to preserve the MV in patients with HOCM.

There is debate whether myectomy alone is enough to achieve the best outcome even in patients with moderate septal thickness. A dedicated high-volume center (10) reported on 1,486 surgical HOCM patients stratified by basal septal thickness (< 18 mm, n = 369; 18–21 mm, n = 612; and > 21 mm, n = 505). All patients underwent septal myectomy alone, regardless of septal thickness and degree of SAM-related MR. Concomitant MV procedures were performed for patients with intrinsic MV disease (66%) or insufficient intraoperative results in terms of residual mitral regurgitation (30%) and gradient (2%) after extended septal myectomy. In the group with septum < 18 mm, at early postoperative followup, moderate/severe mitral regurgitation was documented in only 2% of patients and SAM in 27.5%, with no difference compared to patients with a baseline septum \ge 18 mm. The lack of long-term follow-up echocardiographic data is the major limitation of this study.

On the other hand, subvalvular mitral procedures are routinely performed at other dedicated HOCM centers with excellent results (6, 9, 11–13). For instance, the role of diseased secondary chordae in obstruction, especially in cases of a relatively thin septum, has been demonstrated by Ferrazzi et al. (11) Anomalous chordae resection (median of 3, range 1–8) associated with a shallow myectomy in 39 patients (with a ventricular septal thickness \leq 19 mm) showed better clinical and hemodynamic results compared with a control group (only myectomy, 29 patients).

Our series provides long-term clinical and echocardiographic outcomes of procedures involving the subvalvular mitral apparatus during HOCM surgery. Release of the AML achieved by the technique described allows for coaptation of the mitral leaflet far from the septum and provides resolution of LVOT obstruction. Neither ventricular septal defect nor hospital mortality occurred. Intraoperative MV replacement because of a failed procedure due to severe MR recurrence was necessary in one patient. Pacemaker implantation rate was consistent with data from another single-center report (16). Our research highlights the complex anatomic interactions among the basal septal hypertrophy, mitral valvular and subvalvular abnormalities and SAM-in HOCM moreover when the septal thickness is less marked (91% of patients showed a septal thickness < 24 mm), and contributes further data to the debate over surgical myectomy or alcoholization, though the use of the latter has increased in Europe in recent decades (25). This study also reports the definitive benefits of subvalvular mitral apparatus procedures added to septal myectomy in experienced centers. Preoperative planning, based on individual anatomic findings, and tailored surgical treatment resulted in excellent outcomes.

This is a single-center series of consecutive patients retrospectively reviewed. The small sample size and the lack of certain data (e.g., type of HOCM and hypertrophy localization, weight of the resected muscle, histopathologic analysis and cardiac magnetic resonance findings) should be considered its major limitations.

CONCLUSION

Subvalvular apparatus remodeling added to septal myectomy can provide satisfactory early and long-term

outcomes in terms of symptom improvement, LVOT obstruction relief, and MR resolution in patients with HOCM regardless of septal thickness.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available due to the nature of this research, participants of this study did not agree for their data to be shared publicly, so supporting data is not available. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to GR, giuseppe.raffa78@gmail.com.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by IRCCS-ISMETT. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

REFERENCES

- Morrow AG, Brockenbrough EC. Surgical treatment of idiopathic hypertrophic subaortic stenosis: technic and hemodynamic results of subaortic ventriculomyotomy. *Ann Surg.* (1961) 154:181–9. doi: 10.1097/ 00000658-196108000-00003
- Ommen SR, Maron BJ, Olivotto I, Maron MS, Cecchi F, Betocchi S, et al. Long-term effects of surgical septal myectomy on survival in patients with obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2005) 46:470–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.02.090
- Smedira NG, Lytle BW, Lever HM, Rajeswaran J, Krishnaswamy G, Kaple RK, et al. Current effectiveness and risks of isolated septal myectomy for hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2008) 85:127– 33. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.07.063
- Sherrid MV, Balaram S, Kim B, Axel L, Swistel DG. The mitral valve in obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a test in context. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2016) 67:1846–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016. 01.071
- Silbiger JJ. Abnormalities of the mitral apparatus in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: echocardiographic, pathophysiologic, and surgical insights. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. (2016) 29:622–39. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2016. 03.003
- Raffa GM, Romano G, Turrisi M, Morsolini M, Gentile G, Sciacca S, et al. Pathoanatomic findings and treatment during hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy surgery: the role of mitral valve. *Heart Lung Circ.* (2019) 28:477–85.
- Lapenna E, Nisi T, Carino D, Bargagna M, Ruggeri S, Zancanaro E, et al. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy with moderate septal thickness and mitral regurgitation: long-term surgical results. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2021) 60:244–51. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezab097
- Patel P, Dhillon A, Popovic ZB, Smedira NG, Rizzo J, Thamilarasan M, et al. Left ventricular outflow tract obstruction in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy patients without severe septal hypertrophy: implications of mitral valve and papillary muscle abnormalities assessed using cardiac magnetic resonance and echocardiography. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging*. (2015) 8:e003132. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCIMAGING.115.003132
- Raffa GM, Pilato M. Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy and subvalvular mitral apparatus remodeling. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2019) 108:964. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2019.01.056

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GR: conceptualization, formal analysis, methodology, supervision, validation, and writing—original draft. EF, CL, AP, AR, and MG: data curation and validation. MK and SL: methodology and writing—review and editing. SS, MT, VS, MM, and GM: data curation and supervision. MP: conceptualization, supervision, and validation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Italian Ministry of Health, Rome, Italy (Ricerca Corrente: RC 2022, Line 3A).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcvm. 2022.853582/full#supplementary-material

- Nguyen A, Schaff HV, Nishimura RA, Dearani JA, Geske JB, Lahr BD, et al. Does septal thickness influence outcome of myectomy for hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy? *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2018) 53:582–9. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx398
- Ferrazzi P, Spirito P, Iacovoni A, Calabrese A, Migliorati K, Simon C, et al. Transaortic chordal cutting: mitral valve repair for obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy with mild septal hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2015) 66:1687–96. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.07.069
- Vriesendorp PA, Schinkel AF, Soliman OI, Kofflard MJ, de Jong PL, van Herwerden LA, et al. Long-term benefit of myectomy and anterior mitral leaflet extension in obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Am J Cardiol.* (2015) 115:670–5. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.12.017
- Dulguerov F, Marcacci C, Alexandrescu C, Chan KM, Dreyfus GD. Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy: the mitral valve could be the key. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2016) 50:61–5. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezv473
- 14. Kwon DH, Smedira NG, Thamilarasan M, Lytle BW, Lever H, Desai MY. Characteristics and surgical outcomes of symptomatic patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy with abnormal papillary muscle morphology undergoing papillary muscle reorientation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2010) 140:317–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.10.045
- Lapenna E, Nisi T, Ruggeri S, Trumello C, Del Forno B, Schiavi D, et al. Edge-to-edge mitral repair associated with septal myectomy in hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2020) 110:783–9. doi: 10. 1016/j.athoracsur.2020.03.095
- Wei LM, Thibault DP, Rankin JS, Alkhouli M, Roberts HG, Vemulapalli S, et al. Contemporary surgical management of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in the United States. Ann Thorac Surg. (2019) 107:460–6. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur. 2018.08.068
- 17. Ommen SR, Mital S, Burke MA, Day SM, Deswal A, Elliott P, et al. 2020 AHA/ACC guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a report of the American college of cardiology/American heart association joint committee on clinical practice guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2020) 76:e159–240.
- Raffa GM, Pilato M. Letter to the editor: hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy and a "crowded" left ventricular outflow tract (response to the letter of Professor Ismail Yurekli, et al.). *Heart Lung Circ.* (2021) 30:e45–6. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2020.06.013
- 19. Iacovoni A, Spirito P, Simon C, Iascone M, Di Dedda G, De Filippo P, et al. A contemporary European experience with surgical septal myectomy in

hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J. (2012) 33:2080-7. doi: 10.1093/ eurheartj/ehs064

- Maron BJ, Dearani JA, Ommen SR, Maron MS, Schaff HV, Nishimura RA, et al. Low operative mortality achieved with surgical septal myectomy: role of dedicated hypertrophic cardiomyopathy centers in the management of dynamic subaortic obstruction. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2015) 66:1307–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.06.1333
- Ji Q, Wang Y, Liu F, Yang Y, Xia L, Ding W, et al. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy with latent obstruction: clinical characteristics and surgical results. *J Cardiol.* (2021) 79:42–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2021.09.002
- 22. McIntosh CL, Maron BJ. Current operative treatment of obstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Circulation*. (1988) 78:487–95. doi: 10.1161/01. cir.78.3.487
- Bogachev-Prokophiev A, Afanasyev A, Zheleznev S, Fomenko M, Sharifulin R, Kretov E, et al. Mitral valve repair or replacement in hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy: a prospective randomized study. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* (2017) 25:356–62. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivx152
- 24. Afanasyev A, Bogachev-Prokophiev A, Lenko E, Sharifulin R, Ovcharov M, Kozmin D, et al. Myectomy with mitral valve repair versus replacement in adult patients with hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* (2019) 28:465–72. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivy269

 Falk V, Baumgartner H, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. 2017 ESC/EACTS guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2017) 52:616–64.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Raffa, Franca, Lachina, Palmeri, Kowalewski, Lebowitz, Ricasoli, Greco, Sciacca, Turrisi, Morsolini, Stringi, Mattiucci and Pilato. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Clinical Insights to Complete and Incomplete Surgical Revascularization in Atrial Fibrillation and Multivessel Coronary Disease

Michal Pasierski^{1,2†}, Jakub Staromłyński^{1,2†}, Janina Finke¹, Radoslaw Litwinowicz^{2,3}, Grzegorz Filip³, Adam Kowalówka^{4,5}, Wojciech Wańha^{2,6}, Michalina Kołodziejczak^{2,7,8}, Natalia Piekuś-Słomka⁹, Andrzej Łoś¹⁰, Sebastian Stefaniak¹¹, Wojciech Wojakowski⁶, Marek Jemielity¹¹, Jan Rogowski¹⁰, Marek Deja^{4,5}, Dariusz Jagielak¹⁰, Krzysztof Bartus³, Silvia Mariani¹², Tong Li¹³, Matteo Matteucci^{2,14}, Daniele Ronco^{2,14}, Federica Jiritano^{2,15}, Dario Fina^{2,16}, Gennaro Martucci^{2,17}, Paolo Meani^{2,16}, Giuseppe Maria Raffa^{2,18}, Artur Słomka^{2,19}, Pietro Giorgio Malvidni²⁰, Roberto Lorusso¹², Michal Zembala²¹, Piotr Suwalski¹ and Mariusz Kowalewski^{1,2,12*} on behalf of Thoracic Research Centre

¹ Department of Cardiac Surgery, Central Clinical Hospital of the Ministry of Interior, Centre of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warsaw, Poland, ² Thoracic Research Centre, Innovative Medical Forum, Collegium Medicum Nicolaus Copernicus University, Bydgoszcz, Poland, ³ Department of Cardiovascular Surgery and Transplantology, Jagiellonian University Medical College, John Paul II Hospital, Kraków, Poland, ⁴ Department of Cardiac Surgery, School of Medicine in Katowice, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland, ⁵ Department of Cardiac Surgery, Upper-Silesian Heart Center, Katowice, Poland, ⁶ Department of Cardiology and Structural Heart Diseases, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland, ⁷ Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Antoni Jurasz University Hospital No. 1, Collegium Medicum Nicolaus Copernicus University, Bydgoszcz, Poland, 8 Division of Cardiology, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, United States, ⁹ Department of Inorganic and Analytical Chemistry, Ludwik Rydyajer Collegium Medicum in Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Toruń, Poland, 10 Department of Cardiac and Vascular Surgery, Medical University of Gdańsk, Gdańsk, Poland, 11 Department of Cardiac Surgery and Transplantology, Poznań University of Medical Sciences, Poznań, Poland, 12 Cardio-Thoracic Surgery Department, Heart and Vascular Centre, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht, Netherlands, 13 Department of Cardiac Surgery, University Hospital Düesseldorf, Düesseldorf, Germany, ¹⁴ Department of Cardiac Surgery, Circolo Hospital, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy, ¹⁵ Department of Cardiac Surgery, University Magna Græcia of Catanzaro, Catanzaro, Italy, ¹⁶ Department of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anesthesia and Intensive Care Unit (ICU), Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS) Policlinico San Donato, Milan, Italy, 17 Anesthesia and Intensive Care Department, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS)-Istituto Mediterraneo per i Trapianti e Terapie ad Alta Specializzazione (ISMETT), Palermo, Italy, 18 Cardiac Surgery Unit, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS)-Istituto Mediterraneo per i Trapianti e Terapie ad Alta Specializzazione (ISMETT), Palermo, Italy, ¹⁹ Department of Pathophysiology, Ludwik Rydygier Collegium Medicum Bydgoszcz, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Toruń, Poland, 20 Cardiac Surgery Unit, Lancisi Cardiovascular Center, Polytechnic University of Marche, Ancona, Italy, ²¹ Department of Cardiac, Vascular and Endovascular Surgery and Transplantology, Silesian Center for Heart Diseases, Zabrze, Poland

Objectives: Although endorsed by international guidelines, complete revascularization (CR) with Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting (CABG) remains underused. In higher-risk patients such as those with pre-operative atrial fibrillation (AF), the effects of CR are not well studied.

Methods: We analyzed patients' data from the HEIST (HEart surgery In AF and Supraventricular Tachycardia) registry. Between 2012 and 2020 we identified 4770 patients with pre-operative AF and multivessel coronary artery disease who underwent isolated CABG. We divided the cohort according to the completeness of the revascularization and used propensity score matching (PSM) to minimize differences between baseline characteristics. The primary endpoint was all-cause mortality.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luca Testa, IRCCS San Donato Polyclinic, Italy

Reviewed by:

Alberto Albertini, Maria Cecilia Hospital, Italy Faizus Sazzad, National University of Singapore, Singapore

*Correspondence:

Mariusz Kowalewski kowalewskimariusz@gazeta.pl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 01 April 2022 Accepted: 28 April 2022 Published: 15 June 2022

Citation:

Pasierski M, Staromłyński J, Finke J. Litwinowicz R. Filip G. Kowalówka A. Wańha W. Kołodziejczak M, Piekuś-Słomka N, Łoś A, Stefaniak S, Wojakowski W, Jemielity M, Rogowski J, Deja M, Jagielak D, Bartus K, Mariani S, Li T, Matteucci M. Ronco D. Jiritano F. Fina D. Martucci G. Meani P. Raffa GM, Słomka A, Malvidni PG, Lorusso R, Zembala M, Suwalski P and Kowalewski M (2022) Clinical Insights to Complete and Incomplete Surgical Revascularization in Atrial Fibrillation and Multivessel Coronarv Disease. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 9:910811.

Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 9:910811. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.910811

49

Results: Median follow-up was 4.7 years [interquartile range (IQR) 2.3–6.9]. PSM resulted in 1,009 pairs of complete and incomplete revascularization. Number of distal anastomoses varied, accounting for 3.0 + -0.6 vs. 1.7 + -0.6, respectively. Although early (< 24 h) and 30-day post-operative mortalities were not statistically different between non-CR and CR patients [Odds Ratio (OR) and 95% Confidence Intervals (Cls): 1.34 (0.46–3.86); P = 0.593, Hazard Ratio (HR) and 95% Cls: 0.88 (0.59–1.32); P = 0.542, respectively] the long term mortality was nearly 20% lower in the CR cohort [HR (95% Cls) 0.83 (0.71–0.96); P = 0.011]. This benefit was sustained throughout subgroup analyses, yet most accentuated in low-risk patients (younger i.e., < 70 year old, with a EuroSCORE II < 2%, non-diabetic) and when off-pump CABG was performed.

Conclusion: Complete revascularization in patients with pre-operative AF is safe and associated with improved survival. Particular survival benefit with CR was observed in low-risk patients undergoing off-pump CABG.

Keywords: atrial fibrillation, CABG, complete revascularization, survival, long-term

INTRODUCTION

Although never compared directly in a randomized controlled trial (RCT), complete revascularization (CR) during coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) is considered to be superior to incomplete revascularization (ICR) in multi-vessel coronary artery disease (MV-CAD). The benefit is thought to originate from reduced risk of future cardiovascular events, namely periprocedural myocardial infarction (MI) and repeat revascularization (RR). Many observational studies, as well as insights from subgroup analysis of RCTs reinforced this notion (1-3). Several RCTs which investigated CR in the context of percutaneous intervention (PCI) for ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) have shown the benefit of complete, compared to ICR for MV-CAD (4-6). However, surgical revascularization is still the first-choice procedure in high-risk non-acute MI patients, specifically those with diabetes (7) and intermediate-to-high anatomical complexity coronary disease (8).

guidelines The 2018 ESC/EACTS on myocardial revascularization emphasized that the expected highest completeness of revascularization should guide the choice of treatment strategy (9). The question arises if surgeons should attempt CR at all costs and, if not, what type of risk factors may discourage them from pursuing one. Atrial fibrillation (AF) is an independent predictor of mortality and morbidity after CABG (10, 11). Apart from an increased risk of stroke, AF is also associated with an over a fourfold increased risk of developing heart failure (12). Moreover, an impaired graft flow in AF CABG patients was observed (13). Most reports estimate the pre-op AF prevalence in CABG patients at 6-10%, but in some reports, it was as high as 20% (14). Because of aging of the society, the prevalence of AF is likely to rise.

The disparity in reported results of CR in CABG, and the shortage of evidence in high-risk patients, requires further investigation (15, 16). The current study aimed to address

whether there exists a survival benefit with CR in MV-CAD and underlying AF.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Study Population and Clinical Variables

Because of the retrospective nature of the study, the ethics committee approval was waived. Our investigation was a part of the HEIST (Heart Surgery In atrial fibrillation and Supraventricular tachycardia) Registry (NCT04860882). We included consecutive AF patients, over 18 year old, admitted to 8 tertiary centers in Poland, Netherlands, and Italy between January 2012 and December 2020 who had isolated CABG for MV-CAD performed (Supplementary Figure 1). Patients who (1) had no diagnosis of AF; (2) had CABG with concomitant valvular or aortic procedures, were not included in the study. Similarly, (3) patients with single-vessel CAD or (4) patients in whom the number of distal anastomoses and/or type of graft material used could not be determined were excluded from the analyses. (5) Patients undergoing hybrid revascularization by intention-to-treat protocol, or who were admitted for (6) staged revascularization strategy or (7) re-do surgery were not included.

Endpoints and Definitions

The primary endpoint was all-cause mortality following complete vs. incomplete surgical revascularization for MV-CAD. We defined CR as grafting two significantly stenotic lesions in twovessel disease and three lesions in three-vessel disease of different territories: right coronary artery (RCA), left anterior descending-(LAD), and circumflex- (Cx) artery. Additional grafts to the diseased systems were encouraged and when the number of grafts was greater than the number required for CR, the approach was considered as "supracomplete" revascularization (SCR). Only the coronary vessels with significant stenosis were bypassed. We defined ICR as failure to graft two significantly

TABLE 1 | Pre-operative characteristics after PS-matching.

	Total (2018)	Non-CR (1009)	CR (1009)	P-value
Baseline characteristics				
Age years [median (IQR)]	70 (64–76)	70 (64–76)	70 (64–76)	0.792
Male gender	1589 (78.7)	795 (78.8)	794 (78.7)	0.99
EuroSCORE II	1.91 (1.21,3.19)	1.92 (1.22, 3.19)	1.90 (1.18, 3.19)	0.760
Diabetes	899 (44.5)	457 (45.3)	442 (43.8)	0.531
Insulin \pm oral hypoglycemic drugs	372 (18.4)	186 (18.4)	186 (18.4)	0.99
Smoking	1247 (61.8)	628 (62.2)	619 (61.3)	0.714
Hypertension	1829 (90.6)	917 (90.9)	912 (90.4)	0.760
Hyperlipidemia	1293 (64.1)	656 (65.0)	637 (63.1)	0.404
BMI [median (IQR)]	28.69 (25.78–31.70)	28.70 (25.65, 31.71)	28.69 (25.95, 31.67)	0.815
Pulmonary hypertension ^a	154 (7.6)	86 (8.5)	68 (6.7)	0.154
Renal impairment	1128 (55.9)	570 (56.5)	558 (55.3)	0.622
Dialysis (regardless of CC)	26 (1.3)	13 (1.3)	13 (1.3)	0.99
Peripheral artery disease	515 (25.5)	263 (26.1)	252 (25.0)	0.610
Cerebrovascular disease	162 (8)	75 (7.4)	87 (8.6)	0.368
History of stroke	73 (3.6)	34 (3.4)	39 (3.9)	0.634
History of TIA/RIND	72 (3.6)	28 (2.8)	44 (4.4)	0.071
chronic lung disease	111 (5.5)	56 (5.6)	55 (5.5)	0.99
LVEF (%) [median (IQR)] ^a	50 (40–55)	50 (40–55)	49 (40–55)	0.527
3 vessel CAD	1609 (79.7)	813 (80.6)	796 (78.9)	0.376
Previous MI	1076 (53.3)	517 (51.2)	559 (55.4)	0.067
Previous PCI	304 (15.1)	152 (15.1)	152 (15.1)	0.99
NYHA IV	31 (1.5)	14 (1.4)	17 (1.7)	0.718
CCS 4	194 (9.6)	93 (9.2)	101 (10.0)	0.597
ACS	95 (4.7)	47 (4.7)	48 (4.8)	0.99

^aMissing data.

PS, propensity score; IQR, interquartile range; BMI, body mass index; PA, pulmonary artery; CC, creatinine clearance; TIA, transient ischemic attack; LVEF, left ventricle ejection fraction; CAD, coronary artery disease; VD, vessel disease; MI, myocardial infarction; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; NYHA, New York Heart Association; CCS, Canadian Cardiovascular Society; ACS, Acute Coronary Syndrome.

stenotic lesions in two-vessel disease and three lesions in three-vessel disease of different territories for whatever reason (15). Each distal anastomosis was counted as a separate graft, e.g., sequential conduit was counted as more than one graft. Whenever the territory that sequential graft supplied couldn't be determined from the registry or this data was missing, it was not taken into consideration when assessing the completeness of revascularization. We report data on early post-operative (< 24 h) mortality rates, in-hospital complications, lengths of stay in the intensive care unit (ICU) and in the hospital (HLoS).

Statistical Analyses

Continuous variables were summarized as mean with standard deviation if normally distributed; non-normal distributions were summarized as median with IQR and compared with the Mann-Whitney U test or standard *t*-test, as appropriate. Categorical variables [number (%)] were compared with the Fisher exact test. Propensity matching was generated for each patient from a non-parsimonious multivariable logistic regression model that was based on baseline characteristics (age, number of vessels diseased, comorbidities, EuroSCORE II, LVEF, CCS, NYHA, and others listed in **Table 1**) and procedural [concomitant ablation, type of surgery (Off-Pump, On-Pump), procedure urgency] covariates as independent variables with treatment type (CR vs. non-CR)

as a dependent variable. We used and opt-match and matchIt packages, 1-to-1 pairing, without replacement within a specific caliper width of 0.2 standard deviation of the propensity score. We computed standardized mean differences (SMDs) to verify the balance between CR versus non-CR groups after matching (Supplementary Figure 2). Risk Ratios (RRs) were used for inhospital outcomes, whereas Cox proportional-hazards models were used to determine factors related to the event-free survival at long-term follow-up. We calculated Hazard Ratios (HRs) point estimate and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) with ensuing statistical models. Mortality was assessed with Kaplan-Meier survival curves fitted after PS matching. As a further sensitivity analysis, defined subgroup analyses were performed to assess the mortality in different scenarios. STATA MP v13.0 software (StataCorp, College Station, TX, United States) and R (with Rcmdr package and EZR software) were used for computations.

RESULTS

We identified 4,770 patients with pre-operative AF undergoing CABG; of those, in 3,193 (66.9%) patients, CR according to predefined criteria was achieved. During the 9-year follow-up, there were no marked differences in the proportion of complete vs. ICR, nor there were



any differences in the adoption of multi-arterial grafting (MAG) (**Figure 1**). Using the propensity score matching (PSM) model, two groups of 1,009 patients each were determined, by pairing non-CR patients with CR controls to achieve similar baseline (**Table 1**) and surgical (**Table 2**) characteristics. We report details on matching quality in **Supplementary Figure 2**.

Baseline and Surgical Characteristics

Baseline characteristics were balanced between groups, with similar EUROSCORE values [median (IQR): 1.92 (1.22–3.19) and 1.90 (1.18–3.19), respectively in patients with incomplete and CR]. The median age was identical in both groups – 70 years (64–76). Of included patients, 78.8% (non-CR) vs. 78.7% (CR) were men, 80.6% of non-CR patients in comparison with 78.9% in the CR group had a 3-vessel coronary artery disease (p = 0.376). Concomitant ablation was performed in 4.1% of non-CR and 3.8% of the CR group; 531 (52.6%) non-CR and

	Total (2018)	Non-CR (1009)	CR (1009)	P-value
Procedural characteristics				
Critical pre-operative state	43 (2.1)	22 (2.2)	21 (2.1)	0.99
IABP	8 (0.4)	4 (0.4)	4 (0.4)	0.99
iv. inotropes	35 (1.7)	19 (1.9)	16 (1.6)	0.734
Mechanical vent	8 (0.4)	5 (0.5)	3 (0.3)	0.726
Emergency surgery	74 (3.7)	37 (3.7)	37 (3.7)	0.99
OPCAB	1031 (51.1)	531 (52.6)	500 (49.6)	0.182
CPB (min) ^a	74 (55–95)	60 (45–74)	90 (71–109)	< 0.001
X-clamp (min) ^a	41 (29–54)	32 (24–41)	50 (40–61)	< 0.001
Conversion to ONCAB	17 (0.8%)	11 (1.1)	6 (0.6)	0.330
Concomitant ablation	79 (3.9)	41 (4.1)	38 (3.8)	0.819

^aMissing data.

PS, propensity score; CPR, cardiopulmonary resuscitation; IABP, intra-aortic balloon pump; iv, intravenous; OPCAB, Off-Pump Coronary Artery Bypass; ONCAB, On-Pump Coronary Artery Bypass; CPB, cardiopulmonary bypass; LAAO, left atrial appendage occlusion; ±; SD, Standard Deviation.

	Total (2018) I	Non-CR (1009) CR (1009)
LIMA	1860 (92.2)	914 (90.5)	950 (94.2)
RIMA	83 (4.1)	35 (3.5)	48 (4.8)
BIMA	77 (3.8)	34 (3.4)	43 (4.3)
Pedicled IMA ^a	619 (30.7)	295 (34.6)	324 (38.0)
Skeletonized IMA ^a	1085 (53.8)	557 (65.4)	528 (62.0)
Radial artery	44 (2.2)	25 (2.5)	19 (1.9)
Multiple arterial grafts	203 (10.1)	82 (8.1)	121 (12.0)
Total Arterial Revascularization	42 (2.1)	0 (0.0)	42 (4.2)
Number of anastomoses (Mean + -	-SD)	2 (1–2)	3 (3–3)

^aMissing data.

LIMA/RIMA/BIMA, Left/Right/Bilateral Internal Mammary Artery; RA, Radial Artery, \pm ; SD, Standard Deviation.

TABLE 2 | Operative characteristics after PS-matching.

TABLE 4 | In-hospital outcomes after PS-matching.

	Non-CR (1009)	CR (1009)	Risk ratio (95% CIs)	P-value
Early post-operative mortality (< 24 h)	7 (0.7)	8 (0.8)	1.14 (0.42–3.14)	0.288
Cardiac tamponade and/or rethoracotomy for bleeding	31 (3.1)	51 (5.1)	1.65 (1.06–2.55)	0.032
Respiratory failure	60 (5.9)	74 (7.3)	1.23 (0.89–1.71)	0.245
Neurologic complications	25 (2.5)	21 (2.1)	0.84 (0.47-1.49)	0.655
Multiorgan failure	21 (2.1)	21 (2.1)	1.00 (0.55–1.82)	1.000
Gastrointestinal complications	13 (1.3)	16 (1.6)	1.23 (0.6–2.55)	0.709
Acute kidney failure and/or dialysis	32 (3.2)	34 (3.4)	1.06 (0.66–1.71)	0.901
Superficial sternal wound infection	19 (1.9)	21 (2.1)	1.11 (0.60–2.04)	0.873
Deep sternal wound infection	18 (1.8)	14 (1.4)	0.78 (0.39–1.56)	0.594
Mediastinitis	4 (0.4)	6 (0.6)	1.50 (0.42–5.3)	0.753
PPI	4 (0.4)	4 (0.4)	1.00 (0.25–3.99)	1.000
ECMO	1 (0%)	1 (0%)	1.00 (0.06–15.97)	1.000
IABP	18 (1.8%)	21 (2.1%)	1.17 (0.63–2.18)	0.628

PS, propensity score; Cls, confidence intervals; MI, myocardial infarction; ICU, intensive care unit; PPI, permanent pacemaker implantation; ECMO, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation; IABP, intra-aortic balloon pump.



500 (49.6%) CR patients were operated on without the use of cardio-pulmonary bypass (p = 0.182). As expected, the number of distal anastomoses varied between groups (1.7 ± 0.6 non-CR vs. 3.0 ± 0.6 CR, P < 0.001). **Table 3** lists information regarding grafts and anastomoses.

Clinical Outcomes

In-hospital outcomes and post-operative complications were consistent between groups (**Table 4**). Early mortality (24 h) and 30-day mortality were unaffected by CR [Odds Ratio (OR) and 95% Confidence Intervals (CIs): 1.34 (0.46–3.86), P = 0.593, Hazard Ratio (HR) and 95% CIs: 0.88 (0.59–1.32), P = 0.542, respectively]. Cardiac tamponade and/or rethoracotomy for bleeding occurred in 3.1 vs. 5.1% and was statistically more frequent in the CR group [Risk Ratio (RR)

and 95% CIs, 1.65 (1.06–2.55), P = 0.032]. Cardiopulmonary bypass (CBP) and aortic X-clamp times were significantly longer in the CR group: the median of CBP time was 65 vs. 79 min ($P \le 0.001$) in the CR and non-CR group and respectively 34 vs. 40 min ($P \le 0.001$) of aortic X-clamp time. In the long-term follow-up [As stated in the abstract median follow up was 4.7 years (2.3–6.9)], CR was associated with significantly lower mortality [HR (95% CIs) 0.83 (0.71–0.96), P = 0.011] (**Figure 2**).

The CR group was further divided into patients who underwent complete- and "supracomplete" revascularization. The latter was associated with an even greater reduction in mortality HR (95% CIs) 0.76 (0.59–0.97), P = 0.023 (for SCR vs. ICR). Between ICR, CR, and SCR we observed a significant trend toward lower mortality (log rank P = 0.032, **Figure 3**).



survival between groups. CR, complete revascularization; SCR, "supracomplete" revascularization.

In subgroup analyses, the benefit of improved long-term survival was sustained across diverse patient populations. Especially beneficent were younger (< 70 years old.) patients [HR (95% CIs) 0.67 (0.53–0.85), P = 0.001 for < 70 year old Vs. HR (95% CIs) 0.94 (0.78–1.13), P = 0.497 for \geq 70 year old; P interaction = 0.027]. The effect was also more pronounced in patients with lower EuroSCORE II, without diabetes and when off-pump CABG was performed. Further details on the subgroup analyses are shown in **Figure 4**.

DISCUSSION

The current analysis is the first to focus on the long-term results of complete and incomplete surgical revascularization for MV-CAD in patients with pre-existing AF. Its main findings are as follows; (1) there was a high rate of ICR; (2) long-term benefit of CR; (3) even greater benefit with a higher number of additional grafts; (4) low prevalence of MAG and TAR in the population of AF patients, without significant temporal trends.

Complete revascularization, especially achieved through CABG, is characterized by improved long-term survival and a lower rate of reinterventions compared with ICR (1–3). It remains to be established whether this distinction is specifically because of ICR as a surgical method, deficiency, or anatomical obstacles during CABG or, whether the ICR is only a marker of more advanced and progressive coronary disease. The ICR usually indicates complex coronary pathology, with unfavorable outcomes originating from the patient's baseline risk profile. In

reality, even though ICR may contrarily influence long-term results (17), it may be the most appropriate treatment method in a specific subset of prohibitive-risk patients. When the risks of surgery must be minimized to reduce perioperative mortality and complications, target vessel revascularization represents possibly the best feasible course of action (6).

Patients presenting with AF are at markedly elevated, yet non-prohibitive, operative risk, nor is AF itself accounted for in prognostic scores (e.g., EuroSCORE II). Although, the prevalence of AF in patients undergoing CABG is much lower than in patients undergoing mitral valve surgery (18, 19), up to 20% of patients presenting for coronary surgical procedures may have preoperative AF (14, 20), which is often used as a marker for high-risk patients (10, 11, 21). This percentage rises with age and decreased left ventricular function, which is seen in an increasing number of patients referred for CABG surgery. Although no data exists on performing CR in this population, because of their highrisk nature, surgeons may be reluctant to aim for CR as it is associated with longer operative time. Until now, no single study has focused on a comparison of CR/ICR in the AF population undergoing CABG.

One subgroup analysis of the Atrial Fibrillation undergoing Coronary Artery Stenting (AFCAS) registry focusing on the impact of ICR, has shown that of 445 (46.8%) PCI subjects in whom physicians opted for ICR, at 1-year follow-up, had a higher rate of the composite endpoint of acute MI, stent thrombosis and RR, compared to patients with CR (13.9% vs. 9.4%, p = 0.003) (22). In an adjusted multivariable analysis, only creatinine clearance (inverse relationship) and ICR were

		Hazard Ratio (95%Cls)	Pvalue	Pinteraction
Age ≥ 70 yrs				
Yes	H H	0.94 (0.78 – 1.13)	0.497	0.007
No		0.67 (0.53 – 0.85)	0.001	0.027
Type of surgery				
Off-pump	- -	0.73 (0.59 – 0.90)	0.004	0.405
On-pump	⊢ _	0.93 (0.76 - 1.14)	0.475	0.105
Coronary Artery Disease				
2-VD	i−−∎−+i	0.80 (0.57 - 1.11)	0.176	0.707
3-VD	+0-	0.84 (0.71 - 0.99)	0.036	0.797
Diabetes				
Yes	⊢ ⊡ →	0.79 (0.64 - 0.97)	0.028	0.574
No	H-0-H	0.86 (0.70 - 1.06)	0.157	0.571
LVEF ≤ 50%				
Yes	+ B -1	0.81 (0.68 - 0.97)	0.018	0.007
No		0.83 (0.62 - 1.10)	0.194	0.887
Previous MI				
Yes		0.81 (0.65 - 1.00)	0.053	0.705
No	 -+	0.85 (0.68 - 1.08)	0.186	0.765
Euroscore				
< 2%	D	0.77 (0.60 - 0.98)	0.031	0.470
≥2%	- □ -1	0.86 (0.72 - 1.03)	0.105	0.476
Type of conduits				
SAG	⊢∎⊣	0.84 (0.72-0.97)	0.021	0.700
MAG		0.91 (0.52-1.59)	0.740	0.786
	0,1 1	10		

CIs. confidence intervals; LVEF. left ventricle ejection fraction MI. myocardial infarction; SAG, single arterial grafting; MAG, multiple arterial grafting

FIGURE 4 | Subgroup Analysis, Hazard Ratios and 95% Confidence Intervals (Cis) for death from any cause in CR as compared to non-CR according to selected characteristics; CR, complete revascularization; VD, vessel disease; LVEF, left ventricle ejection fraction; MI, myocardial infarction.

independently associated with a higher risk of the composite endpoint [HR (95% CIs) 1.66, (1.10–2.50), p = 0.013] (22).

The latest reports and registries analyses present data on safety and efficacy of surgical CR in AF. In a study of 900 patients with end-stage renal disease, where 14.1% of all patients had pre-existing AF, emergency surgery, diabetes mellitus, the number of vein grafts and age were identified as risk factors for mortality (23). CR, the use of an internal thoracic artery and the sinus rhythm pre-op were recognized as beneficial factors for long-term survival (23). Although AF was not identified as an independent risk factor for perioperative mortality (p = 0.59), it was an independent predictor for late mortality (p < 0.001) (23). In an analysis of the KROK registry Off-Pump CABG offered a 30-day survival benefit to patients undergoing CABG surgery and presenting with underlying AF (24). On-Pump CABG, on the other hand, was associated with significantly improved longterm survival. CR was possible in 67.5% of patients and was significantly higher, by 10%, in patients undergoing On-Pump CABG (73.3 vs. 62.6%; *P* < 0.001) (24).

One finding of the preset report requires special attention; it was demonstrated that "supra-complete" revascularization, may further improve survival in AF patients undergoing CABG. A study by Schwann et al. investigated the effects of SCR in SAG and MAG and concluded that it conveyed a survival benefit in patients with 3-VD in a single arterial grafting group (which is the majority in our study) (25). Conversely, Chu et al. observed no survival benefit with multiple grafts to each myocardial territory (26). Supra-complete revascularization could be beneficial in several ways, by securing the vulnerable myocardium during the early phase post-op, particularly prone to arrhythmias and disturbances in blood flow, or protecting distal coronary arteries from MI in long-term when functionally non-significant and non-revascularized lesions become significant (27). However, aiming for SCR must increase operative times and since its benefit is not well established the surgeons face a difficult decision. Our results suggest that preoperative AF, although a poor prognostic factor in general, should not be deemed prohibitive while considering additional grafts to each coronary territory.

Several factors, beyond the completeness of the revascularization, can influence the outcome in the AF population. Analysis of the KROK registry (28) showed a significant survival benefit associated with concomitant surgical ablation (SA) in the setting of CABG. The same analysis showed that it remains severely underused, as it was performed only in 4.4%. Recent guidelines give a recommendation to concomitant SA during CABG surgery. Considering that both CR and SA

prolong operative times, surgeons might decide to choose SA over the additional graft that would ensure completeness of the revascularization. Our results suggest that in non-prohibitive risk patients, both SA and CR should be aimed for. Another analysis of the KROK registry showed that patients undergoing multiple arterial grafting have survival benefits at long-term follow-up (13 years post-op) as compared to single arterial grafting (29). This benefit was further sustained in subgroup analyses, yet most appraised in low risk patients (< 70-year-old; EuroSCORE < 2; no diabetes) and when CR was achieved (P = 0.009). Some studies suggest that benefit with the CR may be conferred to SAG patients, wheares when multiple arterial grafts are used their superior patency could neutralize survival benefit associated with completeness of revascularization (30). Indeed, in our sensitivity analysis the benefit in MAG group was non-significant, although it has to be noted that the number of MAG patients was low.

LIMITATIONS

Our study has several limitations. First, only all-cause mortality assessment is possible; the information regarding the cause of death, reinterventions, MIs, heart failure hospitalizations, adherence to anticoagulation therapy, or angiographic patency follow-up is not recorded in the registry. Second, although we addressed a potential selection bias, with propensity score matching according to baseline clinical variables, several confounders could prevail, an important of which is the lack of coronary angiograms that would allow us to access the percentage of chronic total occlusions. Additionally, we did not include the grafting choice (arterial vs. venous grafting) and patient allocation in the propensity score model. Third, detailed anatomy of coronary vessels is not available and therefore the feasibility of CR in each case could not be assessed. Finally, our data regarding coronary revascularization concerns CABG surgery only. Perhaps, some patients, in whom CR during surgery was deemed infeasible, could benefit from a staged hybrid revascularization with PCI as a second stage. Unfortunately, the registry at that time did not gather data regarding subsequent interventions.

REFERENCES

- 1. Garcia S, Sandoval Y, Roukoz H, Adabag S, Canoniero M, Yannopoulos D, et al. Outcomes after complete versus incomplete revascularization of patients with multivessel coronary artery disease: a meta-analysis of 89,883 patients enrolled in randomized clinical trials and observational studies. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2013) 62:1421–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.05.033
- Zimarino M, Ricci F, Romanello M, Di Nicola M, Corazzini A, De Caterina R. Complete myocardial revascularization confers a larger clinical benefit when performed with state-of-the-art techniques in high-risk patients with multivessel coronary artery disease: a meta-analysis of randomized and observational studies. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 87:3–12. doi: 10. 1002/ccd.25923
- Takahashi K, Serruys PW, Gao C, Ono M, Wang R, Thuijs DJFM, et al. Ten-year all-cause death according to completeness of revascularization in patients with three-vessel disease or left main coronary artery disease: insights from the SYNTAX extended survival study. *Circulation.* (2021) 144:96–109. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046289

CONCLUSION

In this multicenter retrospective propensity-matched study of patients with preoperative AF, CR during CABG was associated with improved long-term survival. The particular benefit was observed in lower-risk patients. A significant trend was observed toward lower mortality with "supracomplete" revascularization.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MP, JS, JF, and MKow: conception and design. PS, RLo, MD, WWo, JR, MJ, MZ, and KB: administrative support. JS, RLi, GF, AK, WWa, AŁ, SS, DJ, FJ, MM, GM, and GR: provision of study materials or patients. NP-S, SM, TL, DR, and AS: collection and assembly of data. MP, MKow, MKoł, PGM, PM, and DF: data analysis and interpretation. MP, JS, JF, MKow, MKoł, and SM: manuscript writing. All authors approved the final manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcvm. 2022.910811/full#supplementary-material

- Mehta SR, Wood DA, Storey RF, Mehran R, Bainey KR, Nguyen H, et al. Complete Revascularization with multivessel PCI for myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med.* (2019) 381:1411–21.
- Engstrøm T, Kelbæk H, Helqvist S, Høfsten DE, Kløvgaard L, Holmvang L, et al. Complete revascularisation versus treatment of the culprit lesion only in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction and multivessel disease (DANAMI-3—PRIMULTI): an open-label, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2015) 386:665–71. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(15)60648-1
- Kowalewski M, Schulze V, Berti S, Waksman R, Kubica J, Kołodziejczak M, et al. Complete revascularisation in ST-elevation myocardial infarction and multivessel disease: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Heart.* (2015) 101:1309–17. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2014-307293
- Farkouh ME, Domanski M, Sleeper LA, Siami FS, Dangas G, Mack M, et al. Strategies for multivessel revascularization in patients with diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 367:2375–84.
- Serruys PW, Morice MC, Kappetein AP, Colombo A, Holmes DR, Mack MJ, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention versus coronary-artery bypass grafting for severe coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med.* (2009) 360:961–72.

- Neumann FJ, Sousa-Uva M, Ahlsson A, Alfonso F, Banning AP, Benedetto U, et al. 2018 ESC/EACTS guidelines on myocardial revascularization. *Eur Heart J.* (2019) 40:87–165.
- Batra G, Ahlsson A, Lindahl B, Lindhagen L, Wickbom A, Oldgren J. Atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing coronary artery surgery is associated with adverse outcome. Ups J Med Sci. (2019) 124:70–7. doi: 10.1080/03009734.2018. 1504148
- 11. Böning A, Diegeler A, Hilker M, Zacher M, Reents W, Faerber G, et al. Preoperative atrial fibrillation and outcome in patients undergoing on-pump or off-pump coronary bypass surgery: lessons learned from the GOPCABE trial. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* (2015) 20:74–8. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ ivu331
- Ruddox V, Sandven I, Munkhaugen J, Skattebu J, Edvardsen T, Otterstad JE. Atrial fibrillation and the risk for myocardial infarction, all-cause mortality and heart failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* (2017) 24:1555–66. doi: 10.1177/2047487317715769
- Shin H, Hashizume K, Iino Y, Koizumi K, Matayoshi T, Yozu R. Effects of atrial fibrillation on coronary artery bypass graft flow. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2003) 23:175–8. doi: 10.1016/s1010-7940(02)00730-3
- McCarthy PM, Davidson CJ, Kruse J, Lerner DJ, Braid-Forbes MJ, McCrea MM, et al. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation before cardiac surgery and factors associated with concomitant ablation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2020) 159:2245–2253.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2019.06.062
- Schaefer A, Conradi L, Schneeberger Y, Reichenspurner H, Sandner S, Tebbe U, et al. Clinical outcomes of complete versus incomplete revascularization in patients treated with coronary artery bypass grafting: insights from the TiCAB trial. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2020) 59:417–25. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/eza a330
- Vander Salm TJ, Kip KE, Jones RH, Schaff HV, Shemin RJ, Aldea GS, et al. What constitutes optimal surgical revascularization? Answers from the bypass angioplasty revascularization investigation (BARI). *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2002) 39:565–72. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(01)01806-x
- Mocanu V, Buth KJ, Kelly R, Légaré JF. Incomplete revascularization after coronary artery bypass graft operations is independently associated with worse long-term survival. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2014) 98:549–55. doi: 10.1016/ j.athoracsur.2014.02.090
- Suwalski P, Kowalewski M, Jasiński M, Staromłyński J, Zembala M, Widenka K, et al. Survival after surgical ablation for atrial fibrillation in mitral valve surgery: analysis from the polish national registry of cardiac surgery procedures (KROK). *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2019) 157:1007–1018.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2018.07.099
- Rankin JS, He X, O'Brien SM, Jacobs JP, Welke KF, Filardo G, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons risk model for operative mortality after multiple valve surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2013) 95:1484–90. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012. 11.077
- Malaisrie SC, McCarthy PM, Kruse J, Matsouaka RA, Churyla A, Grau-Sepulveda MV, et al. Ablation of atrial fibrillation during coronary artery bypass grafting: late outcomes in a Medicare population. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2021) 161:1251–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2019.10.159
- Ad N, Barnett SD, Haan CK, O'Brien SM, Milford-Beland S, Speir AM. Does preoperative atrial fibrillation increase the risk for mortality and morbidity after coronary artery bypass grafting? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2009) 137:901–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2008.09.050
- 22. Proietti M, Airaksinen KEJ, Rubboli A, Schlitt A, Kiviniemi T, Karjalainen PP, et al. P1177 Impact of incomplete revascularization in atrial fibrillation

patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: the afcas registry. *EP Europace*. (2018) 20:i227. doi: 10.1093/europace/euy015.662

- 23. Schönburg M, Ziegelhoeffer T, Weinbrenner F, Bechtel M, Detter C, Krabatsch T, et al. Preexisting atrial fibrillation as predictor for late-time mortality in patients with end-stage renal disease undergoing cardiac surgery-a multicenter study. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2008) 56:128–32. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-989432
- Kowalewski M, Jasiński M, Staromłyński J, Zembala M, Widenka K, Brykczyński M, et al. On-Pump vs Off-Pump coronary artery bypass surgery in atrial fibrillation. Analysis from the polish national registry of cardiac surgery procedures (KROK). *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0231950. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0231950
- Schwann TA, Yammine MB, El-Hage-Sleiman AM, Engoren MC, Bonnell MR, Habib RH. The effect of completeness of revascularization during CABG with single versus multiple arterial grafts. *J Card Surg.* (2018) 33:620–8. doi: 10.1111/jocs.13810
- Chu D, Bakaeen FG, Wang XL, Coselli JS, LeMaire SA, Huh J. The impact of placing multiple grafts to each myocardial territory on longterm survival after coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2009) 137:60–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2008.09.018
- 27. Thuesen AL, Riber LP, Veien KT, Christiansen EH, Jensen SE, Modrau I, et al. Fractional flow reserve versus angiographically-guided coronary artery bypass grafting. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2018) 72:2732–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.09.043
- Suwalski P, Kowalewski M, Jasiński M, Staromłyński J, Zembala M, Widenka K, et al. Surgical ablation for atrial fibrillation during isolated coronary artery bypass surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2020) 57:691–7.
- Kowalewski M, Pasierski M, Litwinowicz R, Zembala M, Piekuś-Słomka N, Tobota Z, et al. Multiple versus single arterial coronary arterial bypass grafting surgery for multivessel disease in atrial fibrillation. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2021) 33:974–83. doi: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2020.11.015
- Rosenblum JM, Binongo J, Wei J, Liu Y, Leshnower BG, Chen EP, et al. Priorities in coronary artery bypass grafting: is midterm survival more dependent on completeness of revascularization or multiple arterial grafts? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2021) 161:2070–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2019.11.125

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Pasierski, Staromłyński, Finke, Litwinowicz, Filip, Kowalówka, Wańha, Kołodziejczak, Piekuś-Słomka, Łoś, Stefaniak, Wojakowski, Jemielity, Rogowski, Deja, Jagielak, Bartus, Mariani, Li, Matteucci, Ronco, Jiritano, Fina, Martucci, Meani, Raffa, Słomka, Malvidni, Lorusso, Zembala, Suwalski and Kowalewski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Dennis W. T. Nilsen, Stavanger University Hospital, Norway

REVIEWED BY

Rune Haaverstad, Haukeland University Hospital, Norway Marcos Lessa, Oswaldo Cruz Institute, Oswaldo Cruz Foundation (Fiocruz), Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Bernhard Winkler bernhard.winkler@gesundheitsverbund.at

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 17 April 2022 ACCEPTED 07 July 2022 PUBLISHED 28 July 2022

CITATION

Szalkiewicz P, Emmert MY, Heinisch PP, Arnold Z, Crailsheim I, Mach M, Aschacher T, Grabenwöger M and Winkler B (2022) Graft preservation confers myocardial protection during coronary artery bypass grafting. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:922357. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.922357

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Szalkiewicz, Emmert, Heinisch, Arnold, Crailsheim, Mach, Aschacher, Grabenwöger and Winkler. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Graft preservation confers myocardial protection during coronary artery bypass grafting

Philipp Szalkiewicz¹, Maximilian Y. Emmert^{2,3}, Paul P. Heinisch⁴, Zsuzsanna Arnold^{1,5}, Ingo Crailsheim^{1,5}, Markus Mach^{6,7}, Thomas Aschacher^{1,5,6}, Martin Grabenwöger^{1,5,8} and Bernhard Winkler^{1,5,6}*

¹Karl Landsteiner Institute for Cardiac and Vascular Surgical Research, Vienna, Austria, ²Deutsches Herzzentrum Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³Clinic for Cardiovascular Surgery, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁴German Heart Centre Munich, Technical University Munich, Munich, Germany, ⁵Vienna Health Association, Vienna, Austria, ⁶Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ⁷Clinical Department of Cardiac Surgery, University Department of Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ⁸Sigmund Freud University Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Background: During on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting (ONCAB), graft flushing for distal anastomoses testing also perfuses the downstream myocardium. This single-center retrospective study evaluated the impact of specific preservation solutions on myocardial protection during ONCAB.

Materials and methods: Between July 2019 and March 2020 either DuraGraft (DG) or 0.9% Saline/Biseko (SB) was applied to 272 ONCAB. Overall, 166 patients were propensity-matched into two groups. Cardiac enzymes [high-sensitive Troponin I (hs-TnI) and creatine kinase (CK)] were evaluated 7 days post-surgery.

Results: Post-surgery, hs-TnI values were significantly lower from 3 to 6 h (h) up to 4 days in the DG group: 3-6 h: 4,034 ng/L [IQR 1,853–8,654] vs. 5,532 ng/L [IQR 3,633–8,862], p = 0.05; 12-24 h: 2,420 ng/L [IQR 1,408–5,782] vs. 4,166 [IQR 2,052–8,624], p < 0.01; 2 days: 1,095 ng/L [IQR 479–2,311] vs. 1,564 ng/L [IQR 659–5,057], p = 0.02 and at 4 days: 488 ng/L [IQR 232–1,061] vs. 745 ng/L [IQR 319–1,820], p = 0.03. The maximum value: 4,151 ng/L [IQR 2,056–8,621] vs. 6,349 ng/L [IQR 4,061–12,664], p < 0.01 and the median area under the curve (AUC): 6,146 ng/L/24 h [IQR 3,121–13,248] vs. 10,735 ng/L/24 h [IQR 4,859–21,484], p = 0.02 were lower in the DG group. CK values were not significantly different between groups: maximum value 690 [IQR 417–947] vs. 631 [464–979], p = 0.61 and AUC 1,986 [1,226–2,899] vs. 2,081 [1,311–3,063], p = 0.37.

Conclusion: Repeated graft flushing with DG resulted in lower Troponin values post-surgery suggesting enhanced myocardial protection compared to SB. Additional studies are warranted to further assess the myocardial protection properties of DG.

KEYWORDS

vein graft preservation, storage solutions, myocardium, protection, coronary artery

Introduction

Although graft storage solutions (GSS) are known to influence graft failure rates following coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG), their impact on myocardial protection in the context of ischemia reperfusion injury (IRI) during cardiopulmonary bypass remains unknown. Saphenous vein grafts (SVG) remain the most commonly used conduits in CABG procedures (1). However, SVGs are prone to vein graft disease and failure. While graft failure and the documented early pathohistological or functional changes in SVG are initiated by various means including underlying harvesting techniques (2), inadequate tissue protection during graft storage appears to be the main trigger (3). Although saline and autologous blood are frequently used as GSS, their use is inadequate to maintain graft patency compared to subsequent GSS (3-5). DuraGraft (DG; Marizyme, Jupiter FL, United States) is an endothelial damage inhibitor, formulated into a preventive solution to protect the integrity and function of the graft when used in this manner. Several in vitro studies have shown the protective potential of DG (6-9). Recent research demonstrated reduced graft intimal hyperplasia in SVGs treated with DG (10), and a large-scale retrospective analysis from the Boston West Roxbury Veterans Hospital suggested that treatment of SVGs is associated with significantly lower rates of repeat revascularization and major adverse cardiac events compared to saline (11). While DG has demonstrated its capacity for vascular graft preservation, its potential for myocardial protection in on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting (ONCAB) after intracoronary perfusion by graft flushing for distal anastomosis leak testing during cardiopulmonary bypass remains unclear. In this study, we examined the impact of DG on myocardial protection. This was evaluated by assessing the post-operative biomarker release profile following SVG storage in DG and its downstream intracoronary infusion (via the distal anastomosis) in patients undergoing ONCAB procedures and compared to 0.9% Saline/Biseko (SB; control).

Patients and methods

Study design

This study was a retrospective single-center analysis of cardiac biomarker release in patients undergoing ONCAB

whose SVGs were treated with DG or SB at the Vienna Heart Center, Floridsdorf Nord, Austria between July 2019 and March 2020. Both GSS were applied separately in different subsequent time intervals. Every patient underwent ONCAB with the treatment of at least one SVG with one of the indicated GSS. Follow-up was conducted by outpatient management and telephone follow-up to obtain information on post-operative myocardial infarction (MI), repeat revascularization, and death. Mortality data were obtained by request from the mortality registry of Statistic Austria, the Austrian statistical office. Ethics approval for the study protocol was received by the local ethics committee.

Surgical technique

In all ONCAB procedures, aortic cross-clamping was implemented. Cardioplegia was applied in standard antegrade and/or retrograde fashion using cold blood cardioplegia. SVGs were harvested by either the open or endoscopic technique. After harvesting and preparation, grafts were stored and flushed either in DG or SB until distal anastomosis was carried out. If arterial grafts were used, only the radial artery was stored in either GSS. After completion of the distal anastomosis in sequential, graftto-graft, or direct single anastomosis fashion, a careful repeated graft flushing with the respective GSS was performed for leak testing.

Laboratory evaluation of cardiac markers

Cardiac enzymes high-sensitive Troponin I (hs-TnI) and creatine kinase (CK) were measured pre-surgery, 1–3 , 3–6, and 12–24 h after CABG, and once daily up to 7 days post-CABG. Measurement of both cardiac markers was conducted each by the Abbott Alinity assay. Hs-TnI-related detection limits are 1 ng/L, with sex-specific normal upper reference limit of 34.2 ng/L for men and 15.6 ng/L for women. CK-related detection limits are 7 U/L, with sex-specific normal upper reference limit of 200 U/L for men and 168 U/L for women.

Graft storage solutions

DuraGraft (Marizyme, Jupiter FL, United States) is a GSS which preserves endothelial function and structure during CABG procedures. DG contains L-glutathione, L-ascorbic acid, L-arginine, glucose, and balanced salts for minimizing ischemic and metabolic damage to the conduits during graft preservation,

Abbreviations: AUC, area under the curve; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; CK, creatine kinase; DG, duragraft; GSS, graft storage solution; Hs-Tnl, high-sensitive Troponin I; IRI, ischemia reperfusion Injury; IQR, interquartile range; MI, myocardial infarction; ONCAB, On-pump coronary artery bypass grafting; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; PSM, propensity score matching; SB, saline/biseko; SVG, saphenous vein grafts.



TABLE 1 Patient baseline characteristics.

	Unmatched			Matched		
n (%)	DuraGraft <i>n</i> = 100	Saline/Biseko <i>n</i> = 172	<i>p</i> -value	DuraGraft <i>n</i> = 83	Saline/Biseko <i>n</i> = 83	<i>p</i> -value
Male	89 (89.0)	136 (79.1)	0.04	73 (88.0)	71 (85.5)	0.65
Age (years), median (IQR)	72 (62 - 75)	70 (61 - 76)	0.77	71 (62 - 75)	69 (62 - 75)	0.81
BMI, median (IQR)	27.7 (24.9 - 30.4)	27.2 (24.8 - 30.3)	0.52	28.4 (25.2 - 30.8)	26.9 (24.9 - 30)	0.22
EuroSCORE II, median (IQR)	1.7 (1.1 - 3.3)	1.7 (1.1 - 3.1)	0.59	1.6 (0.9 - 3.1)	1.6 (0.9 - 3.1)	0.81
Hypertension	87 (87.0)	147 (85.5)	0.73	72 (86.7)	74 (89.2)	0.63
Hyperlipidemia	78 (78.0)	135 (78.5)	0.93	65 (78.3)	63 (75.9)	0.71
Diabetes mellitus			0.89			0.82
IDDM	7 (7.0)	13 (7.6)		6 (7.2)	8 (9.6)	
NIDDM	37 (37.0)	68 (39.5)		30 (36.1)	31 (37.3)	
None	56 (56.0)	91 (52.9)		47 (56.6)	44 (53)	
Chronic heart failure	24 (26.1)	32 (19.8)	0.24	18 (22.2)	14 (17.9)	0.50
GFR (ml/min), median (IQR)	76.5 (57 - 88)	73 (59 - 86)	0.66	78 (59 - 90)	74 (64 - 88)	0.92
Stroke	4 (4.0)	17 (9.9)	0.80	3 (3.6)	4 (4.8)	1.00
COPD	23 (27.4)	49 (35.8)	0.20	18 (26.1)	20 (29)	0.70
Smoker			0.001			0.03
Active	19 (20.4)	54 (32.0)		14 (17.9)	24 (30.0)	
Former	31 (33.3)	23 (13.6)		27 (34.6)	14 (17.5)	
None	43 (46.2)	92 (54.4)		37 (47.4)	42 (52.5)	
Atrial fibrillation	15 (15.0)	28 (16.3)	0.78	13 (15.7)	11 (13.3)	0.66
Prior MI > 30 days	18 (18.2)	28 (16.3)	0.69	14 (16.9)	17 (20.5)	0.55
Prior MI \leq 30 days	21 (21.0)	36 (21.1)	0.99	19 (22.9)	14 (16.9)	0.44
Prior PCI > 30 days	15 (15.0)	29 (16.9)	0.69	14 (16.9)	15 (18.1)	0.84
Prior PCI \leq 30 days	5 (5.0)	16 (9.3)	0.20	5 (6.0)	6 (7.2)	0.76

BMI, body mass index; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; EuroSCORE II, updated European system for cardiac operative risk evaluation; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; IDDM, insulin dependent diabetes mellitus; Prior MI \leq 30 days, preoperative myocardial infarction within/beyond 30 days prior surgery; Prior PCI \leq 30 days/ > 30 days, preoperative percutaneous coronary intervention within/beyond 30 days prior surgery.

graft handling, and IRI. Moreover, the pH is buffered in the physiologic range. Biseko (Biotest Pharma GmbH, Dreieich, Germany), which is known to be used off-label for graft storage, is an ionized plasma derivate containing human serum protein, albumin, and human immunoglobulin. Saline 0.9% was added due to the lower volume of Biseko. Additionally, heparin was added to both DG and SB during their preparation for surgical application.

TABLE 2 Procedural characteristics and concomitant procedures.

Statistical analysis

Categorical variables, shown as numbers and percentage, were compared by Chi-Square test or Fisher-Exact test for small sample size correction. Continuous variables, expressed as median and interquartile range (IQR), were compared by Mann–Whitney–U-test. Propensity score matching (PSM) was performed to minimize potentially responsible bias for the

	Unmatched			Matched		
n (%)	DuraGraft n = 100	Saline/Biseko n = 172	<i>p</i> -value	DuraGraft n = 83	Saline/Biseko n = 83	<i>p</i> -value
Acute procedure	29 (29.0)	59 (34.3)	0.37	25 (30.1)	30 (36.1)	0.41
Left main stenosis	31 (31.0)	77 (44.8)	0.03	30 (36.1)	38 (45.8)	0.21
Number of vessels diseased, median (IQR)	3 (3 – 3)	3 (2 – 3)	0.18	3 (2 – 3)	3 (2 - 3)	0.44
Number distal anastomoses, median (IQR)	3 (3 – 3)	3 (2 – 3)	0.02	3 (3 – 3)	3 (2 - 3)	0.36
Number of central anastomoses, median (IQR)	1(1-2)	1(1-2)	0.91	1(1-2)	1(1-2)	0.95
Number of CABG, median (IQR)	3 (2 – 3)	3 (2 – 3)	0.54	3 (2 – 3)	3 (2 - 3)	0.72
Number of free CABG, median (IQR)	2 (1 – 2)	2(1-2)	0.69	2(1-2)	2(1-2)	0.83
Number of venous CABG, median (IQR)	1(1-2)	1(1-2)	0.77	1(1-2)	1(1-2)	0.41
LIMA			0.34			0.43
In situ	93 (93.0)	151 (87.8)		77 (92.8)	73 (88)	
Free graft	0 (0.0)	2 (1.2)		0 (0.0)	1 (1.2)	
None	7 (7.0)	19 (11.0)		6 (7.2)	9 (10.8)	
RIMA			0.60			0.41
In situ	8 (8.0)	9 (5.2)		8 (9.6)	4 (4.8)	
Free graft	9 (9.0)	19 (11.0)		9 (10.8)	12 (14.5)	
None	83 (30.5)	144 (83.7)		66 (79.5)	67 (80.7)	
BIMA	17 (17.0)	28 (16.3)	0.88	17 (20.5)	16 (19.3)	0.85
Radial artery	1 (1.0)	7 (4.1)	0.27	1 (1.2)	4 (4.8)	0.37
Vein harvest			0.94			0.67
Endoscopic	41 (54.7)	62 (54.9)		35 (56.5)	27 (50.9)	
Surgical	20 (26.7)	28 (24.8)		16 (25.8)	13 (24.5)	
Both	14 (18.7)	23 (20.4)		11 (17.7)	13 (24.5)	
Concomitant surgeries						
Additional cardiac procedure	39 (39)	51 (29.8)	0.12	28 (33.7)	19 (22.9)	0.12
Valvular procedure	32 (32)	42 (24.4)	0.18	22 (26.5)	16 (19.4)	0.36
Aortic valve replacement	14 (16.3)	31 (18)	0.17	19 (22.9)	12 (14.5)	0.16
Mitral valve replacement	4 (4.0)	3 (1.7)	0.27	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Mitral valve repair	3 (3.0)	12 (7)	0.17	3 (3.6)	5 (6)	0.72
Tricuspid valve replacement	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)		0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Tricuspid valve repair	1 (1.0)	2 (12)	1.00	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
MAZE	8 (8.0)	7 (4.1)	0.17	6 (7.2)	1 (1.2)	0.12
LAA	8 (8.0)	8 (4.7)	0.26	6 (7.2)	3 (3.6)	0.50
Procedural characteristics						
Aortic cross clamp time (minutes), median (IQR)	79 (63 - 103)	71 (57.3 - 91)	0.01	74 (62 - 93)	70 (57 - 89)	0.07
Extracorporeal circulatory time (minutes), median (IQR)	123 (102 - 143)	112.5 (97.3 – 139	9) 0.09	119 (101 - 140)) 110 (93 – 135	6) 0.14

BIMA, bilateral internal mammary artery; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; IQR, interquartile range, LAA, left atrial appendage occlusion; LIMA, left internal mammary artery; RIMA, right internal mammary artery.

61

evaluation of biomarker values and cardiac adverse events between both study groups. Matching was conducted by a multivariate logistic model, which consisted of 1-to-1 patient pair formation, nearest-neighbor matching, and no casereplacement. The corresponding caliper of 0.15 was chosen. The model incorporated the following variables: additional cardiac procedure, age, acute surgery, aortic clamp time, extracorporeal circulation time, glomerular filtration rate, left main stenosis, number of diseased vessels, number of CABG, number of distal anastomoses, number of venous CABG, number of free CABG, prior percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) \leq 30 days, prior PCI > 30 days, prior MI \leq 30 days, and prior MI > 30 days.



Forest plot presenting diagnostic odds ratios and effect size of baseline (A) and procedural variables (B) after propensity score matching; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; SMD, standardized mean differences, OR, odds ratio, 95% CI, 95% confidence interval.

62

Covariate balancing was evaluated according to calculating standardized mean differences with a value of \leq 0.2 considered as sufficient equilibrium of these covariates between the groups (**Figure 1**). Differences in prevalence of baseline and procedural variables between both groups of patients were evaluated by diagnostic odds ratios according to logistic regression and effect size estimation according to standardized mean differences. The area under the curve (AUC) was calculated from the plasma biomarker concentrations vs. the time after surgery. Data analysis was conducted by SPSS statistical software version 25 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, United States). *P*-values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

Pre- and peri-procedural data

The SVGs of 100 patients were treated with DG and 172 patients with SB. After PSM, 83 patients within each group were selected. The corresponding Love plot (Figure 1) provides visualization of covariate balancing of all included baseline (Table 1) and procedural variables (Table 2) in the propensity model. The included covariates were equally distributed between both groups according to standardized mean differences, which did not exceed rounded maximum values of 0.2. Therefore, the conducted PSM might be considered valid. Moreover, diagnostic odds ratios with associated 95% confidence intervals and effect size according to given standardized mean differences of all baseline and procedural variables of the propensity-matched patient population are presented in a given Forest plot (Figure 2). After PSM, only documented smokers (DG: 17.9 vs. SB: 30.0%; p = 0.03) and those on whom the concomitant MAZE procedure (DG: 7.2 vs. SB: 1.2%; p = 0.12) were conducted were distributed unequally between both groups according to an increased effect size for the given variables, with values of standardized mean differences of 0.265; OR: 1.38; 95% CI: 0.94-2.01, and 0.301; OR: 6.39; 95% CI: 0.75-54.29, respectively. Although both variables revealed a higher prevalence within the DG group, both groups appeared overall homogenized after PSM as the remaining baseline and procedural characteristics were equally distributed within the patient population (Figure 2).

Evaluation of cardiac biomarkers

Data on post-procedural laboratory values (Tables 3, 4) revealed a typical post-operative monophasic course for both hs-TnI and CK (Figure 3). Hs-TnI values were comparable pre-surgery (DG: 11 [5–28] vs. SB: 8 [3–28], p = 0.22). Post-surgery, hs-TnI values were significantly lower from 3 to

TABLE 3	Median values and interquartile ranges of high-sensitive
Troponin	I in nanograms/liter post-CABG after propensity matching.

Troponin, median (IQR), <i>n</i>	DuraGraft n = 83	Saline/Biseko n = 83	<i>p</i> -value
Pre-surgery	11 (5-28), 73	8 (3-28), 80	0.22
1-3 h	2147 (1155-3855), 80	2790 (1425-4033), 78	0.25
3-6 h	4034 (1853-8654), 63	5532 (3633-8862), 62	0.05
12-24 h	2420 (1408-5782), 83	4166 (2052-8624), 83	< 0.01
2 days	1095 (479-2311), 83	1564 (659-5057), 83	0.02
3 days	709 (321-1696), 75	950 (332-2105), 79	0.08
4 days	488 (232-1061), 66	745 (319-1820), 69	0.03
5 days	354 (123-941), 56	696 (176-1318), 46	0.17
6 days	301 (149-915), 53	561 (241-1061), 58	0.18
7 days	186 (83-588), 58	249 (70-697), 44	0.81
Max value	4151 (2056-8621), 83	6349 (4061-12664), 83	< 0.01
AUC	6146 (3121-13248), 83	10735 (4859-21484), 83	0.02

AUC, area under the curve; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; IQR, interquartile range.

TABLE 4 Median values and interquartile ranges of creatine kinase in units/liter post-CABG after propensity matching.

Creatine kinase, median (IQR), <i>n</i>	DuraGraft $n = 83$	Saline/Biseko n = 83	<i>p</i> -value
Pre-surgery	93 (71–150), 75	89 (64–120), 82	0.32
1–3 h	388 (286–563), 83	347 (267–483), 81	0.05
3-6 h	476 (303–730), 63	478 (373–639), 60	0.75
12–24 h	578 (339–815), 82	571 (400–863), 83	0.56
2 days	412 (249–654), 83	483 (308–684), 83	0.14
3 days	239 (153–396), 76	290 (160–460), 79	0.16
4 days	161 (99–276), 67	208 (136–324), 70	0.07
5 days	140 (95–280), 59	161 (95–271), 48	0.62
6 days	85 (55–169), 52	108 (74–160), 58	0.09
7 days	89 (56–158), 56	93 (66–123), 43	0.75
Max value	690 (417–947), 83	631 (464–979), 83	0.61
AUC	1986 (1226–2899), 83	2081 (1311–3063), 83	0.37

AUC, area under the curve; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; IQR, interquartile range.

6 h until the measurement at 4 days in the DG group: 3– 6 h: 4,034 ng/L [IQR 1853–8654] vs. 5,532 ng/L [IQR 3633– 8862], p = 0.05; 12–24 h: 2,420 ng/L [IQR 1408–5782] vs. 4166 [IQR 2052–8624], p < 0.01; 2 days: 1,095 ng/L [IQR 479–2311] vs. 1,564 ng/L [IQR 659–5057], p = 0.02, and at 4 days: 488 ng/L [IQR 232–1061] vs. 745 ng/L [IQR 319– 1820], p = 0.03. Noteworthy, hs-TnI values only reached borderline significance at 3 days: 709 ng/L [IQR 321–1696] vs. 950 ng/L [IQR 332–2105], p = 0.08. The maximum value and the median AUC were also significantly lower after graft treatment with DG (maximum value: 4,151 ng/L [IQR 2056– 8621] vs. 6,349 ng/L [IQR 4061–12664], p < 0.01 and AUC: 6,146 ng/L/24 h [IQR 3121–13248] vs. 10,735 ng/L/24 h [IQR



4859–21484], p = 0.02). CK values in the DG group appeared to be slightly higher at 1–3 h (388 U/L [IQR 286–563) vs. 347 U/L [IQR 267–483], p = 0.05, while lower values in DG patients at 4 days (161 U/L, [IQR 99–276] vs. 208 U/L (136–324), p = 0.07) and at 6 days (85 U/L [IQR 55–169] vs. 108 U/L [IQR 74–160], p = 0.09) did not reach complete statistical significance.

Adverse events

After PSM, the median hospital stay in days (DG: 16.5 [IQR 12–22] vs. SB: 15 [IQR 12–22]; p = 0.62), all-cause mortality (DG: 6.0 vs. SB: 2.4%, p = 0.44), and cardiac-related mortality (DG: 2.4 vs. SB: 0.0%, p = 0.70) did not differ between both groups over the median follow-up of 4 (IQR 0–22) months (Table 5). Noteworthy, all mortality

events occurred within 1-year of follow-up. Progression of heart failure was the cause of death in the four patients with cardiac death.

Comment

This study shows that the use of DG for leak testing during distal anastomosis and its subsequent application to the downstream myocardium appears to be associated with improved myocardial protection in patients undergoing ONCAB, identified by significantly lower hs-TnI levels including the maximum value and AUC during the early post-operative phase after CABG when compared to SB. In contrast, values of CK were comparable between both groups within the observation period, which may be due to CK being a

DuraGraft	<i>p</i> -value	
<i>n</i> = 83	<i>n</i> = 83	
5 (6.0)	2 (2.4)	0.44
3 (3.6)	2 (2.4)	1.00
2 (2.4)	0 (0.0)	0.70
1 (1.2)	3 (3.6)	0.62
1 (1.2)	6 (7.2)	0.18
3 (3.6)	2 (2.4)	1.00
23 (27.7)	16 (19.3)	0.27
1 (1.2)	1 (1.2)	1.00
1 (1.2)	2 (2.4)	1.00
7 (8.4)	7 (8.4)	1.00
16.5 (12–22)	15 (12–22)	0.624
	DuraGraft n = 83 5 (6.0) 3 (3.6) 2 (2.4) 1 (1.2) 1 (1.2) 3 (3.6) 23 (27.7) 1 (1.2) 1 (1.2) 1 (1.2) 7 (8.4) 16.5 (12-22)	DuraGraft Saline/Biseko $n = 83$ $n = 83$ 5 (6.0) 2 (2.4) 3 (3.6) 2 (2.4) 2 (2.4) 0 (0.0) 1 (1.2) 3 (3.6) 1 (1.2) 6 (7.2) 3 (3.6) 2 (2.4) 23 (27.7) 16 (19.3) 1 (1.2) 1 (1.2) 1 (1.2) 2 (2.4) 7 (8.4) 7 (8.4) 16.5 (12-22) 15 (12-22)

TABLE 5 Cardiac adverse events after matching over the median follow-up of 4 (IQR 0–22) months.

AV-Block, atrioventricular block; Cardiac related Death, composite endpoint of events of progressing or acute onset of heart failure; MI, myocardial infarction; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

non-specific cardiac enzyme, while Troponin I is highly specific for myocardial injury (12).

Several factors influence cardiac marker increase, such as the complexity of the CABG procedure (13, 14) and renal impairment (15). From a clinical perspective, the observed overall lower early post-operative Troponin levels in the DG group might be a predictor of better overall patient outcomes when considering that increased Troponin values have been described to predispose to increased early and long-term mortality and cardiac-related complication rates (13, 14, 16).

In our study, peak values for hs-TnI were reached within temporal proximity of 3-6 h in both groups post-surgery, and the most significant difference in absolute hs-TnI values was seen at 12-24 h after surgery. Afterward, in both groups, values decreased in a logistic linear fashion. Overall, enzyme increase during ONCAB indicates ischemic myocardial damage (17). Sufficient administration of cardioplegia for adequate myocardial protection during on-pump cardiac surgery is crucial. Insufficient protection of the heart during on-pump runs leads to increased local metabolic stress which can be particularly problematic for the right ventricle and in the context of inefficient retrograde application of cardioplegia (18). Since DG has been designed to prevent IRI in vascular conduits, one may hypothesize that additional specific administration of DG into the downstream myocardium via systematic flushing of the distal anastomosis during leak testing may protect the downstream myocardium from IRI as well and enhance myocardial protection, which was reflected by significantly lower post-operative troponin values in our study.

DuraGraft, as well as its precursor GALA solution, on which the basis of DG was developed, has demonstrated superiority in preserving tissue functionality over saline and other GSS in human venous and free arterial conduits by reducing oxidative stress (6, 8, 9) and through the actions of L-arginine (a key component of DG) to sustain NO concentration, thereby maintaining endothelial function and preventing hyperplasia (19). In direct comparison, saline fails to prevent oxidative damage and downstream IRI (6), while its acidic pH (5.5) might induce solution damage as well (3).

On the other hand, Biseko enables superior preservation of graft patency by decreased risk of vasospasm (20) and endothelial pressure damage due to graft flushing (21) when compared to saline; however, Biseko does not protect against ischemic injury. One may speculate that in line with its established protective impact on the endothelium of vascular conduits (6, 8, 9), DG might also have similar beneficial effects on the endothelial integrity and function of the coronary vasculature in the treated territory, which could ultimately explain myocardial protection. This might be particularly driven by L-, which is one of the main components in DG, and which is known (i) to enhance coronary blood flow by enhanced vasodilation following intracoronary application (22) and simultaneously (ii) to reduce IRI (23).

However, if and to what extent the observed positive effects on myocardial protection and its underlying mechanisms are directly comparable to the previously described protective impact of DG on vascular conduits needs further in-depth investigation. Nevertheless, if proven valid, this concept could have great clinical relevance in future on-pump revascularization strategies, especially when considering the frequently seen challenges with inadequate myocardial protection and associated poor recovery of the right ventricle after CABG procedures.

Limitations

This was a retrospective, non-randomized study, hence all established limitations do apply. No additional cardiac imaging for evaluation of myocardial protection and graft patency was conducted. Intraoperative intracoronary flow measurement could not be evaluated retrospectively. Measurement of the myocardial fraction of CK and CK-MB was not done in this study, but may have yielded statistically significant differences, and thus, may be considered for future studies. Finally, this study was not powered for clinical outcome events.

Conclusion

In this study, the administration of DG into the downstream myocardium during graft flushing for leak testing of the distal anastomosis was associated with improved perioperative myocardial protection as measured by significantly lower troponin levels when compared to SB in patients undergoing ONCAB.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethic committee of the city of Vienna. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

PS: conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, project administration, supervision, validation, visualization, writing – original draft, and writing – review and editing. ME and BW: conceptualization, investigation, methodology, project administration, supervision, validation, and writing – review and editing. PH, ZA, IC, MM, TA, and MG: conceptualization and writing – review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Caliskan E, de Souza DR, Böning A, Liakopoulos OJ, Choi YH, Pepper J, et al. Saphenous vein grafts in contemporary coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2020) 17:155–69.

2. Johansson BL, Souza DS, Bodin L, Filbey D, Loesch A, Geijer H, et al. Slower progression of atherosclerosis in vein grafts harvested with 'no touch' technique compared with conventional harvesting technique in coronary artery bypass grafting: an angiographic and intravascular ultrasound study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2010) 38:414–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2010.02. 007

3. Harskamp RE, Alexander JH, Schulte PJ, Brophy CM, Mack MJ, Peterson ED, et al. Vein graft preservation solutions, patency, and outcomes after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: follow-up from the PREVENT IV randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Surg.* (2014) 149:798–805. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2014.87

4. Wilbring M, Tugtekin SM, Zatschler B, Ebner A, Reichenspurner H, Matschke K, et al. Even short-time storage in physiological saline solution impairs endothelial vascular function of saphenous vein grafts. *Eur J Cardio Thoracic Surg.* (2011) 40:811–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2011.01.024

5. Wilbring M, Tugtekin SM, Zatschler B, Ebner A, Reichenspurner H, Kappert U, et al. Preservation of endothelial vascular function of saphenous vein grafts after long-time storage with a recently developed potassium-chloride and N-acetylhistidine enriched storage solution. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2013) 61:656–62. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1311549

6. Pachuk CJ, Rushton-Smith SK, Emmert MY. Intraoperative storage of saphenous vein grafts in coronary artery bypass grafting. *Expert Rev Med Devices*. (2019) 16:989–97.

Funding

This study was supported by the Department of Cardiac Surgery Floridsdorf and a grant of the Karl Landsteiner Institute Vienna awarded to the PI and corresponding author BW.

Conflict of interest

Author ME was the PI of the European DuraGraft registry and the chair of the registry scientific advisory committee and is a consultant to Somahlution.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

7. Thatte HS, Biswas KS, Najjar SF, Birjiniuk V, Crittenden MD, Michel T, et al. Multi-photon microscopic evaluation of saphenous vein endothelium and its preservation with a new solution, GALA. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2003) 75:1145–52. doi: 10.1016/s0003-4975(02)04705-7

8. Aschacher T, Baranyi U, Aschacher O, Eichmair E, Messner B, Zimpfer D, et al. A novel endothelial damage inhibitor reduces oxidative stress and improves cellular integrity in radial artery grafts for coronary artery bypass. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2021) 8:736503. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.736503

9. Tekin I, Demir M, Özdem S. Effect of different storage solutions on oxidative stress in human saphenous vein grafts. *J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2022) 17:7. doi: 10. 1186/s13019-022-01752-7

10. Perrault LP, Carrier M, Voisine P, Olsen PS, Noiseux N, Jeanmart H, et al. Sequential multidetector computed tomography assessments after venous graft treatment solution in coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2019). [Online ahead of print]. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2019.10.115

11. Haime M, McLean RR, Kurgansky KE, Emmert MY, Kosik N, Nelson C, et al. Relationship between intra-operative vein graft treatment with DuraGraft[®] or saline and clinical outcomes after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* (2018) 16:963–70.

12. de Castro Martínez J, Vázquez Rizaldos S, Velayos Amo C, Herranz Valera J, Almería Varela C, Iloro Mora MI. [Cardiac troponin I in perioperative myocardial infarction after coronary artery bypass surgery]. *Rev Esp Cardiol.* (2002) 55:245–50.

13. Croal BL, Hillis GS, Gibson PH, Fazal MT, El-Shafei H, Gibson G, et al. Relationship between postoperative cardiac troponin

I levels and outcome of cardiac surgery. *Circulation.* (2006) 114: 1468-75.

14. Nesher N, Alghamdi AA, Singh SK, Sever JY, Christakis GT, Goldman BS, et al. Troponin after cardiac surgery: a predictor or a phenomenon? *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2008) 85:1348–54.

15. Nam K, Shin KW, Kim TK, Kim KH, Kim KB, Jeon Y, et al. Prognostic value of high-sensitivity troponin I after cardiac surgery according to preoperative renal function. *Medicine*. (2020) 99:e20040. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000020040

16. Devereaux PJ, Lamy A, Chan MTV, Allard RV, Lomivorotov VV, Landoni G, et al. High-sensitivity troponin I after cardiac surgery and 30-day mortality. *N Engl J Med.* (2022) 386:827–36.

17. Chowdhury UK, Malik V, Yadav R, Seth S, Ramakrishnan L, Kalaivani M, et al. Myocardial injury in coronary artery bypass grafting: on-pump versus off-pump comparison by measuring high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, cardiac troponin I, heart-type fatty acid-binding protein, creatine kinase-MB, and myoglobin release. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2008) 135:1110–9. doi: 10.1016/j. jtcvs.2007.12.029

18. Kaukoranta PK, Lepojärvi MV, Kiviluoma KT, Ylitalo KV, Peuhkurinen KJ. Myocardial protection during antegrade versus retrograde cardioplegia. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (1998) 66:755–61.

19. Kown MH, Yamaguchi A, Jahncke CL, Miniati D, Murata S, Grunenfelder J, et al. L-arginine polymers inhibit the development of vein graft neointimal hyperplasia. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2001) 121: 971–80.

20. Szolnoky J, Ambrus N, Szabó-Biczók A, Bogáts G, Papp JG, Varró A, et al. Biseko colloidal solution diminishes the vasoreactivity of human isolated radial arteries. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2009) 36:143–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2009.03. 044

21. Weiss DR, Juchem G, Eblenkamp M, Kemkes BM, Gansera B, Geier M, et al. Search for optimized conditions for sealing and storage of bypass vessels: influence of preservation solution and filling pressure on the degree of endothelialization. *Int J Clin Exp Med.* (2010) 3: 10–27.

22. Hiramatsu T, Forbess JM, Miura T, Mayer JE Jr. Effect of L-arginine cardioplegia on recovery of neonatal lamb hearts after 2 hours of cold ischemia. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (1995) 60:1187–92. doi: 10.1016/0003-4975(95)00 698-K

23. Takeuchi K, McGowan FX, Danh HC, Glynn P, Simplaceanu E, del Nido PJ. Direct detrimental effects of L-arginine upon ischemia-reperfusion injury to myocardium. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* (1995) 27:1405–14. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.1995. 0133

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Robert Jeenchen Chen, Stanford University, United States

REVIEWED BY Markus Mach, Medical University of Vienna, Austria Masoud Mozafari, University of Toronto, Canada

*CORRESPONDENCE Bernhard Winkler bernhard.winkler@wienkav.at

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 22 February 2022 ACCEPTED 22 August 2022 PUBLISHED 26 September 2022

CITATION

Fusco D, Meissner F, Podesser BK, Marsano A, Grapow M, Eckstein F and Winkler B (2022) Small-diameter bacterial cellulose-based vascular grafts for coronary artery bypass grafting in a pig model. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:881557. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.881557

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Fusco, Meissner, Podesser, Marsano, Grapow, Eckstein and Winkler. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Small-diameter bacterial cellulose-based vascular grafts for coronary artery bypass grafting in a pig model

Deborah Fusco^{1,2}, Florian Meissner^{1,2}, Bruno K. Podesser³, Anna Marsano^{1,2}, Martin Grapow^{2,4}, Friedrich Eckstein^{1,2} and Bernhard Winkler^{2,3,5*}

¹Department of Biomedicine, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland, ²Department of Cardiac Surgery, University Hospital Basel, Basel, Switzerland, ³Center for Biomedical Research, Medical University Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ⁴Heart Center Hirslanden Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ⁵Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Vienna Heart Center KFL, Vienna, Austria

Surgical revascularization is the gold standard in most cases of complex coronary artery disease. For coronary artery bypass grafting, autologous grafts are state-of-the-art due to their long-term patency. A non-negligible amount of patients lack suitable bypass material as a result of concomitant diseases or previous interventions. As a promising alternative, tissue-engineered vascular grafts made of biomaterials such as bacterial cellulose (BC) are gaining more and more attention. However, the production of small-diameter grafts (inner diameter < 6 mm) of application-oriented length (> 5 cm) and their in vivo long-term patency remain challenging. In this study, grafts of 20 cm in length with an inner diameter of 3 mm were generated in a custommade bioreactor. To potentially improve graft compliance and, therefore in vivo patency, BC was combined with an embedded cobalt-chromium mesh. The grafts were designed for in vivo endothelialization and specific surgical properties and implanted as an aortocoronary bypass in a left anterior descending occluded pig model (n = 8). Coronary angiography showed complete patency postoperatively at 4 weeks. Following 4 weeks in vivo, the grafts were explanted revealing a three-layered wall structure. Grafts were colonized by smooth muscle cells and a luminal layer of endothelial cells with early formation of vasa privata indicating functional remodeling. These encouraging findings in a large animal model reveal the great potential of small-diameter BC grafts for coronary and peripheral bypass grafting.

KEYWORDS

coronary artery, vascular graft, cellulose, surgery, tissue engineering

Introduction

Coronary and peripheral vascular diseases are the leading cause of death worldwide (1). Every year more than 350,000 people die in the USA because of coronary artery disease (2). In the case of complex multivessel coronary artery disease, myocardial revascularization by coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) is the state-of-the-art therapeutic procedure. Commonly, CABG requires autologous bypass grafts such as the internal thoracic artery, the great saphenous vein, and the radial artery. Their availability is restricted due to multivascular diseases, poor graft quality, and previous surgeries. Furthermore, the long-term patency of vein grafts seems to be limited and inferior when compared with arterial grafts (3). Moreover, a second surgical site increases the risk of complications such as wound infection, postoperative pain, and bleeding. For large-diameter peripheral bypass grafting, vascular prostheses made of $Dacron^{$ [®]} or polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) are commercially available. When applied as smalldiameter vascular grafts (inner diameter < 5 mm), these materials showed an increased risk of thrombosis and intimal hyperplasia, resulting in a poor in vivo long-term patency (4). These findings restricted the use of these materials as well as the use of cryopreserved homografts as early as 1980. Various studies were undertaken with the result that these materials were left for the small diameter application and scientific interest was drawn toward engineering different forms of artificial grafts (5, 6). The patency rates varied but in conclusion showed a dramatic low rate at 12 months of up to 80% failure rate depending on the implantation site. For peripheral applications, the rates remained slightly higher at 40% patency after 1 year (5). Since the early days of cardiac surgery, tissue-engineered biomaterials grafts (TEVG) made of various biomaterials have been considered a promising alternative. As one prominent example, antithrombotic vascular grafts made of extracted human fibroblasts were implanted successfully in vivo from Cytograft Tissue Engineering Inc. (Novato, USA) (7). However, in clinical practice, no TEVG has been implemented for arterial bypass grafting. Another favorable biomaterial used for vascular grafts is bacterial cellulose (BC), which is excreted extracellularly by certain bacteria species, namely AcetoBacter Xylinum (ABX) (8). This biomaterial has been used for many biomedical applications like skin substitutes and is now explored for TEVGs (9). In addition to its biocompatibility and unique biomechanical properties, its nanofibrillar structure allows vascular remodeling by endothelial cells (ECs) and smooth muscle cells (SMCs). Preliminary results from studies applying BC grafts for peripheral bypass grafting in large animal models are promising, although they are limited by the restricted *in vivo* long-term patency (10, 11).

Since the limited *in vivo* patency of previous BC grafts might be related to a compliance mismatch between the graft and the native vessel, potential modifications of BC graft compliance have been discussed (12).

In the past, manufacturing small-diameter BC-vascular grafts (inner diameter < 6 mm) of application-oriented length (> 5 cm) has been challenging. Furthermore, these grafts have not been applied as coronary artery bypass grafts in a large animal ischemic heart model so far. Therefore, this study aimed to generate a small-diameter BC-vascular graft of more than 15 cm in length for CABG in a pig model as a proof of concept study.

Materials and methods

Generation of bacterial cellulose-vascular grafts

Cultivation of AcetoBacter xylinum

The bacterial strain used to produce BC was ABX subsp. sucrofermentas Toyosaki et al. (ATCC[©] 700178TM). Deepfrozen cultures were stored at -70° C. Hestrin–Schramm medium containing glucose 50% (2.0% w/v), yeast extract (0.5%), proteose peptone (0.5%), Na₂HPO₄ (0.27%), and citric acid (0.115%) was used for cultivation. The cultivation medium containing suspended ABX was incubated at 26°C for 18 days under static conditions at room oxygen.

Bioreactor-based culture of the reinforced bacterial cellulose-vascular grafts

Bacterial cellulose (BC)-vascular grafts are generated in a customized open rotating bioreactor (Supplementary Figure 1). The bioreactor contains four independent units. Each unit consists of a horizontally rotating steel shaft (outer diameter = 2 mm) covered by a silicone tube (outer/inner diameter = 3/2 mm). For BC fermentation, glucose-based medium containing glucose 50% (2.381% w/v), KH2PO4 (0.7%), MgSO₄ \times 7 H₂O (0.213%), H₃BO₃ (0.00043%), nicotinamide (0.00007%), FeSO₄ \times 7 H₂O (0.00095%), Na₂HPO₄ (0.134%), (NH₄)₂SO₄ (0.354%), and ethanol (0.473%) was used. The bioreactor was filled with bacterial suspension (fermentation media + bacteria) up to the level of the silicone-covered steel shafts. Each unit was controlled by a stepper motor with a rotational speed of 30 rpm. BC fermentation process lasts 5 days at 26-28°C. BC is produced at the air-liquid interface by Acetobacter Xylinus. Steel shaft rotation is necessary for wrapping the BC layers around the silicon tube over the fermentation time. After 2.5 days of culture, the steel shafts with the preliminary BC grafts were removed from the bioreactor. Knitted VEST[®] cobalt-chromium meshes from Vascular Graft Solutions (VGS, Tel-Aviv, Israel, outer-diameter 5 mm) were placed over the grafts and incubated at 26-28°C for 2.5 days more. After harvesting, the grafts were purified from bacteria in NaOH solution for 11 days. On day 8, each graft was heated up to 60° C for 4 h. For storage, the grafts were placed horizontally in sterile glass tubes at 2–8°C in standard sodium chloride solution after being autoclaved at 121°C in ddH₂O.

In vitro assessments

Micro-computed tomography

Micro-CT was applied to determine the mesh position along the graft. The cross-sectional center of both, the inner and outer layer of BC as well as the mesh was computed at different positions, and their deviation was calculated. For the X-ray tomography high-resolution analysis and three-dimensional rendering, phoenix nanotom[®] m from GE Sensing and Inspection Technologies (Hürth, Germany), respectively, VGStudio MAX 2.1[®] from Volume Graphics GmbH (Heidelberg, Germany) were used.

Scanning electron microscopy

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was applied to investigate the morphology of the inner and outer surfaces as well as the cross-sectional surface of the grafts. Samples were ultra-rapidly frozen in nitrogen slush and freeze-dried for 12.5 h. The dry samples were sputtered with 20 nm gold by an EM ACE 600 Sputter Coater[®] from Leica (Austria) and analyzed by the Nova NanoSem 230[®] from FEI (Netherlands).

Mechanical characterization of the vascular graft

A different batch from the vascular grafts implanted was used to assess the mechanical properties of the generated BC vessels.

For longitudinal tensile testing, tubular samples of 4 cm in length were set to a tensile testing machine from MTS Systems Corporation (Eden Prairie, MN, USA). Each sample was stretched longitudinally with a constant rate of 15 mm/s, and displacement and force at the breaking point were recorded. Due to the BC reinforcement with an embedded support device, the stress at break was assigned to the mechanically superior mesh. To determine the force at the break of mechanically inferior BC layers, a force decrease of more than 0.1 N within 0.1 s was defined as significant for all tensile testing.

For circular tensile testing, tubular samples of 0.5 cm in length were stretched circularly with a constant rate of 15 mm/s.

For suture retention testing, tubular samples of 2 cm in length were sutured by 14 stitches with a stitch-edge distance of approximately 1 mm, with double-armed 7-0 non-resorbable Prolene[®] from Ethicon (Bridgewater, MA, USA). The prepared samples were stretched longitudinally with a constant rate of 15 mm/s.

Surgical procedure

Approval and standards

The research protocol was coordinated and approved by the national ethics committee of Israel under the national registration number IL-16-11-369. All facilities and activities at Lahav C.R.O. (D.N. Negev, Israel) were accredited and monitored in accordance with GLP and ISO 9001 (2015) standards for quality and service. This study was conducted in accordance with the Israeli National Council of Animal Experimentation. This study adhered to the ARRIVE Guidelines and was designed and performed under consideration of the 3Rs (Replace, Reduce, and Refine) principles for animal experimentation.

Animals

Eight healthy female pigs with a weight of 78–91 kg were purchased by Lahav C.R.O. (D.N. Negev, Israel). Standard diet (soft food) expanded for pigs from AMBAR Feed mill (Granot M.P. Heffer 3881100, Israel) were provided. Housing started at least 10 days prior to intervention to adapt the animals to the experimental environment.

Surgery

The selected pigs were fasted for 24 h before anesthesia to prevent vomiting. For preparation, all animals were washed, shaved, and disinfected. Preoperative antibiotics were administered in the usual manner. All surgical procedures were performed under aseptic conditions in an operating suite dedicated to veterinary surgery and under general anesthesia: Prior to the surgeries, 2 mg/kg xylazine (Anased®, AKORN, USA) + 10 mg/kg ketamine (Clorkeam[®], Vetoquinol, France) were administered by intramuscular injection. Anesthesia was induced by inhalation of 3% isoflurane (Piramal Critical Care, USA) via a mask and intravenous administration of 5-10 mg diazepam per animal (Diazepam-Ratiopharm[®], Ratiopharm, Germany). During surgeries, anesthesia was maintained by the administration of 1-3% isoflurane. Animals were intubated and ventilated via a ventilator, breathing parameters were constantly monitored (ECG, pulse oximetry, rectal temperature, blood pressure, and CO₂). Antibiotic prophylaxis was administered using 0.1 ml/kg Pen&strep[®] (200 mg/ml penicillin + 250 mg/ml streptomycin, Norbrook, USA). A single shot of 200 mg amiodarone (Cordarone, Pfizer Inc., USA) was administered i.v. to all animals preoperatively. After intubation, the animals were placed in a supine position with their legs attached to the operating room table. After conventional sternotomy, pericardiotomy was performed. The left anterior descending (LAD) artery was identified and ligated after 30 min of preconditioning (3 times for 5 min closure and 3 times for 5 min of flow using an elastic band and a tourniquet system). Within the first days after surgery, the animals

Morphological properties

TABLE 1 Bacterial cellulose (BC)-vascular graft morphological and mechanical features (n = 3).

BC graft inner diameter	BC graft outer diameter	CoCr mesh diameter	BC graft length	BC graft wall thickness
3 mm	$9.45\pm0.43~\text{mm}$	5 mm	20 cm	$2.73\pm0.21~\text{mm}$
Mechanical properties				
Longitudinal tensile test		Circumferential tensile test		Suture retention test
$2.85\pm2.08~\mathrm{N}$		$0.98\pm0.42~\mathrm{N}$		$8.83\pm1.47~\mathrm{N}$

were monitored routinely and further analgesia was given as necessary.

Off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting model

Coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) was performed on the beating heart utilizing a stabilizer and an intracoronary shunt by two experienced cardiac surgeons. For routine anticoagulation during CABG, heparin was administered, aiming for an activated clotting time greater than 400 s, and later antagonized with protamine. The graft was implanted in the middle segment of the LAD distally to the occluded section. After completion of the anastomosis with the ascending aorta, intraoperative flow measurement (Medistim, Norway) was conducted to validate the patency of the graft. For antithrombotic prophylaxis, aspirin (100 mg/day) was administered daily during the postoperative period. Termination was performed 4 weeks post-implantation. Cardiac arrest was induced by injecting a 20% solution of pentobarbital (Pental Veterinary, CTS Chemical Industries, Israel).

In vivo assessments

The primary endpoint was graft patency after CABG and 4 weeks of follow-up determined by angiography and intraoperative flow measurement prior to model termination. The secondary endpoint was vascular remodeling defined by the presence of endothelial cells in the inner lumen.

Primary endpoint

Postoperative assessment and follow-up

Right after the CABG procedure, coronary angiography was performed. Four weeks after implantation, an angiographic assessment was repeated, and thereafter, the grafts were explanted *in toto* with attached cardiac and aortic segments. Angiography was used to assess the patency of the grafts, in particular, grafts were classified as fully open or partially narrowed, or fully closed according to the established scoring system by Fitz Gibbon et al. for grading distal, proximal anastomoses in the early stage after CABG (13).

Secondary endpoint

Histologic analysis

Samples from two grafts from both anastomotic sites and the middle section of the graft were prepared and embedded in paraffin, cross-sectioned, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE staining) for histologic assessment. For immunofluorescence staining, the following antibodies were used: rabbit anti-laminin (ab11575, dilution at 1:200) and goat anti-smooth muscle actin (SMA) (ab7817, dilution at 1:400) from Abcam (UK), goat anti-vascular endothelial (VE) cadherin (sc6458, dilution at 1:100) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, US), mouse anti-CD31 (MCA1746GA, dilution at 1:100) from AbD Serotec (Germany), mouse anti-CD68 (BA4D5, dilution at 1:50) from AbD Serotec (Germany). All secondary antibodies were diluted 1:200 (Life Technologies, USA). Cell nuclei were stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (0.125 mg/ml) (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany).

Results

In vitro characterization of the vascular graft

All grafts met the predefined criteria, particularly, having a length of 20 cm and an inner diameter of 3 mm, a wall thickness of 2.73 ± 0.21 mm, and an outer diameter of 9.45 ± 0.43 mm (Table 1). Micro-CT revealed a homogenous inner layer of BC and centralization of the mesh along with the graft (Figures 1A,B). BC was combined with a highly flexible and kink-resistant cobalt-chromium mesh embedded within the graft wall. The mesh was covered entirely from both sides by BC without an external connection (Figures 1C,D). Furthermore, SEM revealed an even luminal porous surface (Figures 1E,F).

Longitudinal and circumferential tensile testing resulted in a force at break of 2.85 ± 2.08 N and 0.98 ± 0.42 N, respectively. The suture retention testing resulted in a force at break of 8.83 ± 1.47 N.


FIGURE 1

Electron microscopy of a vascular graft. Micro-computed tomography (Micro-CT) scan. (A) Cross section, (B) longitudinal section of the reinforced bacterial cellulose (BC)-based vascular graft. White arrows indicate the Co-Cr mesh scanning electron microscopy (SEM). (C) In the cross-section, the structure of the graft comprising an inner BC layer defining the graft lumen (*), the embedded metallic mesh, and an outer BC layer is visible. (D) The enlargement (rectangular frame) shows the ends of the mesh wires (arrow). These protruding ends result from cutting and further processing of the vascular graft. (E,F) BC-vascular graft luminal surface. (F) At higher magnification, porosity of BC-vascular graft luminal surface.

In vivo coronary artery bypass grafting pig model

Intraoperatively, the surgical handling of the graft was reported comparable to arterial grafts in terms of elasticity and wall rigidity. The vessel was blood tight when anastomosed and did not show any effect of kinking or twisting. The artificial "adventitia" stayed adherent and did not show any signs of delamination. The BC-vascular graft handling has been evaluated by two experienced cardiac surgeons.

There were no complications arising from neither the BC nor the embedded CoCr mesh and no bleeding from the anastomotic site has been observed after the reversal of heparin. The graft presented visible pulsation without signs of rupture or dissection once it was de-clamped (Figure 2 and Supplementary Video 1).

Postoperative assessment and follow-up

The initial postoperative angiography conducted directly after finishing the CABG procedure revealed sufficient graft patency of the implanted BC graft in all eight animals. There were no signs of graft dissection or narrowing at the distal anastomotic site (**Figure 3A**). All animals recovered within 24 h, consuming solid food and water 24 h after surgery.

Coronary angiography 4 weeks after CABG confirmed sufficient graft patency without signs of graft dissection or burst in all animals (Figure 3B; Table 2). None of the animals showed a completely closed lumen of the graft, dissection, ruptures, or bleeding during the 4-week period when evaluated with angiography.

In vivo cellularization of the vascular grafts

Four weeks after implantation, the cobalt-chromium mesh appeared still centered and embedded into the BC layers. BC layers were still visible (**Figure 4**). However, it was possible to observe the presence of SMCs and ECs covering the BC-vascular graft luminal surface suggesting a possible remodeling of the graft in the long term (**Figure 5**). The remodeling of the graft and the endothelialization were more evident in the anastomotic sites compared to the center of the graft following 1 month upon implantation (**Figures 4**, **5**). Macrophages have been not detected (**Figures 5C,F**). Only in one case of endocarditis, inflammatory cells were found within the implant.

The presence of *vasa privata*, namely blood vessels belonging to a specific organ, nourishing, and perfusing it, was investigated. Functional *vasa privata* through the vascular wall were seen in the analyzed grafts (Figure 6). The *vasa privata*





Intraoperative situs during off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG). Bacterial cellulose (BC) graft as a coronary bypass (arrow in direction of flow) after distal anastomosis to the occluded left anterior descending (LAD) (*) using an elastic band with a tourniquet (•).

were composed of clear endothelial and smooth muscle cell layers and vascular basal membrane as shown by the presence of laminin.

Besides, there were no signs of thrombosis or luminal narrowing as seen in the case of neointimal hyperplasia.

Discussion

Due to rising life expectancy and the increasing prevalence of vascular diseases, there is a growing need but limited availability of autologous vascular grafts for surgical revascularization. In the context of peripheral and CABG, TEVGs made of biomaterials appear to be promising alternatives. However, complex manufacturing of particularly small-diameter grafts of sufficient length and their limited longterm in vivo patency appears to be challenging and represents the limiting factors for their clinical introduction. Consequently, the aim of this study was to generate a novel BC-vascular graft of sufficient length for CABG procedures, precisely greater than 15 cm featuring a small inner diameter of less than 6 mm. Through various improvements, the herein described grafts overcome various limitations of previously reported biological grafts: short and simple production, sufficient mechanical strength, and a satisfactory length of 20 cm for cardiovascular applications. The main aim of the graft design was to allow the in vivo endothelialization process to avoid any time-consuming pre-seeding or cell expansion step. Beyond manufacturing and in vitro characterization, this was the first attempt to implant



TABLE 2 Coronary angiography 4 weeks after coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) (scoring).

Patency-scoring	Graft 1	Graft 2	Graft 3	Graft 4	Graft 5	Graft 6	Graft 7	Graft 8
100% opened								
> 75% opened								
< 75% opened								
100% closed								

Grey boxes are indicating the patency scoring level of each graft.

a BC-vascular graft as a coronary artery bypass graft in a large animal ischemic heart model.

In the past, one of the first BC small-diameter vascular grafts was described in 2001. Although much smaller with a luminal diameter of only 1 mm and inferior to the herein described grafts regarding mechanical strength, the great potential of BC grafts for cardiovascular applications was demonstrated. The microvascular graft was implanted as carotid interponat in a small-animal model and remained patent for 4 weeks (14). Since then, the methods of graft production and biomechanical characteristics have been continuously improved.

Among various features of BC-vascular grafts, burst pressure is a key indicator of mechanical strength and clinical applicability. Bodin et al. have shown that BC-vascular graft burst pressure strength increased at an oxygen ratio of 100% compared to a ratio of 21, 35, or 50%. This is most likely because BC-producing bacteria are obligate aerobes and produce more BC with higher density under more favorable environmental conditions (15). Comparing the burst pressure of different vascular grafts, native BC grafts compete with autologous venous grafts but not with arterial grafts. The latter is characterized by a thicker wall, physiologically withstanding higher blood pressure in the arterial system (16, 17). For saphenous vein grafts, a burst pressure of about 1,600 mmHg has been reported. Internal mammary artery grafts withstand a pressure higher than 3,100 mmHg (16). After CABG procedures, venous grafts, physiologically designed to withstand low pressure within the venous system, have to withstand high pressure within the arterial system. Insufficient wall strength of venous grafts favors micro lesions leading secondarily to intimal hyperplasia. Reactive migration and proliferation of vascular SMCs result in an extracellular matrix of connective tissue, consecutively, leading to graft stenosis and occlusion (18). In general, intimal hyperplasia is considered a major cause of graft failure (19). Therefore, BC grafts have to fulfill specific requirements for compliance and mechanical strength. Since all the herein described grafts remained patent for over 4 weeks, sufficient compliance and mechanical strength are presumed.

As highlighted above, coronary angiography 4 weeks after CABG revealed complete patency. To the best of our knowledge, this was the first time that BC grafts were implanted as coronary bypass grafts in a large animal model. So far, BC grafts were tested prevalently as interponat in the common carotid artery



FIGURE 4

H&E staining of the explanted grafts 4 weeks after implantation. The explanted Bacterial cellulose (BC)-vascular graft reveals a three-layered wall structure indicating remodeling by host cells. Representative images of the vascular grafts at the central part (**a**,**b**) and at the anastomosis site (**c**,**d**) at high 20 \times (**b**,**d**) and low 4 \times (**a**,**c**) magnifications. *indicates the empty holes left from the embedded mesh, which were removed during the histological process.



Inner layer of the vascular grafts 4 weeks after implantation. Representative images of the vascular grafts at the central part (A–C) and at the anastomosis site (D–F) stained with H&E (A,D) and immunofluorescence antibodies specific for Ve-Cadherin (red), α -SMA (cyan), laminin (green) (B,E), and for CD31 (red) and CD68 (green) (C,F). Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue) (B,C,E,F). Scale bar = 100 μ m.

in various animal models. This is due to the favorable cervical accessibility and the possibility of implanting short grafts of a few centimeters and even millimeters. Wippermann et al. performed carotid replacement in a large animal model. For carotid interposition, grafts up to 10 mm in length with an inner diameter of 3.0–3.7 mm were applied in eight domestic pigs. After 3 months, a patency of 87.5% was reported. While one graft was found occluded due to collapsed vascular walls, the others showed no signs of thrombosis, dilatation, dehiscence,

or aneurysm formation (10). Malm et al. tested BC grafts with an increased length in a long-term animal study. Samples up to 40 mm length and an inner diameter of 4 mm were implanted bilaterally in the common carotid arteries of eight sheep. Five cases of acute thrombosis and severe anemia occurred in the early postoperative period. From the three-remaining sheep, all grafts remained patent after 3 months and five of six, respectively, 83.3% after 6 months. The sheep with unilateral occlusion had to be euthanized after 8 months revealing an



FIGURE 6

(anti-VE-cadherin in red, anti- α SMA in cyan, and anti-laminin in green). Nuclei were stained with DAPI. Scale bar = 100 μ m.

organized thrombosis and signs of intimal hyperplasia in the perianastomotic region. Thirteen months after implantation the grafts from the remaining two sheep were explanted revealing 75% patency (11). Although various experimental studies display the great potential of BC grafts for a broad field of cardiovascular application, there has been no clinical translation yet. This requires even better long-term results without thrombotic complications.

As mentioned before, the grafts were explanted after 4 weeks. According to our findings, the explanted grafts were well-integrated into the surrounding host tissue without signs of inflammation. All of them revealed a native-like three-layered wall structure showing a layer of ECs with the basal lamina, a concentric layer of SMCs, and an outer layer of fibroblasts. The presence of various cell types and the occurrence of vasa privata confirm the suitability of the BC fibril network as a scaffold for cellularization (20, 21). Since the histological findings indicate sufficient graft remodeling within 4 weeks, the pre-procedural step of cell harvesting, expansion, and seeding prior to implantation is unnecessary in this graft type. This represents an important feature in terms of clinical translation as these three steps are time-consuming, and time the patients do not have prior to a CABG procedure. Nevertheless, it seems very important to gain a better understanding of in vivo cellularization dynamics and conditions in order to create an optimal graft environment. By continuous optimization of BC grafts such as surface modification, *in vivo* endothelialization might be further sped up.

The study has one major limitation. Since the main aim was to implant the BC-vascular graft as a coronary bypass graft in a large animal model as proof of concept, *in vivo* testing was carried out only in eight domestic pigs without a control group as a proof-of-concept study. Larger and controlled animal studies are required to verify the results, especially in the medium-and long-term.

In conclusion, small-diameter BC-vascular grafts with an application-oriented length of more than 15 cm can be generated. Furthermore, these grafts reveal great potential when applied as a coronary bypass graft in an ischemic heart model in pigs. The grafts showed a three-layered structure composed of an inner endothelial layer with SMCs beneath and *vasa privata* formation. In the future, more animal studies are needed to determine the potential of BC-vascular grafts for cardiovascular applications beyond CABG. In case of continued successful *in vivo* testing, coronary and peripheral artery bypass grafting with BC grafts should be evaluated.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The research protocol was coordinated and approved by the National Ethics Committee of Israel under the national registration number IL-16-11-369. All facilities and activities at Lahav C.R.O. (D.N. Negev, Israel) were accredited and monitored in accordance with GLP and ISO 9001 (2015) standards for quality and service. This study was conducted in accordance with the Israeli National Council of Animal Experimentation. This study adhered to the ARRIVE Guidelines.

Author contributions

BW: concept or design of the work. MG and BW: acquisition of data. FM, DF, AM, BP, and BW: analysis and interpretation of data and drafting the manuscript. All authors revising the manuscript critically for important intellectual content and approved of the version of the manuscript to be published.

Funding

University Hospital Basel supported the work with grants directly awarded to BW. Vascular Graft Solutions (VGS,

Tel Aviv-Jaffa, Israel) supported material and research grants awarded to BW. The bacterial cellulose (BC) vascular graft was patented worldwide with the support of Artifex Medical GmbH (Vienna, Austria).

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge Dietlinde John for manufacturing the bacterial cellulose (BC) based vascular grafts. Furthermore, we thank Susanne Erpel and Evi Biehler from the Swiss Nanoscience Institute at the University of Basel for running the analysis by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and Dr. Georg Schulz from the Department of Biomedical Engineering at the University of Basel for the CT-scan analysis.

Conflict of interest

This study was supported by grants of the Department of Cardiac Surgery of the University Hospital Basel and the University of Basel awarded to the PI BW. Another grant from Jubilaeumsstiftung/Novartis was awarded to BW for a visiting fellowship for tissue engineering. Further, BW, MG, and FE were supported from Vascular Graft Solutions (VGS, Tel Aviv-Jaffa, Israel). No other potential conflict of interest relevant to this article was reported.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fcvm.2022.881557/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Customized bioreactor used for bacterial cellulose (BC)-vascular graft production. (A) Bioreactor scheme consists of a culture chamber filled with bacteria suspension, four rotating steel shafts covered by a silicon tube, and four stepper motors. (B) Picture of the bioreactor during the fermentation process.

1. Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, et al. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors, 1990-2019: update from the GBD 2019 study. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2020). 76:2982–3021.

2. Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2019 update: a report from the american heart association. *Circulation*. (2019) 139:e56–528.

3. Gaudino M, Benedetto U, Fremes S, Biondi-Zoccai G, Sedrakyan A, Puskas JD, et al. Radial-artery or saphenous-vein grafts in coronary-artery bypass surgery. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 378:2069–77. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1716026

4. Desai M, Seifalian AM, Hamilton G. Role of prosthetic conduits in coronary artery bypass grafting. *Eur J Cardio-Thorac Surg.* (2011) 40:394–8. doi: 10.1016/j. ejcts.2010.11.050

5. Madras PN, Johnson WR, Ward CA. Enhancement of thrombus formation by vascular prostheses. *Can J Surg.* (1980) 23:544–6.

6. Randall RD Jr, Walley BD, Meredith JH. Comparison of polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) and dacron as long, small-diameter arterial grafts in dogs. *Am Surg.* (1982) 48:622–7.

7. L'Heureux N, Dusserre N, Konig G, Victor B, Keire P, Wight TN, et al. Human tissue-engineered blood vessels for adult arterial revascularization. *Nat Med.* (2006) 12:361–5. doi: 10.1038/nm1364

8. Picheth GF, Pirich CL, Sierakowski MR, Woehl MA, Sakakibara CN, de Souza CF, et al. Bacterial cellulose in biomedical applications: a review. *Int J Biol Macromol.* (2017) 104:97–106. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.0 5.171

9. Sulaeva I, Henniges U, Rosenau T, Potthast A. Bacterial cellulose as a material for wound treatment: properties and modifications, a review. *Biotechnol Adv.* (2015) 33:1547-71. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015. 07.009

10. Wippermann J, Schumann D, Klemm D, Kosmehl H, Salehi-Gelani S, Wahlers T. Preliminary results of small arterial substitute performed with a new cylindrical biomaterial composed of bacterial cellulose. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* (2009) 37:592–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2009.01.007

11. Malm CJ, Risberg B, Bodin A, Bäckdahl H, Johansson BR, Gatenholm P, et al. Small calibre biosynthetic bacterial cellulose blood vessels: 13-months patency in a sheep model. Scand Cardiovasc J SCJ. (2012) 46:57-62. doi: 10.3109/14017431. 2011.623788

12. Zahedmanesh H, Mackle JN, Sellborn A, Drotz K, Bodin A, Gatenholm P, et al. Bacterial cellulose as a potential vascular graft: mechanical characterization and constitutive model development. *J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater*. (2011) 97:105–13. doi: 10.1002/jbm.b.31791

13. FitzGibbon GM, Burton JR, Leach AJ. Coronary bypass graft fate: angiographic grading of 1400 consecutive grafts early after operation and of 1132 after one year. *Circulation*. (1978) 57:1070–4. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.57.6.1070

14. Klemm D, Schumann D, Udhardt U, Marsch S. Bacterial synthesized cellulose — artificial blood vessels for microsurgery. *Prog Polym Sci.* (2001) 26:1561–603. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6700(01)00021-1

15. Bodin A, Bäckdahl H, Fink H, Gustafsson L, Risberg B, Gatenholm P. Influence of cultivation conditions on mechanical and morphological properties of bacterial cellulose tubes. *Biotechnol Bioeng.* (2007) 97:425–34. doi: 10.1002/bit. 21314

16. Konig G, McAllister TN, Dusserre N, Garrido SA, Iyican C, Marini A, et al. Mechanical properties of completely autologous human tissue engineered blood vessels compared to human saphenous vein and mammary artery. *Biomaterials.* (2009) 30:1542–50. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.11.011

17. Schaner PJ, Martin ND, Tulenko TN, Shapiro IM, Tarola NA, Leichter RF, et al. Decellularized vein as a potential scaffold for vascular tissue engineering. *J Vasc Surg.* (2004) 40:146–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2004.03.033

18. Davies MG, Hagen PO. Pathobiology of intimal hyperplasia. *Br J Surg.* (1994) 81:1254–69. doi: 10.1002/bjs.1800810904

19. Jeong Y, Yao Y, Yim EKF. Current understanding of intimal hyperplasia and effect of compliance in synthetic small diameter vascular grafts. *Biomater Sci.* (2020) 8:4383–95. doi: 10.1039/D0BM00226G

20. Carrabba M, Madeddu P. Current strategies for the manufacture of small size tissue engineering vascular grafts. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol.* (2018) 6:41. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2018.00041

21. Byrom MJ, Bannon PG, White GH, Ng MKC. Animal models for the assessment of novel vascular conduits. *J Vasc Surg.* (2010) 52:176–95. doi: 10.1016/ j.jvs.2009.10.080

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Francesco Formica, University of Parma, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Daniele Ronco, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands Jurij Matija Kalisnik, Paracelsus Medical Private University, Nuremberg, Germany Nikolaos Kalampokas, University Hospital of Düsseldorf, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Clément Delmas delmas.clement@chu-toulouse.fr

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to

Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 11 October 2022 ACCEPTED 14 November 2022 PUBLISHED 06 December 2022

CITATION

Treille de Grandsaigne H, Bouisset F, Porterie J, Biendel C, Marcheix B, Lairez O, Labaste F, Elbaz M, Galinier M and Delmas C (2022) Incidence, management, and prognosis of post-ischaemic ventricular septal defect: Insights from a 12-year tertiary centre experience. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:1066308. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1066308

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Treille de Grandsaigne, Bouisset, Porterie, Biendel, Marcheix, Lairez, Labaste, Elbaz, Galinier and Delmas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Incidence, management, and prognosis of post-ischaemic ventricular septal defect: Insights from a 12-year tertiary centre experience

Henri Treille de Grandsaigne^{1,2}, Frédéric Bouisset², Jean Porterie³, Caroline Biendel^{1,2}, Bertrand Marcheix³, Olivier Lairez², François Labaste⁴, Meyer Elbaz², Michel Galinier^{1,2} and Clément Delmas^{1,2*}

¹Intensive Cardiac Care Unit, Rangueil University Hospital, Toulouse, France, ²Cardiology Department, Rangueil University Hospital, Toulouse, France, ³Cardiovascular Surgery Department, Rangueil University Hospital, Toulouse, France, ⁴Department of Anesthesiology, Intensive Care Medicine and Perioperative Medicine, Rangueil University Hospital, Toulouse, France

Background: Among mechanical complications of acute myocardial infarction, ventricular septal defect (VSD) is uncommon but still serious. The evolution of emergency coronary revascularisation paradoxically decreased our knowledge of this disease, making it even rarer.

Aim: To describe ischaemic VSD incidence, management, and associated in-hospital and 1-year outcomes over a 12-years period.

Methods: A retrospective single-centre register of patients managed for ischaemic VSD between January 2009 and December 2020.

Results: Ninety-seven patients were included representing 8 patients/ years and an incidence of 0.44% of ACS managed. The majority of the patients were 73-years-old males (n = 54, 56%) with STEMI presentation (n = 75, 79%) and already presented with Q necrosis on ECG (n = 70, 74%). Forty-nine (51%) patients underwent PCI, 60 (62%) inotrope/vasopressors infusion, and 70 (72%) acute mechanical circulatory support (IABP 62%, ECMO 13%, and Impella[®] 3%). VSD surgical repair was performed for 44 patients (45%) and 1 patient was transplanted. In-hospital mortality was 71%, and 86% at 1 year, without significant improvement over the decade. Surgery appears to be a protective factor [0.51 (0.28–0.94) p = 0.003], whereas age [1.06 (1.03–1.09), p < 0.001] and lactate [1.16 (1.09–1.23), p < 0.001] were linked to higher 1-year mortality. None of the patients that were managed medically survived 1 year.

Conclusion: Post-ischaemic VSD is a rare but serious complication still associated with high mortality. Corrective surgery is associated with better survival, however, timing, patient selection, and a place for mechanical circulatory support need to be defined.

KEYWORDS

acute cardiac care, acute coronary syndrome, mortality, complication, epidemiology

Introduction

Ventricular septal defect (VSD) is an uncommon but serious mechanical complication of myocardial infarction (MI), most often associated with an acute ST-elevation MI (STEMI), related to the acute occlusion of a major epicardial vessel. If its prevalence was relatively high during the pre-thrombolytic era, 1 to 2% (1), technical improvements in coronary revascularisation and the development of pre-hospital networks have made it even rarer (0.2%) (2, 3). VSD is the least rare mechanical complication (0.21%) of MI, compared to mitral regurgitation due to papillary muscle ischaemic rupture (0.05%), and free wall rupture (0.01%) (3). In addition, whatever the mechanical complication, its occurrence is five times more likely in STEMI vs. non-STEMI (3). The admissible pathophysiological argument is that longer and deeper ischaemia would produce such necrosis that it has noteworthy anatomical repercussions (4).

Despite its rarity, ischaemic VSD is still associated with high mortality if medically managed (above 90% mortality at 30 days) and its management remains challenging (1, 5). The only curative therapy is then surgical septum repair, mostly by VSD patch closure using the double ventriculostomy technique, which remains a high-risk procedure mainly due to recent infarction, depressed ventricular function, and often precarious hemodynamics. VSD repair is still associated with high postoperative mortality (33% to 61 %) (1, 5-7). Moreover, surgery timing is also pivotal (8), as suggested by the higher mortality observed among the patients undergoing surgery before day 7 (54% vs. 17%) (9), even if these observations are probably subject to selection bias. Finally, discussion on the timing of surgery and the better results observed in the case of delayed surgery raises the question of the waiting conditions. During this time frame, physicians should be able to stabilize the patient's hemodynamics, correct any organ failure, and unload the ventricles in order to promote myocardial recovery before VSD correction. Acute mechanical circulatory support (aMCS) is thus often discussed for this purpose; however, the type and timing of its deployment are still a matter of debate (10).

We aimed to assess the evolution of incidence, management, and prognosis of ischaemic VSD during the last 10 years in a large tertiary center in western Europe.

Methods

Population

All the consecutive patients managed for ischaemic VSD at Toulouse University Hospital between 01/01/2009 and 31/12/2020 were retrospectively included in this study. The patients were found *via* the local PMSI (Programme de Médicalisation des Systèmes d'Information) (ICD codes 10 X

and Y), with a retrospective control carried out using the intensive cardiac care unit register. According to the French ethical and regulatory law, retrospective studies based on the exploitation of usual care data do not need to be submitted to an ethical committee but have to be covered by the reference methodology of the French National Commission for Informatics and Liberties (CNIL). After evaluation and validation by the data protection officer and according to the General Data Protection Regulation, this study completed all the criteria and was registered in the register of retrospective studies of the Toulouse University Hospital (number RnIPH 2020–115) and covered by the MR-004 (CNIL number: 2206723 v 0).

Data collection

Clinical data were collected at admission and during hospitalization, together with a previous history of heart disease, cardiovascular risk factors, and comorbidities. Transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) was performed in all cases and data obtained were collected (left and right ventricle diastolic and systolic function, size and localization of the VSD). Biological monitoring included blood gas and arterial lactate, prothrombin ratio, NT-pro-BNP, aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, total bilirubin and creatinine levels, and estimated glomerular filtration rate. The EuroSCORE II was calculated for all patients.

Statistics

Continuous variables were expressed as means \pm standard deviation or as medians with interquartile ranges (IQR) when not normally distributed. Nominal variables were expressed in numbers and percentages. The association between the mean values of continuous variables was assessed using the Mann-Whitney rank sum test or Student's t-test when appropriate. Nominal variables were assessed by the χ^2 test or Fisher's exact test when appropriate. The patients were separated into two groups based on in-hospital (Supplementary Table S1) or 1-year (Table 1) mortality. Regression analysis was performed using variables with a p-value < 0.05 to analyse variables associated with the criteria of mortality with results reported as odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for in-hospital mortality. A Cox analysis was performed to analyse the factors associated with 1-year mortality and the results were reported as a hazard ratio (HR) with 95% CI (Table 2). A p-value inferior to 0.05 was considered significant. Stata[®] (14.2 version) software was used for statistical analyses.

TABLE 1 Description of the population at admission, management, and outcomes according to their 1-year mortality.

	Global population	Non-survivors at 1 year	Survivors at 1 year	<i>p</i> -value
	(n = 97)	(n = 83)	(n = 14)	_
Age, years old	73 +/- 11	74 +/- 9	63 +/- 13	< 0.001
Male sex, <i>n</i> (%)	54 (55.7)	45 (54.2)	9 (64.3)	0.48
Cardiovascular risk factors, n (%)				
Smokers $(n = 95)$	37 (38.9)	27 (33.3)	10 (71.4)	< 0.01
Diabetes $(n = 96)$	30 (31.3)	26 (31.7)	4 (28.6)	0.82
Dyslipidemia ($n = 95$)	32 (33.7)	26 (32.1)	6 (42.9)	0.43
Hypertension ($n = 95$)	53 (55.8)	45 (55.6)	8 (57.1)	0.91
Obesity (BMI > 30) ($n = 90$)	17 (18.9)	12 (15.8)	5 (35.7)	0.08
Medical history, n (%)				
Ischaemic cardiomyopathy ($n = 94$)	9 (9.6)	8 (10)	1 (7.1)	0.73
PAD $(n = 95)$	7 (7.4)	6 (7.4)	1 (7.1)	0.97
CKD (<i>n</i> = 95)	6 (6.3)	4 (4.9)	2 (14.3)	0.18
Clinical characteristics at admission, n (%)	35 (40.2)	28 (37.8)	7 (53.9)	0.27
Right HF signs ($n = 87$)				
Left HF signs $(n = 92)$	54 (58.7)	47 (60.3)	7 (50)	0.47
Hemodynamics instability ($n = 97$)	53 (54.6)	47 (56.6)	6 (42.9)	0.33
Electrocardiogram at admission, n (%)				
STEMI (<i>n</i> = 95)	75 (79)	66 (81.5)	9 (64,3)	0.14
Q wave	70 (73.7)	60 (74.1)	10 (71.4)	0.83
Angiocoronarography, n (%)				
Culprit lesion location $(n = 91)$				0.75
LAD	51 (56)	43 (55.8)	8 (57.1)	
RCA	37 (40.7)	31 (40.3)	6 (42.9)	
Cx	3 (3.3)	3 (3.9)	0(0)	
Ad-hoc revascularisation	49 (50.5)	42 (50.6)	7 (50)	0.96
Significant other coronary artery disease $(n =$		(****)	. ()	0.63
91)				0100
One-vessel disease	37 (40.7)	30 (39)	7 (50)	
Two-vessel disease	33 (36.3)	28 (36.4)	5 (35.7)	
Tri-vessel disease	21 (23.1)	19 (24.7)	2 (14.3)	
Biology at admission	()		- ()	
Lactates (mmol/l) $(n = 84)$	2.65 [1.75-4.7]	2.8 [1.8-5.4]	1.4 [1.2-2.2]	< 0.01
PTT (%) (n = 91)	66 +/- 19	65 +/- 20	73 +/- 12	0.13
Hepatic cytolysis (n x Normale) ($n = 90$)	6 (2-17)	7 (2–18)	3 (2-11)	0.19
Total bilirubin (mmol/l) ($n = 88$)	218+/-136	22.8 +/- 14.4	164 ± 1.52	0.10
pH(n = 91)	$7 39 \pm -0.12$	$7 37 \pm 7 0 13$	$7.45 \pm /0.06$	0.06
Troponin (n x Normale) $(n = 95)$	420 [217-1.192]	427 [227-1.192]	427 [227-1.192]	0.24
Natriuretic peptid (n x Normale) ($n = 66$)	20 (9-49)	23 (10-53)	9 (7-19)	0.03
eGFR (MDRD) ml/min/1 73 m ² ($n = 96$)	43 [28-73]	40 [28-69]	66 [37-85]	0.08
Echocardiography (TTE or TOE), n (%)	44 ± 13	44 ± 13	40 ± -15	0.28
V = F(%) (n = 96)	11 / 10	11 / 10	10 17 10	0120
RV dilatation (n = 88)	50 (56 8)	39 (52.7)	11 (78 6)	0.07
RV dysfunction $(n = 92)$	44 (47 8)	38 (48 7)	6 (42.9)	0.68
VSD characteristics			· (1217)	5.00
Size by TTE (mm) $(n - 67)$	14 +/- 8	13 +/- 7	16 +/- 11	0.23
Surgical size (mm) $(n - 38)$	11 /- 0 23 ±/- 12	13 ± /- 1A	26 ± 1	0.23
$VSD \log lization (n - 96)$	25 ⁻ / ⁻ 15	25 ⁻ /= 14	20 1/- 10	0.70
$v_{\rm SD}$ iocalization ($n = 90$)				0.70

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

	Global population $(n = 97)$	Non-survivors at 1 year $(n = 83)$	Survivors at 1 year $(n = 14)$	<i>p</i> -value
Basal	28 (29.2)	25 (30.5)	3 (21.4)	
Median	16 (16.7)	14 (17.1)	2 (14.3)	
Apical	52 (54.3)	43 (52.4)	9 (64.3)	
EuroSCORE 2 ($n = 95$)	42.4 +/- 20.7	44.9 +/- 19.7	28 +/- 20.9	< 0.01
VSD management				
Inotrops or vasopressors	60 (61.9)	56 (67.5)	4 (28.6)	< 0.01
IABP	60 (61.9)	48 (57.8)	12 (85.7)	0.04
VA-ECMO	13 (13.4)	12 (14.5)	1 (7.1)	0.45
Impella®	3 (3.1)	2 (2.4)	1 (7.1)	0.34
All acute MCS	70 (72.2)	58 (69.9)	12 (85.7)	0.22
Surgical closure	44 (45.4)	32 (38.6)	12 (85.7)	< 0.01
Percutaneous closure	4 (4.1)	4 (4.8)	0 (0)	0.40
Heart transplantation	1 (1)	0 (0)	1 (7.1)	0.01
Length of stay (days) $(n = 96)$	7 (3–12)	6 (3–10)	16 (11–27)	< 0.01
ICU/ICCU LOS				
Total LOS	8 (3-16)	6 (3–12)	23 (16-46)	< 0.01

BMI, body mass index; CKD, chronic kidney disease; Cx, circonflex coronary artery; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HF, heart failure; IABP, intra-aortic balloon pump; ICU, intensive care unit; ICCU, intensive cardiac care unit; LAD, left anterior descending artery; LOS, length of stay; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; MCS, mechanical circulatory support; PAD, peripheral arterial disease; PTT, prothrombin time; RCA, right coronary artery; RV, right ventricle; TOE, transesophagal echocardiography; TTE, transthoracic echocardiography; VA-ECMO, veno-arterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation; VSD, ventricular septal defect.

TABLE 2 Factors associated with in-hospital mortality by Cox regression analysis.

		Univariate analy	sis	Multivariate analysis			
	OR	CI 95%	<i>p</i> value	OR	CI 95%	<i>p</i> value	
Age (for each supplementary year)	1.06	[1.02-1.11]	< 0.01	1.06	[1.01-1.12]	0.02	
Active smocker	0.42	[0.17 - 1.04]	0.06	-	-	-	
Chronic renal failure	0.39	[0.07-2.06]	0.26	-	-	-	
Biology							
Lactates (for each supplementary mmol)	1.35	[1.01-1.81]	0.04	-	-	-	
TP (for each supplementary %)	0.97	[0.95-1.01]	0.10	-	-	-	
Hepatic cytolysis > 20 N	3.40	[1.06-10.9]	0.04	-	-	-	
Management							
VSD surgical repair	0.09	[0.03-0.28]	< 0.01	0.14	[0.04-0.45]	< 0.01	
Amine use	3.78	[1.50-9.49]	< 0.01	3.08	[1.22–11.4]	< 0.01	

CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; N, normal; PT, prothrombin time; VSD, ventricular septal defect.

Results

Population

Over a period of 12 years, a total of 97 patients with ischaemic VSD were included (Table 1), with a mean of 8 per year. Figure 1 shows VSD cases by year in comparison with STEMI and non-STEMI in our center and associated VSD incidence which varied between 0.10 % (2015) to 0.73 % of ACS (2020).

Patients were predominantly male (n = 54, 56%) with a mean age of 73 \pm 11 years old. Cardiovascular risk factors were frequent but ischaemic cardiomyopathy was previously known for only 9 patients (9.6%). At admission 44 patients (45%) were in cardiogenic shock, 57 (59%) presented with left heart failure, and 39 (40%) with right heart failure signs. An ECG showed a Q wave of sequelae for 70 (74%). TTE showed a left (LVEF 44%) and right ventricles dysfunction (RV dilation 57% and/or dysfunction 48%). The VSD was apical for 52 patients (54%), with a mean size of 14 mm.



FIGURE 1

Annual numerical comparison of acute coronary syndromes (Non-STEMI and STEMI) and ischemic VSD managed between June 2012 and December 2020. Number of Non-STEMI (red) and STEMI (blue) per year are reported on the left axis although VSD (green) is reported on the right. Patients before January 2012 were nor reported since an old data system did not permit a systematic counting of all consecutive cases. ACS, acute coronary syndrome; NSTEMI, non-ST-elevated myocardial infarction; STEMI, ST-elevated myocardial infarction; VSD, ventricular septal defect.



Patients had one-vessel disease in 40% of the cases and the left anterior descending artery was the culprit vessel for 50 patients (56%).

Management

An ad hoc revascularisation was performed for 49 patients (51%), despite a mean delay from initial symptoms of 52 h. Inotrope/vasopressor support was needed for 60 patients (62%) and mechanical circulatory support for 70 (72%), mainly by IABP (n = 68, 86%). The patients supported by an aMCS were younger (71 +/- 10 vs. 77 +/- 9 yo, p = 0.01), with less peripheral artery disease (2.9 vs. 20%, p = 0.002), with larger VSD (26 +/-13 vs. 15 +/- 5 mm, p = 0.03). They were also more managed by inotropes/vasopressors (71.4 vs. 37.4%, p = 0.002) with more surgical closures attempted (51.4 vs. 29.6%, p = 0.05) and a higher length of stay in the critical care unit (9 vs. 3 days, p = 0.002) (Supplementary Table S1). For 44 patients (45%), a surgical VSD repair was performed and for 1 patient (1%) a heart transplant was required, with a mean delay to the procedure of 10.6 days. A percutaneous closure technique was attempted for 4 patients (4%) considered to be at prohibitive risk for surgery.

Outcomes

In-hospital and 1-year mortality rates were 71% and 86%, respectively (Figures 2, 3). A total of 28 patients (28.9%) were



TABLE 3 Factors associated with 1-year mortality by Cox regression analysis.

		Univariate analy	sis	Multivariate analysis			
	HR	CI 95%	<i>p</i> value	R	CI 95%	<i>p</i> value	
Age (for each supplementary year)	1.05	[1.02-1.08]	< 0.01	0.06	[1.03-1.09]	< 0.01	
Active smockers	0.46	[0.27-0.73]	< 0.01	-	-	-	
Chronic kydney disease	0.48	[0.15-1.54]	0.22	-	-	-	
Biology							
Lactates (for each supplementary mmol)	1.17	[1.11-1.24]	< 0.01	10.16	[1.09-1.23]	< 0.01	
PTT (for each supplementary %)	0.98	[0.96-0.99]	< 0.01	-	-	-	
Hepatic cytolysis (> 20 N)	1.52	[0.93-2.48]	0.09	-	-	-	
Management							
VSD surgical repair	0.33	[0.20-0.55]	< 0.01	00.51	[0.28-0.94]	0.03	
Amine use	1.99	[1.19-3.34]	< 0.01	-	-	-	

CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; N, normal; PT, prothrombin time; VSD, ventricular septal defect.

discharged from the hospital: their mean LVEF was 38% and in 7 cases (24%) a residual shunt was present.

Non-survivors at 1 year were older (74 vs. 63 yo, p < 0.001) with more severe organ dysfunction as reflected by higher lactate (2.8 vs. 1.4 mmol/l, p = 0.005) and natriuretic peptide (23 vs. 9 x N, p = 0.003) at admission. Non-survivors were more likely to have undergone inotrope/vasopressors support (67.6% vs. 28.6 %, p = 0.006) and less surgical repair (38.6% vs. 85.7%, p = 0.001) than survivors. The EuroSCORE II value was significantly higher for non-survivors (44.9% vs.

28% for survivors, p < 0.001). No significant difference was found according to medical history, VSD type, and position or type of aMCS (Supplementary Figure S1). The characteristics of patients according to in-hospital mortality are described in Supplementary Table S2.

Factors associated with higher in-hospital mortality in multivariate analysis were age [OR 1.06 (1.01–1.12) for each supplementary year, p = 0.02] and amines support requirement [OR 3.08 (1.22–11.4), p = 0.002], whereas surgery was associated with lower mortality [0.14 (0.04–045), p = 001] (Table 2).

Factors associated with 1-year mortality were age [1.06 (1.03–1.09), p < 0.001] and lactate [1.16 (1.09–1.23), p < 0.001], whereas surgery was associated with lower mortality [0.51 (0.28–0.94) p = 0.003] (Table 3). Additionally, we did not observe a decrease in 1-year mortality in the most recent period. On the contrary, we observed a trend of higher mortality (Figure 3).

For the 44 patients who underwent surgical septum repair, in-hospital and 1-year mortality were significantly lower than for medically managed patients (48% vs. 57% and 73% vs. 100%, respectively) (Figure 2). No significant difference was found among patients surgically managed on mean surgery delay or surgical technique used according to their in-hospital and 1-year vital status (Supplementary Table S3). No significant difference in survival was observed according to the use of aMCS or according to aMCS type (Supplementary Figures S1, S2).

Discussion

Thanks to a 12-years retrospective analysis of our tertiary centre's experience, we demonstrated (1) the scarcity of postischaemic VSD (mean of 8 patients per year either <0.8% of ACS managed), (2) its severe prognosis close to 1 on 3 deceased at hospital discharge and up to 100% at 1 year in case of medical treatment, and (3) factors associated with worse prognosis were age, amine use, and lactate increase, (4) whereas surgery seems to be the only effective treatment with a 1-year survival of 27%.

As in a recent large retrospective multicentric registry (The CAUTION study n = 475 patients in 26 sites) (11), we found no prognosis improvement during the last decade despite refinements in interventional cardiology, heart surgery, mechanical circulatory support, and intensive care. Despite not reporting specific analysis by time period, we did not find any mortality difference between periods with the persistence of severe prognosis with in-hospital mortality around 80% and up to 100% 1-year mortality for medically managed patients.

This observation is surprising and there are questions regarding its causes. One possible explanation is the lack of expertise even in tertiary centers due to the scarcity of the disease (8 per year even in our reference center), preventing substantial practice enhancement. Another explanation is that today, the majority of patients arrive at our tertiary center contrary to before when they were probably less referred and died in primary or secondary centers. But, the absence of difference in terms of severity (data not shown) or incidence change during a 10-year period is not in favor of this. We only found a numerical VSD increase in 2020 which could be linked to the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic as previously explained, particularly by latency in management (12).

Another potential explanation is based on non-considered cofactors such as the systemic inflammatory response syndrome which could play an important role in the worsening of the associated MOF but also in the widening of the VSD. So, it might be a potential therapeutic target in these severe patients. But despite attractive pathophysiological hypotheses, inflammatory blocking or modulation (by anti-IL6, anti-TNF for example) and blood purification techniques (such as Cytosorb[®]) have yielded conflicting results (13, 14). They should only be discussed in the most severe patients as a rescue strategy based, for example, on a high level of plasma IL-6 or on the need for high doses of vasopressors, as recently suggested.

We reported a predominance of apical VSD with moderate RV dysfunction as previously reported (11). Interestingly, the VSD site was not prognostic in our study although the posterior position was associated with higher in-hospital mortality in the CAUTION study (11). The smaller population reported here may explain this difference. Due to the retrospective design of the study, TTE data were incomplete without standardization to evaluate and describe the RV function preventing any specific analysis.

As in previous reports (11), nearly half of patients were in cardiogenic shock at initial management (45%). The initial haemodynamic instability was related not only to the early prognosis but also to the patient's long-term prognosis, as highlighted by the multivariate analysis. This also confirms the prognostic weight of age at treatment. Only surgery was associated with a better prognosis (52% survival at hospital discharge and 27% at 1 year). This association was significant with in-hospital mortality [OR 0.14 (0.04–0.45), p < 0.001] and persisted with 1-year mortality [OR 0.51(0.28–0.94), p = 0.03] reaffirming the pivotal place of surgery in the management of post-MI VSD patients.

The place, type, and timing of aMCS could not be discussed with our cohort since the timing of insertion was not collected and the majority of patients received IABP (n = 68, 74%). Other devices were marginal (3 Impella[®] and 13 ECMO), preventing any conclusion contrary to the previous meta-analyses (15, 16). Dedicated studies may help the decision on timing and type of aMCS but these seem impossible to conduct due to the scarcity of this complication and the absence of consensual management even in a unique center. Direct LV and/or RV venting sounds attractive based on physiological and ex-vivo simulating studies but no specific studies to date report its use in these complex cases (17). Direct LV unloading is associated with a decrease in LVEDP and PCWP and an increase in coronary perfusion, suggesting higher potential LV recovery and preventing the worsening of the RV function associated with renal and hepatic failure (17). Nevertheless, the enthusiasm for direct ventricle venting could be moderated by the risk of worsening mechanical complications and systemic embolism due to its intra-cavity position. Further, all aMCS available are associated with potential adverse events in particular haemolysis, bleedings, limb ischaemia, and vascular complications (from 3.0% for IABP to 5.6% for Impella and 15.8% for ECMO) that potentially worsen the patient prognosis with a significant association with in-hospital mortality in a recent comparative

10.3389/fcvm.2022.1066308

observational study (56.3% with ECMO vs. 33.8% with Impella and 26.2% with IABP) (18). Despite frequent adverse events, the use of aMCS is sometimes mandatory in order to prevent the aggravation of cardiac and multi-organ failure and the death of the patient. The type and timing of device implantation are subject to debate without consensus to date. ECMO is probably the higher circulatory support and the best way to perfuse and oxygenate peripheral organs but several preclinical and clinical studies have shown the association between an increase in LV afterload and an increase in LVEDP and PCWP (19). LV overload seemed to correlate with the intensity of flow and was associated with the worst prognosis including mortality, especially in the case of LV failure (20, 21). In the case of VSD, these effects potentially lead to a worsening of the left-to-right shunt with an increased risk of RV dysfunction and death. Another possibility is to associate an early and systematic left heart decompression with an IABP association, a percutaneous balloon atrioseptostomy or a direct LV-unloading (22, 23). So, a combination of multiple aMCSs could improve peripheral organ perfusion while unloading the LV and RV. The combination of ECMO and Impella (ECMELLA), seems to provide the greatest degree of overall circulatory support while simultaneously unloading the LV (24) and may be a good alternative. But a combination of multiple aMCSs increases associated adverse events as recently demonstrated (24). This should be a case-by-case discussion in the absence of clear recommendations. In all cases, the choice should also depend on the aMCS availability and the multidisciplinary expertise and practice of the center. An important point seems to emerge from the literature, namely the early implantation of aMCS, whatever its type, aimed at preventing multiorgan organ failure and preserving RV and LV functions (11, 25).

Finally, the place of percutaneous closure is still debated, fuelled by contradictory literature. Patient selection and an expert team showed interesting results but, in our study, it was only proposed as a last line of treatment in very severe cases with a 100% in-hospital mortality. The low level of local expertise in this highly technical area may also have contributed to our poor results. Recently a large UK national registry (372 patients with post-MI VSD), showed that percutaneous closure has been increasingly used in clinical practice over recent years accounting for 31.6% of ischaemic VSD patients' management alone and for 7.4% in association with surgical repair. They did not find a difference in long-term mortality between patients managed by surgical or percutaneous closure (61.1% vs. 53.7%, p = 0.17), but in-hospital mortality was lower in the surgical group (55.0% vs. 44.2%, p = 0.048). Interestingly, the percutaneous approach [aHR 1.44 (1.01–2.05), p = 0.04], and the number of vessels with coronary artery disease [aHR 1.22 (1.01–1.47), p = 0.043] were two of the three independent factors associated with long-term mortality, suggesting better results for the surgical approach (26). Surgery and percutaneous closure should not be opposed but may be combined since 16.1% of percutaneous patients subsequently had surgery and 7.8% of surgical patients subsequently had percutaneous treatment. This justifies a multidisciplinary approach in expert centers, allowing a patient-centered approach in terms of medical management, type of device, and timing of implantation, but also of VSD closure strategy.

Limits

The retrospective and monocentric design of our study with a collection over 12 years explain most of the limits of our manuscript and preclude the conclusion or generalization of our results. The timing of aMCS implantation and explantation was not reported, preventing any analysis of its effect on outcomes. Moreover, the number of patients supported by aMCSs other than IABP [n = 15 with Impella (whatever its type) and/or ECMO] do not allow specific and independent analysis. Finally, no dedicated protocol was available to harmonize VSD patients' management during the study period, explaining different types and timing of aMCS implantation, but also differences in medical management and surgical closure indication. Nevertheless, the persistence of high mortality of the post-ischemic VSD remains a real conclusion. The outstanding questions concern, on the one hand, the medical treatment put in place and the need to optimize and formalize it; and on the other hand, the question of patients who are contraindicated to surgery, which in fact condemns them to almost certain death ("self-fulfilling prophecy"). This reinforces the absolute necessity of implementing standardized multidisciplinary management and decision-making protocols.

Conclusion

A post-ischaemic ventricular septal defect is an uncommon but still severe complication, involving <0.8% of all ACS and associated with an in-hospital mortality of 73% and 1-year mortality of 86%. Surgery remains the only treatment associated with better survival but is not feasible for all patients. Patient selection and the timing of surgery, as well as the type of aMCS in the waiting period or alternative therapies, should be addressed by larger multicentre dedicated studies.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: CD, HT, and FB. Data curation: HT, JP, CD, CB, FL, BM, OL, ME, MG, and CD. Formal analysis: FB, HT, and CD. Methodology and visualization: CD and FB. Project administration: CD and MG. Supervision: CD. Validation: HT, CD, FB, ME, and CD. Writing—original draft: HT and CD. Writing—review and editing: All authors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

References

1. Borhani NO, Miller ST, Brugger SB, Schnaper HW, Craven TE, Bond MG, et al. MIDAS: hypertension and atherosclerosis. A trial of the effects of antihypertensive drug treatment on atherosclerosis. MIDAS Research Group. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* (1992) (19 Suppl. 3):S16–20. doi: 10.1097/00005344-199200193-00005

2. Armstrong PW, Adams PX, Al-Khalidi HR, Hamm C, Holmes D, O'Neill WO, et al. Assessment of Pexelizumab in Acute Myocardial Infarction (APEX AMI): a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled study of pexelizumab in patients with acute myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am Heart J.* (2005) 149: 402–7. doi: 10.1016/j.abj.2004.12.015

3. Elbadawi A, Elgendy IY, Mahmoud K, Barakat AF, Mentias A, Mohamed AH, et al. Temporal trends and outcomes of mechanical complications in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2019) 12:1825–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2019.04.039

4. Bouisset F, Deney A, Ferrières J, Panagides V, Becker M, Riviere N, et al. Mechanical complications in ST-elevation myocardial infarction: the impact of pre-hospital delay. *Int J Cardiol*. (2021) 345:14–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2021.10.020

5. Omar S, Morgan GL, Panchal HB, Thourani V, Rihal CS, Patel R, et al. Management of post-myocardial infarction ventricular septal defects: a critical assessment. J Interv Cardiol. (2018) 31:939–48. doi: 10.1111/joic.12556

6. Jeppsson A, Liden H, Johnsson P, Hartford M, Rådegran K. Surgical repair of post infarction ventricular septal defects: a national experience. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2005) 27:216–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2004.10.037

7. Sakuguchi G, Miyata H, Motomura N, Ueki C, Fukuchi E, Yamamoto H, et al. Surgical repair of post-infarction ventricular septal defect, findings from a Japanese national database. *Circ J.* (2019) 83:2229–35. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-19-0593

8. Arnaoutakis GJ, Zhao Y, George TJ, Sciortino CM, McCarthy PM, Conte JV. Surgical repair of ventricular septal defect after myocardial infarction: outcomes from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2012) 94:436–43. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.04.020

9. Matteucci M, Ronco D, Corazzari C, Fina D, Jiritano F, Meani P, et al. Surgical repair of post-infarction ventricular septal rupture: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2021) 112:326–37. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2020.08.050

10. Vondran M, Wehbe MS, Etz C, Ghazy T, Rastan AJ, Borger MA, et al. Mechanical circulatory support for early surgical repair of postinfarction ventricular septal defect with cardiogenic shock. *Artif Organs.* (2021) 45:244–53. doi: 10.1111/aor.13808

that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fcvm.2022.1066308/full#supplementary-material

11. Ronco D, Matteucci M, Kowalewski M, De Bonis M, Formica F, Jiritano F, et al. Surgical treatment of postinfarction ventricular septal rupture. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4:e2128309. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.28309

12. Lin TW, Tsai MT, Wu HY, Roan JN, Luo CY. Mechanical complications of acute myocardial infarction during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Acta Cardiol Sin.* (2021) 37:114–6. doi: 10.6515/ACS.202101_37(1).20201025A

13. Szabo TM, Frigy A, Nagy EE. Targeting mediators of inflammation in heart failure: a short synthesis of experimental and clinical results. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:13053. doi: 10.3390/ijms222313053

14. Napp LC, Lebreton G, De Somer F, Supady A, Pappalardo F. Opportunities, controversies, and challenges of extracorporeal hemoadsorption with CytoSorb during ECMO. *Artif Organs.* (2021) 45:1240–9. doi: 10.1111/aor.14025

15. Ronco R, Matteucci M, Ravaux JM, Marra S, Torchio F, Corazzari C, et al. Mechanical circulatory support as a bridge to definitive treatment in postinfarction ventricular septal rupture. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. (2021) 14:1053–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2021.02.046

16. Jones BM, Kapadia SR, Smedira NG, Robich M, Tuzcu EM, Menon V, et al. Ventricular septal rupture complicating acute myocardial infarction: a contemporary review. *Eur Heart J.* (2014) 35:2060–8. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehu248

17. Pahuja M, Schrage B, Westermann D, Basir MB, Garan AR, Burkhoff D. Hemodynamics effects of mechanical circulatory support devices in ventricular septal defect. *Circ Heart Fail.* (2019) 12:e005981. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.119.005981

18. Lemor A, Dabbagh MF. Rates and impact of vascular complications in mechanical circulatory support. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2022) 99:1702–11. doi: 10.1002/ccd.30150

19. Schiller P, Vikholm P, Hellgren L. Experimental venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation induces left ventricular dysfunction. ASAIO J. (2016) 62:518–24. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000392

20. Truby LK, Takeda K, Mauro C, Yuzefpolskaya M, Garan AR, Kirtane AJ, et al. Incidence and implications of left ventricular distention during venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. *ASAIO J.* (2017) 63:257–65. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000000553

21. Den Uil CA, Jewbali LS, Heeren MJ, Constantinescu AA, Van Mieghem NM, Miranda DDR, et al. Isolated left ventricular failure is a predictor of poor outcome in patients receiving veno-arterial extracorporeal mem- brane oxygenation: LV failure predicts poor outcome in VA-ECMO. *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2017) (Suppl. 2):104–9. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.853 22. Meani P, Gelsomino S, Natour E, Johnson DM, Rocca H-PB, Pappalardo F, et al. Modalities and effects of left ventricle unloading on extracorporeal life support: a review of the current literature: modalities and effects of left ventricle unloading on extracorporeal life support. *Eur J Heart Fail*. (2017) (Suppl. 2):84–91. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.850

23. Delmas C, Vallee L, Bouisset F, Porterie J, Biendel C, Lairez O, et al. Use of percutaneous atrioseptotosmy for left heart decompression during veno-arterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support: an observational study. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2022) 11:e024642. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.121.024642

24. Schrage B, Becher PM, Bernhardt A, Bezerra H, Blankenberg S, Brunner S, et al. Left ventricular unloading is associated with lower mortality in patients

with cardiogenic shock treated with venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: results from an international. Multicenter Cohort Study. *Circulation.* (2020) 142:2095–106. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.048792

25. Rob D, Spunda R, Lindner J, Rohn V, Kunstyr J, Balik M, et al. A rationale for early extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in patients with postinfarction ventricular septal rupture complicated by cardiogenic shock. *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2017) 19(suppl. 2):97–103. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.852

26. Giblett JP, Matetic A, Jenkins D, Ng CY, Venuraju S, MacCarthy T, et al. Postinfarction ventricular septal defect: percutaneous or surgical management in the UK national registry. *Eur Heart J.* (2022) ehac511. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac511. [Epub ahead of print].

TYPE Systematic Review PUBLISHED 23 December 2022 DOI 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1090102

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Massimo Bonacchi, University of Florence, Italy

REVIEWED BY Francesco Cabrucci, University of Florence, Italy James Tatoulis, The University of Melbourne, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Mario Gaudino ⊠ mfg9004@med.cornell.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 04 November 2022 ACCEPTED 02 December 2022 PUBLISHED 23 December 2022

CITATION

Soletti GJ, Perezgrovas-Olaria R, Harik L, Rahouma M, Dimagli A, Alzghari T, Demetres M, Bratton BA, Yaghmour M, Satija D, Lau C, Girardi LN, Salemo TA and Gaudino M (2022) Effect of posterior pericardiotomy in cardiac surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:1090102. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1090102

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Soletti, Perezgrovas-Olaria, Harik, Rahouma, Dimagli, Alzghari, Demetres, Bratton, Yaghmour, Satija, Lau, Girardi, Salemo and Gaudino. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction

in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effect of posterior pericardiotomy in cardiac surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

Giovanni Jr Soletti^{1†}, Roberto Perezgrovas-Olaria^{1†}, Lamia Harik¹, Mohamed Rahouma¹, Arnaldo Dimagli¹, Talal Alzghari¹, Michelle Demetres², Brenden A. Bratton¹, Mohammad Yaghmour¹, Divyaam Satija¹, Christopher Lau¹, Leonard N. Girardi¹, Tomas A. Salemo³ and Mario Gaudino^{1*}

¹Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Weill Cornell Medicine, New York, NY, United States, ²Samuel J. Wood Library and C.V. Starr Biomedical Information Center, Weill Cornell Medicine, New York, NY, United States, ³Division of Cardiothoracic Surgery, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine and Jackson Memorial Hospital, Miami, FL, United States

Background: Posterior pericardiotomy (PP) has been shown to reduce the incidence of pericardial effusion and postoperative atrial fibrillation (POAF) after cardiac surgery. However, the procedure and the totality of its effects are poorly known in the cardiac surgery community. We performed a study-level meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) to evaluate the impact of PP in cardiac surgery patients.

Methods: A systematic literature search was conducted on three medical databases (Ovid MEDLINE, Ovid Embase, Cochrane Library) to identify RCTs reporting outcomes of patients that received a PP or no intervention after cardiac surgery. The primary outcome was the incidence of POAF. Key secondary outcomes were operative mortality, incidence of pericardial and pleural effusion, cardiac tamponade, length of stay (LOS), pulmonary complications, amount of chest drainage, need for intra-aortic balloon pump, and re-exploration for bleeding.

Results: Eighteen RCTs totaling 3,531 patients were included. PP was associated with a significantly lower incidence of POAF (odds ratio [OR] 0.45, 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.32–0.64, P < 0.0001), early (OR 0.18, 95% CI 0.10–0.34, P < 0.0001) and late pericardial effusion (incidence rate ratio 0.13, 95% CI 0.06–0.29, P < 0.0001), and cardiac tamponade (risk difference –0.02, 95% CI –0.04 to –0.01, P = 0.001). PP was associated with a higher incidence of pleural effusion (OR 1.42, 95% CI 1.06–1.90, P = 0.02), but not pulmonary complications (OR 0.82, 95% CI 0.56–1.19; P = 0.38). No differences in other outcomes, including operative mortality, were found.

Conclusions: PP is a safe and effective intervention that significantly decreases the incidence of POAF and pericardial effusion following cardiac surgery.

Systematic review registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/ display_record.php?RecordID=261485, identifier: CRD42021261485.

KEYWORDS

cardiac surgery, posterior pericardiotomy, postoperative atrial fibrillation, pericardial effusion, meta-analysis

1. Introduction

Despite advances in postsurgical management, postoperative atrial fibrillation (POAF) still represents the most frequent complication following cardiac surgery, resulting in a substantial clinical and economic burden (1–3). An important trigger of POAF, among others, seems to be the accumulation of fluid in the posterior pericardium (4, 5). Since its introduction in 1995, posterior pericardiotomy (PP) has been hypothesized to reduce the incidence of POAF and pericardial effusion by means of an incision in the posterior pericardium, allowing pericardial fluid to drain into the left pleural space (6).

Over the past two decades, multiple randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have tested this intervention, providing data on its high efficacy in reducing POAF (7–24). However, the procedure and the totality of its benefits and safety profile are poorly known in the cardiac surgery community.

We conducted a systematic review and study-level metaanalysis to evaluate the outcomes of patients that received a PP in addition to cardiac surgery compared to patients that received no additional intervention.

2. Methods

This review was registered with the National Institute for Health Research International Registry of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO; CRD42021261485). The manuscript follows the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guideline (25).

2.1. Search strategy

A qualified librarian (MD) performed a systematic literature search to identify potential studies comparing the outcomes of patients that received cardiac surgical procedures and PP to patients that received a cardiac surgical procedure and no PP. Searched were originally run on July 2021 and updated on December 28, 2021 using the following databases (Ovid MEDLINE, Ovid EMBASE, and The Cochrane Library) from inception to present. The search strategy for Ovid MEDLINE is available in Supplementary Table 1.

2.2. Study selection and data extraction

After deduplication, title and abstracts of the remaining articles were screened against predefined inclusion and exclusion criteria by two authors (GS and RP-O) independently. Any discrepancies were adjudicated by the senior author (MG). All relevant English-written RCTs reporting outcomes of adult patients (\geq 18 years old) undergoing open heart surgery with and without a concomitant PP procedure were considered for inclusion. All the studies that were not RCTs were excluded. The full text of the selected manuscripts was retrieved for a second round of screening. The references were also reviewed for pertinent studies not identified through the initial search. The quality assessment of the included RCTs was performed using The Cochrane Collaboration's Risk of Bias 2 (RoB 2) tool for randomized trials (26).

The PP procedure was defined as any incision in the posterior pericardium allowing drainage of the pericardial cavity into the left pleural space, with or without the insertion of a chest tube in the posterior pericardial space. A detailed description of the steps to perform a PP has been previously published (27).

Two authors (GS and RP-O) separately performed data extraction and the accuracy was verified by the senior investigatto (MG). The following variables were extracted from each RCT: study characteristics (first author, year of publication, publishing journal, country, type of cardiac surgery, and sample size), patient demographics (age, sex, smoking status, hypertension, diabetes, and dyslipidemia), and key outcomes.

2.3. Outcomes

The primary outcome was the incidence of POAF. The secondary outcomes were operative mortality, early and late pericardial effusion, cardiac tamponade, pleural effusion, amount of total chest drainage (mediastinal plus pleural drainage), duration of intensive care unit (ICU) and hospital length of stay (LOS), pulmonary complications, need for intraaortic balloon pump (IABP), and re-exploration for bleeding. For the secondary outcomes, individual study definitions were used.

2.4. Statistical analysis

The number of events of short-term outcomes was extracted for each group and pooled with an inverse variance method and described as odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI). When both groups reported zero events, risk difference (RD) was used as pooled estimate.

For the only follow-up outcome (late pericardial effusion), we took into account the variability in the lengths of follow-up in each study and therefore incidence rate ratio (IRR) were pooled for this outcome. IRRis the ratio of the number of events and the number of patient-years. Inverse variance method with both fixed- and random-effect models was used to pool this estimate.

The standardized mean difference (SMD) with 95% CI was used to compare chest drainage, as well as ICU and hospital LOS between patients with and without PP.

The I^2 was used to evaluate statistical heterogeneity that is the proportion of the variability in the estimates due to heterogeneity rather than by chance. A value of 25, 50, and 75% identified low, moderate and high heterogeneity, respectively. Egger's test and inspection of funnel plot was used to assess the presence of small-study effect.

A leave-one-out approach was used as sensitivity analysis for the primary outcome: the meta-analytic estimates were recalculated by excluding one study per time. Also, metaregression was performed by regressing the estimates against the preoperative characteristics (age, female sex, hypertension, dyslipidemia, smoking, and diabetes), and the type of surgery (coronary artery bypass grafting [CABG], aortic valve replacement [AVR], or other valve surgery).

In all analyses, the control group was the reference group. Statistical analyses were performed in R (version 4.2.0; R Project; R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) using the packages: meta, dmetar. A P-value < 0.05 was used as threshold for statistical significance.

3. Results

3.1. Study characteristics

Of the 4,017 screened articles, 18 articles published between 1997 and 2021 met our inclusion criteria and were included in the present analysis (7–24). The PRISMA flow diagram outlining the study selection process is provided in Supplementary Figure 1.

Assessment of study quality using the RoB 2 tool showed that all but four (15, 17, 18, 21) RCTs had an unclear risk of bias regarding allocation concealment and blinding of researchers and participants. Details of the quality assessment are provided in Supplementary Table 2.

Ten (55.5%) of the included RCTs were conducted in Turkey, three (16.6%) in Iran, while China, Egypt, England, Thailand, and the United States contributed with one RCT (5.6%) each. Thirteen (72.2%) RCTs included patients undergoing isolated CABG, three (16.7%) enrolled patients undergoing either isolated CABG or CABG with valve surgery, one (5.6%) RCT enrolled patients undergoing valve and/or aortic surgery, and one (5.6%) included CABG, AVR, and aortic surgery patients. Characteristics of the included RCTs are provided in Table 1.

3.2. Patient characteristics

A total of 3,531 patients were pooled in the analysis. The number of patients in the included RCTs ranged from 20 to 458, with a median sample size of 146 (interquartile range: 100–209). Overall, 1,745 (49.4%) patients received a PP and 1,786 (50.6%) underwent cardiac surgery without PP.

Men represented 62.2% of the studied population (62.8 and 61.7% of the PP and control groups, respectively). The mean age range was 40.9 to 67.3 years in the PP group and 43.2 to 68.2 years in the control group. The prevalence of diabetes ranged from 17.3 to 65% in the PP group and from 10 to 56.9% in the control group. The prevalence of dyslipidemia ranged from 36 to 75% in the PP group and from 35.3 to 71.2% in the control group. The prevalence of smoking ranged from 0 to 76.1% in the PP group and from 20 to 74% in the control group. The prevalence of hypertension ranged from 20 to 80% in the PP group and from 36 to 90% in the control group.

3.3. Meta-analysis

Compared to the no intervention group, patients with a PP had a significantly lower risk of POAF (OR 0.45, 95% CI 0.32–0.64, P < 0.0001; Figure 1), early pericardial effusion (OR 0.19, 95% CI 0.10–0.34, P < 0.0001; Figure 2), late pericardial effusion (IRR 0.14, 95% CI 0.07–0.30, P < 0.0001; Figure 3), and cardiac tamponade (RD -0.02, 95% CI -0.04 to -0.01, P = 0.001; Supplementary Figure 2). Patients with a PP had a higher risk of pleural effusion (265/1,165, 22.7%) compared to the no intervention group (203/1,173, 17.3%) (OR 1.42, 95% CI 1.06–1.90, P = 0.02; Supplementary Figure 3).

The leave-one-out analysis confirmed the solidity of the main analysis (Supplementary Figure 4).

No difference in operative mortality, pulmonary complications (84/1,168 [7.2%] in the PP group vs. 107/1,205 [8.9%] in the control group), need for IABP, re-exploration for bleeding, ICU LOS, hospital LOS, or chest drainage (range/mean volume in PP group: 450–1,421 ml/746 ml; range/mean volume in control group: 266–1,153 ml/696 ml) was found between groups (Supplementary Figures 5–11). A summary of all the outcomes and their reporting in each of the included RCTs are provided in Table 2 and Supplementary Table 3, respectively.

TABLE 1 Summary of the included RCTs.

References	Journal (2020 IF)	Country	Type of procedure	Sample size (men, %)	No of patients per arm	Outcomes and results
Arbatli et al. (7)	The Journal of Cardiovascular Surgery (1.888)	Turkey	CABG	113 (89, 79%)	PP: 54 Control: 59	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusionAssessment modalitiesContinuous telemetry + EKG, echocardiography, chest X-raysMain findingsNo difference in POAF between PP and control groups ($P = 0.32$). Theincidence of POAF was higher in patients with mild to moderate comparedto those with no or minimal pericardial effusion ($P = 0.017$). Pericardialeffusion was lower in the PP group ($P = 0.02$). No significant difference inpleural effusion between groups.
Asimakopoulos et al. (8)	The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery (5.209)	UK	CABG	100 (NR)	PP: 50 Control: 50	Main outcomes assessed POAF Assessment modalities Continuous telemetry + EKG Main findings No significant difference in the incidence of AF between groups.
Bakhshandeh et al. (9)	Asian Cardiovascular and Thoracic Annals (0.49)	Iran	CABG/ Valve surgery	410 (164, 40%)	PP: 205 Control: 205	Main outcomes assessed POAF, pericardial effusion Assessment modalities Not stated for POAF, echocardiography Main findings No significant difference in POAF between groups. At all time points, the majority of patients who underwent PP were free of effusion, but none of those in the control group were free of effusion (P < 0.05).
Cakalagaoglu et al. (10)	The Heart Surgery Forum (0.676)	Turkey	CABG/ Valve surgery	100 (83, 83%)	PP: 50 Control: 50	Main outcomes assessed POAF, pericardial effusion Assessment modalities Continuous telemetry + EKG, echocardiography, chest X-ray Main findings No significant difference in POAF. Before discharge, the control group had a significantly higher number of patients with moderate, large, and very large pericardial effusions compared with the PP group.
Ekim et al. (11)	Medical Science Monitor (2.649)	Turkey	CABG	100 (65, 65%)	PP: 50 Control: 50	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusionAssessment modalitiesContinuous telemetry + EKG, echocardiography. Not stated for pleuraleffusion.Main findingsEarly pericardial effusion was significantly lower in the PP group ($P = 0.0001$). The number of patients who developed POAF was significantlylower in the PP group compared with the control group (10 vs. 30%, $P < 0.01$). No difference in the incidence of pleural effusion was found.

(Continued)

10.3389/fcvm.2022.1090102

TABLE 1 (Continued)

References	Journal (2020 IF)	Country	Type of procedure	Sample size (men, %)	No of patients per arm	Outcomes and results
Erdil et al. (12)	Journal of Cardiac Surgery (1.62)	Turkey	Valve surgery/ Aortic	100 (39, 39%)	PP: 50 Control: 50	Main outcomes assessedPericardial effusion, pleural effusionAssessment modalitiesEchocardiography. Not stated for pleural effusion.Main findingsEarly pericardial effusion developed in 4/50 (8%) patients of the PP groupand in 19/50 (38%) of the control group ($P < 0.001$). No late pericardialeffusion in the PP group, 9/50 (18%) in control group ($P < 0.003$). Nosignificant difference in the incidence of pleural effusion between groups.
Farsak et al. (13)	European Journal of Cardio- Thoracic Surgery (4.191)	Turkey	CABG	150 (51, 34%)	PP: 75 Control: 75	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusionAssessment modalitiesContinuous telemetry + EKG, echocardiography. Not stated for pleuraleffusion.Main findingsPOAF developed in 7 patients (9.3%) in the PP group and 24 patients (32%)in the control group ($P < 0.001$). Early pericardial effusion developed in42.6% (32/75) of the control group and in 10.6% (8/75) of the PP group ($P < 0.001$). No late pericardial effusion developed in the PP group, while 7(9.3%) developed in the control group ($P < 0.013$). No significant differencein pleural effusion.
Fawzy et al. (14)	Interactive CardioVascular and Thoracic Surgery (1.905)	Egypt	CABG	200 (132, 66%)	PP: 100 Control: 100	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusionAssessment modalitiesContinuous telemetry + ECG, echocardiography.Main findingsThe incidence of POAF was significantly lower in the PP group than in the control group (13 vs. 30%, $P = 0.01$). Postoperative pericardial effusion was significantly lower in the PP group (15 vs. 50 patients, $P = 0.04$).
Gaudino et al. (15)	Lancet (79.321)	USA	CABG/ AVR/ Aortic surgery	420 (318, 76%)	PP: 212 Control: 208	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusionAssessment modalitiesContinuous telemetry and daily EKG, echocardiography, chest X-rays. CTscan in case of moderate-large pericardial effusion.Main findingsPOAF in PP group 37/212 (18%) compared to 66/208 (32%) in the nointervention group (aOR 0.44, 95% CI: 0.27–0.70; P < 0.0005). Pericardial

Soletti et al.

(Continued)

10.3389/fcvm.2022.1090102

TABLE 1 (Continued)

References	Journal (2020 IF)	Country	Type of procedure	Sample size (men, %)	No of patients per arm	Outcomes and results
Haddadzadeh et al. (16)	Acta Medica Iranica (0.26)	Iran	OPCABG	207 (142, 69%)	PP: 105 Control: 102	Main outcomes assessed POAF, pericardial effusion Assessment modalities Continuous telemetry + EKG, echocardiography Main findings No significant difference between the two groups regarding POAF or pericardial effusion.
Kaya et al. (17)	Kardiochirurgia i Torakochirurgia Polska (0.23)	Turkey	CABG	96 (77, 80%)	PP: 30 Control: 66	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusionAssessment modalitiesContinuous telemetry + EKG, echocardiographyMain findingsNo significant differences were found between the groups regarding POAF $(P = 0.392)$. The incidence of moderate to severe pericardial effusion in PPgroup was significantly lower than in the other groups on the 30thpost-operative day $(P = 0.028)$.
Kaya et al. (18)	Interactive CardioVascular and Thoracic Surgery (1.905)	Turkey	CABG	142 (118, 83%)	PP: 70 Control: 72	Main outcomes assessed POAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusion Assessment modalities Portable EKG telemetry, echocardiography. Not stated for pleural effusion Main findings POAF occurred in 27.78% of the cases in the open group and 8.57% of the patients in the closure group ($P = 0.003$). Difference in pericardial effusion favored the closure group ($P = 0.039$). No significant difference in pleural effusion between groups.
Kaya et al. (19)	Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon (1.827)	Turkey	CABG	210 (164, 78%)	PP: 103 Control: 107	Main outcomes assessed POAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusion Assessment modalities Portable EKG telemetry, echocardiography. Not stated for pleural effusion Main findings Statistically significant results were obtained in the amount of PE ($P = 0.034$ on POD 2; $P = 0.019$ on POD 5) and POAF ($P = 0.019$) in favor of the study group. No significant difference regarding pleural effusion.
Kaygin et al. (20)	The Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine (1.848)	Turkey	CABG	415 (212, 51%)	PP: 213 Control: 212	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusionAssessment modalitiesNot stated for POAF and pleural effusion. Echocardiography.Main findingsPOAF ($P < 0.0001$), early ($P < 0.001$) and late pericardial effusion ($P < 0.0001$) occurred more frequently in the control group compared with thePP group. PP was associated with an increase in pleural effusion requiring intervention ($P = 0.002$).

(Continued)

10.3389/fcvm.2022.1090102

frontiersin.org

TABLE 1 (Continued)

References	Journal (2020 IF)	Country	Type of procedure	Sample size (men, %)	No of patients per arm	Outcomes and results
Kongmalai et al. (21)	Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand (0.09)	Thailand	CABG	20 (10, 50%)	PP: 10 Control: 10	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusionAssessment modalitiesContinuous telemetry + EKG, echocardiography, chest X-rays.Main findingsNo significant differences in POAF ($P = 1$) and early pericardial effusion ($P = 1$). The incidence of pleural effusion was higher in the PP group ($P = 0.028$).
Kuralay et al. (22)	The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery (5.209)	Turkey	CABG	200 (150, 75%)	PP: 100 Control: 100	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusionAssessment modalitiesContinuous telemetry + EKG, echocardiography, Not stated for pleuraleffusion.Main findingsPOAF developed in 6 patients (6%) in PP group and in 34 patients (34%) inthe control group ($P = 0.0000007$). The incidence of early and latepericardial effusion was significantly more frequent in the control group ($P < 0.001$ for both). No statistically significant difference was found regardingpleural effusion.
Sadeghpour et al. (23)	Multidisciplinary Cardiovascular Annals (NA)	Iran	CABG	80 (63, 79%)	PP: 40 Control: 40	Main outcomes assessedPericardial effusionAssessment modalitiesEchocardiographyMain findingsEarly pericardial effusion was more frequent in the control group (45 vs. $15\%; P = 0.01$). Late pericardial effusion was also more frequent in the control group (57 vs. $15\%; P = 0.01$).
Zhao et al. (24)	Journal of International Medical Research (1.671)	China	CABG/ Valve surgery	458 (263, 57%)	PP: 228 Control: 230	Main outcomes assessedPOAF, pericardial effusion, pleural effusionAssessment modalitiesNot stated for POAF. EchocardiographyMain findingsThe incidence of POAF in the PP group was significantly lower comparedwith the control group ($P = 0.044$). The incidence of small ($P = 0.004$) andmoderate-to-large ($P = 0.02$) pericardial effusion in the PP group wassignificantly lower than in the control group. The incidence ofmoderate-to-large pleural effusion in the PP group was significantly higherthan in the control group ($P = 0.015$).

aOR, adjusted odds ratio; AVR, aortic valve replacement; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; CT, computerized tomography; EKG, electrocardiography; IF, impact factor; NA, not available; NR, not reported; OPCABG, off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting; PO, postoperative day; POAF, postoperative atrial fibrillation; PP, posterior pericardiotomy; RCT, randomized controlled trial; SD, standard deviation.

95

Study	Experin Events	nental Total	Co Events	ontrol Total	Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI	Weight (common)	Weight (random)
Asimakopoulos 1997	12	50	9	50	3	1.44	[0.55; 3.80]	3.7%	5.7%
Cakalagaoglu 2012	14	50	12	50		1.23	[0.50; 3.02]	4.3%	6.1%
Kongmalay 2015	4	10	4	10		1.00	[0.17; 5.98]	1.1%	2.7%
Bakhshandeh 2009	53	205	59	205	3 - <mark></mark>	0.86	[0.56; 1.33]	18.2%	8.8%
Haddadzadeh 2013	5	105	6	102		0.80	[0.24; 2.71]	2.3%	4.5%
Kaya 2014	6	30	18	66		0.67	[0.23; 1.90]	3.2%	5.3%
Arbatli 2003	7	54	12	59		0.58	[0.21; 1.61]	3.3%	5.5%
Zhao 2014	20	228	35	230	_ i	0.54	[0.30; 0.96]	10.1%	8.0%
Gaudino 2021	37	212	66	208		0.45	[0.29; 0.72]	16.3%	8.7%
Kaya 2016	15	103	30	107		0.44	[0.22; 0.87]	7.2%	7.3%
Fawzy 2015	13	100	30	100	_ i	0.35	[0.17; 0.72]	6.6%	7.1%
Ekim 2006	5	50	15	50	_ ;	0.26	[0.09; 0.78]	2.8%	5.0%
Kaya 2015	6	70	20	72	_	0.24	[0.09; 0.65]	3.6%	5.6%
Farsak 2002	7	75	24	75	<u> </u>	0.22	[0.09; 0.55]	4.1%	6.0%
Kaygin 2011	14	213	62	212	į	0.17	[0.09; 0.32]	9.0%	7.7%
Kuralay 1999	6	100	34	100		0.12	[0.05; 0.31]	4.0%	5.9%
Common effect model Random effects model		1655		1696	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	0.47 0.45	[0.39; 0.56] [0.32; 0.64]	100.0%	
$I^2 = 66\%, p < 0.01$									
					0.1 0.5 1 2 10 PD Control				
					POAF				

FIGURE 1

Forest plot for postoperative atrial fibrillation. CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio; POAF, postoperative atrial fibrillation; PP, posterior pericardiotomy.

	Experim	nental	Co	ontrol				Weight	Weigh
Study	Events	Total	Events	Total	Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI	(common)	(random
Kongmalay 2015	7	10	6	10	÷-+•	1.56	[0.24; 9.91]	1.4%	4.6%
Kaya 2016	19	103	24	107	: -	0.78	[0.40; 1.53]	10.8%	7.3%
Haddadzadeh 2013	11	105	14	102		0.74	[0.32; 1.71]	7.0%	7.0%
Gaudino 2021	26	212	45	208		0.51	[0.30; 0.86]	17.8%	7.6%
Kaya 2015	21	70	34	72		0.48	[0.24; 0.95]	10.4%	7.3%
Arbatli 2003	14	54	28	59	-	0.39	[0.18; 0.86]	7.8%	7.19
Ekim 2006	6	50	21	50	- -	0.19	[0.07; 0.52]	4.7%	6.6%
Kaygin 2011	10	213	46	212		0.18	[0.09; 0.36]	9.7%	7.3%
Farsak 2002	8	75	32	75	-	0.16	[0.07: 0.38]	6.6%	6.9%
Fawzy 2015	15	100	53	100	#	0.16	[0.08; 0.31]	10.8%	7.3%
Erdil 2005	4	50	19	50		0.14	[0.04: 0.46]	3.6%	6.2%
Zhao 2014	4	228	27	230	- 	0.13	[0.05; 0.39]	4.3%	6.5%
Kaya 2014	0	30	7	66		0.13	[0.01; 2.35]	0.6%	2.8%
Sadeghpour 2011	2	40	23	40		0.04	[0.01; 0.18]	2.0%	5.3%
Kuralay 1999	1	100	54	100	i	0.01	[0.00; 0.06]	1.2%	4.3%
Cakalagaoglu 2012	0	50	30	50	i	0.01	10.00: 0.11	0.6%	2.9%
Bakhshandeh 2009	0	205	67	205		0.00	[0.00; 0.08]	0.6%	3.0%
Common effect model		1695		1736	6	0.29	[0.23; 0.36]	100.0%	-
Random effects model						0.19	[0.10; 0.34]		100.0%
$r = r_{0.01}$				(0.001 0.1 1 10 100	0			
					PP Control				
					Early pericardial effusion				

Study	Incidence Rate Ratio	IRR	95%-CI	Weight (common)	Weight (random)
Arbatli 2003 Kongmalay 2015 Kaya 2015 Kaya 2016		1.09 [0 1.00 [0 0.64 [0 0.40 [0	.02; 54.11] .02; 45.63] .22; 1.87] .18; 0.93]	1.6% 1.6% 20.8% 34.5%	3.2% 3.3% 14.5% 16.4%
Kaya 2014 Ekim 2006 Cakalagaoglu 2012 Gaudino 2021		0.17 [0 0.14 [0 0.11 [0	0.01; 2.91] 0.01; 2.69] 0.01; 2.01]	2.9% 2.8% 2.8%	5.3% 5.0% 5.1% 5.2%
Farsak 2002 Kaygin 2011 Erdil 2005		0.03 [0 0.07 [0 0.06 [0 0.05 [0	0.00; 1.15] 0.02; 0.26] 0.00; 0.88]	2.9% 11.9% 3.0%	5.3% 11.9% 5.3%
Sadeghpour 2011 Kuralay 1999 Bakhshandeh 2009		0.05 [0 0.02 [0 0.01 [0	0.01; 0.35] 0.00; 0.38] 0.00; 0.22]	6.2% 3.1% 3.1%	8.6% 5.4% 5.4%
Common effect model Random effects model $I^2 = 39\%$, $p = 0.07$		0.21 [0	.13; 0.34] .07; 0.30]	100.0% 	100.0%
	PP Control Late pericardial effusi	on			
FIGURE 3 Forest plot for late pericardial effus	sion. CI, confidence interval; IRR, incidence	e rate ratio; PP, pos	terior pericardio	tomy.	

Outcome	No. of studies	Events	Patients	Effect estimate (95% CI), <i>P</i> -value	Heterogeneity (I ² , <i>P</i> -value)
POAF	16	660	3,351	OR = 0.45 (0.32–0.64), P < 0.0001	65.8%, <i>P</i> < 0.001
Operative mortality	11	33	2,123	RD = -0.002 (-0.01 to 0.01), P = 0.66	0.0%, P = 0.99
Early pericardial effusion	17	678	3,431	OR = 0.19 (0.10-0.34), <i>P</i> < 0.0001	76.3%, <i>P</i> < 0.001
Late pericardial effusion	14	-	2,566	IRR = $0.14 (0.07 - 0.30), P < 0.0001$	38.5%, <i>P</i> = 0.07
Chest drainage	14	-	2,019	SMD = $0.10 (-0.13 \text{ to } 0.34), P = 0.4$	86.3%, <i>P</i> < 0.001
Cardiac tamponade	15	62	3,144	RD = -0.02 (-0.04 to -0.01), P = 0.001	55.5%, <i>P</i> = 0.01
Pleural effusion	11	468	2,338	OR = 1.42 (1.06-1.90), P = 0.02	38.4%, <i>P</i> = 0.09
Hospital LOS*	10	-	1,641	SMD = -0.11 (-0.29 to 0.06), $P = 0.21$	60.7%, <i>P</i> = 0.01
ICU LOS*	6	-	1,243	SMD = $0.06 (-0.15 \text{ to } 0.27), P = 0.57$	62.9%, <i>P</i> = 0.02
Pulmonary complications	12	191	2,373	OR = 0.82 (0.56-1.19), P = 0.30	7.1%, P = 0.38
Need for IABP	9	105	2,096	RD = 0.003 (-0.01 to 0.02), P = 0.62	0.0%, <i>P</i> = 0.97
Re-exploration for bleeding	14	100	2,944	OR = 0.78 (0.52 to 1.19), P = 0.25	0.0%, <i>P</i> = 0.93

TABLE 2	Summary of the	primary and k	ey secondary	outcomes
---------	----------------	---------------	--------------	----------

*Measured in days. CI, Confidence interval; IABP, intra-aortic balloon pump; ICU, intensive care unit; IRR, incidence rate ratio; LOS, length of stay; OR, odds ratio; POAF, postoperative atrial fibrillation; RD, risk difference; SMD, standardized mean difference.

TABLE 3 Results of meta-regression f	for the primary outcome.
--------------------------------------	--------------------------

Variables	Beta \pm SE, <i>P</i> -value
Age	$0.0675 \pm 0.0486, P = 0.17$
Female sex	$-0.0039 \pm 0.0116, P = 0.74$
Diabetes	$-0.0105 \pm 0.0120, P = 0.39$
Dyslipidemia	$0.0146 \pm 0.0474, P = 0.76$
Smoking	$-0.0178 \pm 0.0157, P = 0.26$
Hypertension	$0.0141 \pm 0.0133, P = 0.29$
CABG	$-0.0099 \pm 0.0102, P = 0.33$
Valve surgery	$0.0125 \pm 0.0084, P = 0.14$
Aortic valve replacement	$0.0001 \pm 0.0153, P = 0.99$

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; SE, standard error.

No evidence of publication bias was observed based on the Egger's intercept test (P = 0.75) (Supplementary Figure 12).

3.4. Meta-regression

Meta-regression failed to identify any significant association between the tested variables and the OR for the POAF (Table 3).

4. Discussion

This meta-analysis of 18 studies found that patients with PP had a significantly lower incidence of POAF, early and late pericardial effusion, and cardiac tamponade; there was a significantly higher incidence of pleural effusion, but not an increased risk of pulmonary complications. No other differences in outcomes were found.

POAF is the most frequent complication following cardiac surgery, occurring in approximately one third of the patients (1, 28). POAF has been associated with extended postoperative LOS and increased hospital costs (28), as well as with major adverse postoperative outcomes including renal and heart failure, stroke, and mortality (4, 28, 29). Despite many attempts with medical therapy to prevent POAF, its incidence remains high (30). PP provides a safe and virtually zero-cost surgical alternative for the prevention of POAF. Notably, there has been only one report of complications related to PP (graft herniation) (31), and no there are no reports on damage to the phrenic nerve or the esophagus during PP. None of the studies included in this meta-analysis reported phrenic nerve or esophageal injuries.

Since the procedure was first described by Mulay et al. (6), several RCTs have tried to shed light on the relationship between PP and POAF (7–11, 13–22, 24, 32). However, most of these studies were limited in methodological quality and inadequately powered to yield statistically significant results. This prompted our group to perform the first high-quality, adequately powered RCT on the effect of posterior pericardiotomy on POAF, the Posterior Left Pericardiotomy for the prevention of AtriaL Fibrillation after Cardiac Surgery (PALACS) trial (15), which included 420 cardiac surgery patients undergoing CABG, AVR, and/or aortic surgery, notably excluding mitral and tricuspid surgeries.

In the PALACS trial, we found a significantly lower incidence of POAF among patients randomized to PP (17 vs. 32%, P = 0.0007), and a lower incidence of postoperative pericardial effusion in the PP group (12 vs. 21%, relative risk 0.58, 95% CI 0.37–0.91), but no difference in the incidence of cardiac tamponade or pleural effusion was found. In this metaanalysis, both outcomes reached statistical significance, with the incidence of cardiac tamponade being lower in the PP group and the incidence of pleural effusion being higher in PP patients. An important finding of the present analysis is that despite the higher incidence of pleural effusion, patients with PP did not have an increased risk of pulmonary complications.

This study has the following limitations. Although our systematic review identified the best available evidence evaluating the impact of PP on postoperative outcomes, the present study cannot control for individual biases of the included studies. Additionally, there was variability in POAF detection methods, perioperative management, PP technique, and in the definition and reporting of outcomes of interest. More importantly, clinical outcomes of relevance to POAF like stroke and transient ischemic attack (TIA) were not reported in most studies (88.9%) and could not be pooled for analysis.

To conclude, our meta-analysis of 18 studies found that PP is associated with a lower incidence of POAF, pericardial effusion, and cardiac tamponade, but increased incidence of pleural effusion.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

GS, MG, and TS : concept and design. GS and MD: systematic search. GS and RP-O: drafting the article. MR, AD, and MG: statistics. GS, RP-O, BB, MY, and DS: data collection. All authors analyzed the data interpretation, critical revision of the article, and approval of the article.

Funding

LH was supported by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute T32HL160520–01A1.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. LaPar DJ, Speir AM, Crosby IK, Fonner E, Brown M, Rich JB, et al. Postoperative atrial fibrillation significantly increases mortality, hospital readmission, and hospital costs. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2014) 98:527–33. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.03.039

2. Greenberg JW, Lancaster TS, Schuessler RB, Melby SJ. Postoperative atrial fibrillation following cardiac surgery: A persistent complication. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2017) 52:665–72. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx039

3. Taha A, Nielsen SJ, Bergfeldt L, Ahlsson A, Friberg L, Björck S, et al. New-onset atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass grafting and long-term outcome: A population-based nationwide study from the SWEDEHEART registry. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2021) 10:e017966. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.120.017966

4. St-Onge S, Perrault LP, Demers P, Boyle EM, Gillinov AM, Cox J, et al. Pericardial blood as a trigger for postoperative atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2018) 105:321–8. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2017.07.045

5. Gaudino M, Di Franco A, Rong LQ, Cao D, Pivato CA, Soletti GJ, et al. Pericardial effusion provoking atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery: JACC review topic of the week. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2022) 79:2529–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2022.04.029

 Mulay A, Kirk AJ, Angelini GD, Wisheart JD, Hutter JA. Posterior pericardiotomy reduces the incidence of supra-ventricular arrhythmias following coronary artery bypass surgery. *Eur J Cardio-Thorac Surg.* (1995) 9:150– 2. doi: 10.1016/S1010-7940(05)80063-6

7. Arbatli H, Demirsoy E, Aytekin S, Rizaoglu E, Unal M, Yagan N, et al. The role of posterior pericardiotomy on the incidence of atrial fibrillation after coronary revascularization. *J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino).* (2003) 44:713–7.

8. Asimakopoulos G, Della Santa R, Taggart DP. Effects of posterior pericardiotomy on the incidence of atrial fibrillation and chest drainage after coronary revascularization: A prospective randomized trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (1997) 113:797–9. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5223(97)70242-3

9. Bakhshandeh AR, Salehi M, Radmehr H, Sattarzadeh R, Nasr AR, Sadeghpour AH. Postoperative pericardial effusion and posterior pericardiotomy: Related? *Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann.* (2009) 17:477–9. doi: 10.1177/0218492309341787

10. Cakalagaoglu C, Koksal C, Baysal A, Alici G, Ozkan B, Boyacioglu K, et al. The use of posterior pericardiotomy technique to prevent postoperative pericardial effusion in cardiac surgery. *Heart Surg Forum.* (2012) 15:E84–89. doi: 10.1532/HSF98.20111128

11. Ekim H, Kutay V, Hazar A, Akbayrak H, Başel H, Tuncer M. Effects of posterior pericardiotomy on the incidence of pericardial effusion and atrial fibrillation after coronary revascularization. *Med Sci Monit Int Med J Exp Clin Res.* (2006) 12:CR431–434.

12. Erdil N, Nisanoglu V, Kosar F, Erdil FA, Cihan HB, Battaloglu B. Effect of posterior pericardiotomy on early and late pericardial effusion after valve replacement. *J Card Surg.* (2005) 20:257–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8191.2005.200375.x

13. Farsak B, Günaydin S, Tokmakoglu H, Kandemir O, Yorgancioglu C, Zorlutuna Y. Posterior pericardiotomy reduces the incidence of supra-ventricular arrhythmias and pericardial effusion after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Eur J Cardio-Thorac Surg.* (2002) 22:278–81. doi: 10.1016/S1010-7940(02)00259-2

14. Fawzy H, Elatafy E, Elkassas M, Elsarawy E, Morsy A, Fawzy A. Can posterior pericardiotomy reduce the incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fcvm.2022.1090102/full#supplementary-material

after coronary artery bypass grafting? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. (2015) 21:488–91. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivv190

15. Gaudino M, Sanna T, Ballman KV, Robinson NB, Hameed I, Audisio K, et al. Posterior left pericardiotomy for the prevention of atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery: an adaptive, single-centre, single-blind, randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet Lond Engl.* (2021) 398:2075–83. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02 490-9

16. Haddadzadeh M, Motavaselian M, Rahimianfar AA, Forouzannia SK, Emami M, Barzegar K. The effect of posterior pericardiotomy on pericardial effusion and atrial fibrillation after off-pump coronary artery bypass graft. *Acta Med Iran.* (2015) 53:57–61.

17. Kaya M, Iyigün T, Yazici P, Melek Y, Göde S, Güler S, et al. The effects of posterior pericardiotomy on pericardial effusion, tamponade, and atrial fibrillation after coronary artery surgery. *Kardiochirurgia Torakochirurgia Pol Pol J Cardio-Thorac Surg.* (2014) 11:113–8. doi: 10.5114/kitp.2014.43835

18. Kaya M, Satilmişoglu MH, Bugra AK, Kyaruzi M, Kafa Ü, Utkusavaş A, et al. Impact of the total pericardial closure using bilateral trap door incision and pericardial cavity intervention on outcomes following coronary artery bypass grafting: a randomized, controlled, parallel-group prospective study. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* (2015) 21:727–33. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivv259

19. Kaya M, Utkusavaş A, Erkanli K, Güler S, Kyaruzi M, Birant A, et al. The preventive effects of posterior pericardiotomy with intrapericardial tube on the development of pericardial effusion, atrial fibrillation, and acute kidney injury after coronary artery surgery: A prospective, randomized, controlled trial. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2016) 64:217–24. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-15 48737

20. Kaygin MA, Dag O, Güneş M, Senocak M, Limandal HK, Aslan U, et al. Posterior pericardiotomy reduces the incidence of atrial fibrillation, pericardial effusion, and length of stay in hospital after coronary artery bypasses surgery. *Tohoku J Exp Med.* (2011) 225:103–8. doi: 10.1620/tjem.225.103

21. Kongmalai P, Karunasumetta C, Kuptarnond C, Prathanee S, Taksinachanekij S, Intanoo W, et al. The posterior pericardiotomy. Does it reduce the incidence of postoperative atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass grafting? *J Med Assoc Thail Chotmaihet Thangphaet.* (2014) 97:S97–104.

22. Kuralay E, Ozal E, Demirkili U, Tatar H. Effect of posterior pericardiotomy on postoperative supraventricular arrhythmias and late pericardial effusion (posterior pericardiotomy). *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (1999) 118:492–5. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5223(99)70187-X

23. Sadeghpour A, Baharestani B, Ghotbabady Ghasemzade B, Baghaei R, Givhtaje N. Influences of posterior pericardiotomy in early and late postoperative effusion of pericardium. *Iran J Card Surg.* (2011) 3:e8736.

24. Zhao J, Cheng Z, Quan X, Zhao Z. Does posterior pericardial window technique prevent pericardial tamponade after cardiac surgery? *J Int Med Res.* (2014) 42:416–26. doi: 10.1177/0300060513515436

25. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 10:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

26. Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ.* (2011) 343:d5928. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d5928 27. Lau C, Soletti GJ, Olaria RP, Myers P, Girardi LN, Gaudino M. Posterior left pericardiotomy for the prevention of atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery. *Multimed Man Cardiothorac Surg.* (2021). doi: 10.1510/mmcts.2021.083

28. Gillinov AM, Bagiella E, Moskowitz AJ, Raiten JM, Groh MA, Bowdish ME, et al. Rate Control versus Rhythm Control for Atrial Fibrillation after Cardiac Surgery. *N Engl J Med.* (2016) 374:1911–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1602002

29. Eikelboom R, Sanjanwala R, Le ML, Yamashita MH, Arora RC. Postoperative Atrial Fibrillation After Cardiac Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2021) 111:544–54. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2020.05.104

30. Dobrev D, Aguilar M, Heijman J, Guichard JB, Nattel S. Postoperative atrial fibrillation: mechanisms, manifestations and management. *Nat Rev Cardiol*. (2019) 16:417–36. doi: 10.1038/s41569-019-0166-5

31. Yorgancioglu C. An unusual experience with posterior pericardiotomy. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2000) 18:727. doi: 10.1016/S1010-7940(00)00586-8

32. Bolourian AA, Monfared MB, Gachkar L, Ghomeisi M, Shahzamani M, Foroughi M, et al. The preventive effects of posterior pericardiotomy on atrial fibrillation after elective coronary artery bypass grafting. *Tehran Univ Med J.* (2011) 69:29–35.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Giuseppe Gatti, Azienda Sanitaria Universitaria Giuliano Isontina, Italy

REVIEWED BY Guido Ascione, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Michele Di Mauro, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands

*CORRESPONDENCE Gianni D. Angelini ⊠ G.D.Angelini@bristol.ac.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Heart Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 22 October 2022 ACCEPTED 12 December 2022 PUBLISHED 09 January 2023

CITATION

Chan J, Dimagli A, Fudulu DP, Sinha S, Narayan P, Dong T and Angelini GD (2023) Trend and early outcomes in isolated surgical aortic valve replacement in the United Kingdom. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:1077279. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1077279

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Chan, Dimagli, Fudulu, Sinha, Narayan, Dong and Angelini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Trend and early outcomes in isolated surgical aortic valve replacement in the United Kingdom

Jeremy Chan¹, Arnaldo Dimagli¹, Daniel P. Fudulu¹, Shubhra Sinha¹, Pradeep Narayan^{1,2}, Tim Dong¹ and Gianni D. Angelini^{1*}

¹Bristol Heart Institute, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom, ²NH Rabindranath Tagore International Institute of Cardiac Sciences, Kolkata, India

Objective: Surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) is traditionally the goldstandard treatment in patients with aortic valve disease. The advancement of transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) provides an alternative treatment to patients with high surgical risks and those who had previous cardiac surgery. We aim to evaluate the trend, early clinical outcomes, and the choice of prosthesis use in isolated SAVR in the United Kingdom.

Methods: All patients (n = 79,173) who underwent elective or urgent isolated surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) from 1996 to 2018 were extracted from the National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit database. Patients who underwent additional procedures and emergency or salvage SAVR were excluded from the study. Trend and clinical outcomes were investigated in the whole cohort. Patients who had previous cardiac surgery, highrisk groups (EuroSCORE II >4%), and predicted/observed mortality were evaluated. Furthermore, the use of biological prostheses in five different age groups, that are <50, 50–59, 60–69, 70–79, and >80, was investigated. Clinical outcomes between the use of mechanical and biological aortic valve prostheses in patients <65 years old were analyzed.

Results: The number of isolated SAVR increased across the study period with an average of 4,661 cases performed annually after 2010. The in-hospital/30-day mortality rate decreased from 5.28% (1996) to 1.06% (2018), despite an increasing trend in EuroSCORE II. The number of isolated SAVR performed in octogenarians increased from 596 to 2007 (the first year when TAVR was introduced in the UK) to 872 in 2015 and then progressively decreased to 681 in 2018. Biological prosthesis usage increased across all age groups, particularly in the 60–69 group, from 24.59% (1996) to 81.87% (2018). There were no differences in short-term outcomes in patients <65 years old who received biological or mechanical prostheses.

Conclusion: Surgical aortic valve replacement remains an effective treatment for patients with isolated aortic valve disease with a low in-hospital/30-day mortality rate. The number of patients with high-risk and octogenarians who

underwent isolated SAVR and those requiring redo surgery has reduced since 2016, likely due to the advancement in TAVR. The use of biological aortic prostheses has increased significantly in recent years in all age groups.

KEYWORDS

aortic valve, trend, surgical aortic replacement, transcatheter and surgical aortic valve replacement, United Kingdom

Introduction

Surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) has been the treatment for patients with aortic valve disease since it was first performed in 1960 (1, 2), with biological and mechanical prostheses most commonly used to replace the native diseased valve. The long-term outcome and freedom from structural valve degeneration for SAVR remain excellent (3, 4). However, the choice of the ideal valve in relation to the specific age group remains controversial.

The recent advancement of transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) provides an alternative treatment. The PARTNER 1, 2, and 3 trials have shown the benefits of TAVR in all patients with aortic stenosis, regardless of surgical risk (5–7). TAVR also provides an alternative to patients with the previous SAVR/TAVR with an option of valve-in-valve transcatheter aortic valve replacement (ViV TAVR). This has been suggested to result in a reduction in mechanical valve use worldwide (8, 9).

We aim to evaluate the trend and clinical outcomes in isolated SAVR in the United Kingdom and also focus on the volume of SAVR in the high-risk cohort, redo surgery, and the choice of prosthesis use. Finally, early clinical outcomes in patients who received mechanical or biological prostheses under the age of 65 were compared.

Materials and methods

All patients undergoing elective or urgent isolated SAVR in the United Kingdom from 1996 to 2018 were extracted from the National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit (NACSA) database. The NACSA database prospectively collects data on all major heart operations conducted on National Health Service patients in the United Kingdom since April 1996. The definitions of database variables were used, and a description of the database was previously described (10).

Patients were divided into five different age groups: less than 50 years old, 50–59 years old, 60–69 years old, 70–79 years old, and above 80 years old. The surgical volume and choice of aortic

valve prostheses (biological vs. mechanical) across the five age groups were investigated. The choice of aortic valve prostheses used in patients with chronic kidney disease undergoing dialysis was also evaluated (As defined in one of the three categories-1. dialysis for acute renal failure: onset within 6 weeks of cardiac surgery, 2. dialysis for chronic renal failure: onset more than 6 weeks prior to cardiac surgery, and 3. no dialysis but preoperative acute renal failure (anuria or oliguria <10 ml/h). The trend in patients who underwent previous cardiac surgery and the volume of SAVR performed in patients with low- (<2%), intermediate- (2-4%), and high-risk (>4%) as defined by the EuroSCORE II was also evaluated (11). The observed mortality was defined as 30-day or in-hospital mortality after the index operation. The expected mortality was calculated using the EuroSCORE II. Moreover, the early clinical outcomes in patients who received mechanical or biological prostheses under the age of 65 were compared using propensity score matching. Sixtyfive was selected as a cutoff based on the 2020 ACC/AHA Guideline for the Management of Patients with Valvular Heart Disease (12).

Patients who underwent additional procedures, major aortic surgery, emergency, or salvage SAVR were excluded from the study. Missing data in the choice of prostheses were also excluded in this study (n = 3,309, 4.18%).

Ethics statement

The study is part of a research project approved by the Health Research Authority (HRA) and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW). As the study included retrospective interrogation of the NACSA database, the need for individual patient consent was waived off (HCRW) (IRAS ID: 278171) in accordance with the research guidance. The study was performed in accordance with the ethical standards as laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments. The General Data Protection Regulations were strictly followed for the use of all data.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are reported as mean and standard deviation (SD). Categorical variables are reported as frequencies

Abbreviations: NACSA, National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit; PSM, propensity score matching; SAVR, surgical aortic valve replacement; TAVR, transcatheter aortic valve replacement; ViV TAVR, valve-in-valve transcatheter aortic valve replacement.

and percentages. Pearson's chi-squared test, Wilcoxon rank-sum test, and one-way/multi-factor analysis of variance were used to compare two categorical variables, for comparison between two means of continuous, independent samples, and to compare between three continuous variables, respectively.

Propensity score matching (PSM) was performed to create a quasi-experimental design by balancing measured confounding factors between the two groups. A 1:1 nearest neighbor matching without replacement with a caliper width of 0.2 standard deviations of the logit of the propensity scores was performed using the pre-operative characteristics listed in **Table 3**. Missing continuous variables data (left ventricular ejection fraction and body mass index) were imputed with the median value in the data after the application the of exclusion criteria listed above. After matching, all standardized mean differences for the covariates were checked. The adequate balance was set to be below 0.1.

The effectiveness of the PSM was visualized with a Love plot to report the covariate balance with all variables before and after the matching. This is shown in the **Supplementary Figure 1**. Binary logistic regression was performed using the baseline patient demographics and comorbidities to predict factors associated with the use of biological aortic valve prostheses. The results are demonstrated as odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI). A *P*-value of < 0.05 is deemed statistically significant.

R (Version 4.1.1) and R Studio (Version 1.4.1103, RStudio, PBC) were used to perform the statistical analysis. The following packages were used: tidyverse, MatchIt, sjPlot, and ggplot2. Graphs and tables were created using R Studio (Version 1.4.1103, RStudio, PBC) and Microsoft Office 365 (Version 16.0.14026, 64 bits).

Results

A total of 79,173 patients underwent isolated SAVR in the study period. The mean age was 67.99 (SD 12.48) years old, and 32,799 (41%) were female. The mean BMI was 28.35 (SD 5.64), and LVEF was 53.60 (SD 10.89). About 81% (n = 64,457) were performed in an elective setting. The median post-operative length of stay was 6 days (IQR 5–7 days). The most common surgical incision was median sternotomy (88.7%), followed by partial/hemisternotomy (9.05%). In patients who underwent minimally access SAVR, 4.9% required conversion to median sternotomy.

Etiology

The most common etiology was aortic stenosis (66.8%) followed by mixed aortic stenosis and regurgitation (18.3%) and aortic regurgitation (14.9%). The native valve pathology

was most likely due to degeneration (76.1%) followed by congenital (9.4%). Infective endocarditis and rheumatic heart disease accounted for 3.6 and 2.3% of total cases, respectively.

Predicted/observed mortality

The number of isolated SAVR increased across the study period with an average of 4,661 cases performed annually after 2010 (**Figure 1**). The in-hospital/30-day mortality rate decreased from 3.28% (2000) to 1.06% (2018), despite an increasing trend in EuroSCORE II. The observed/expected mortality has significantly reduced over the study period and was below 1.0 since 2011. The trend of observed and expected mortality rates is shown in **Figure 2**.

Isolated SAVR in octogenarians, intermediate- and high-risk groups, and patients who underwent previous cardiac surgery

The number of isolated SAVR in octogenarians increased from 596 to 2007 (the first year when TAVR was introduced in the UK) to 872 in 2015. Since then, the number of isolated SAVR has reduced to 823, 752, and 681 in 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively.

There was an increasing trend of patients with intermediaterisk who underwent isolated SAVR, particularly after 2010 (>20% of all isolated SAVR). In patients with high-risk, a downward trend was observed since 2016. Redo-isolated SAVR peaked in 2007 (14.26% of all isolated SAVR performed) and gradually declined to 8.27% in 2018 (**Figure 3**).

Choice of aortic valve prostheses

Biological aortic prosthesis use increased across all age groups from 1996 to 2018. Nearly, all patients above 70 s



Number of isolated surgical aortic valve replacement performed in the United Kingdom from 1996 to 2018 recorded in the national database.



received a biological prosthesis since 2010 (98.09 and 99.52% in the 70–79 and >80 groups, respectively in 2018). The increase in the adoption of biological prostheses was most apparent in the 60–69 groups, from 24.59% to 1996 to 81.87% in 2018. There was also increased use of bioprostheses in patients below the age of 50 (28% in 2018) (**Figure 4**).

Choice of aortic valve prostheses in patients with chronic kidney disease requiring dialysis

Eighty-two patients had acute renal failure requiring dialysis within 6 weeks before SAVR; of these, 74.39% (n = 61)



received a mechanical prosthesis. In patients with chronic renal failure requiring long-term dialysis, 60.2% (n = 150) received a mechanical prosthesis. One hundred and four patients (85.95%) with acute renal failure who did not undergo dialysis prior to surgery received a mechanical prosthesis.

Factors predicting the use of biological aortic valve prostheses

Pre-operative characteristics including age, EuroSCORE II, and patients with pre-operative neurological dysfunction were more likely to receive a biological aortic valve prosthesis. On the other hand, female sex, patients with pre-operative atrial fibrillation and peripheral vascular disease were more likely to receive a mechanical prosthesis (Table 1).

Early clinical outcomes between biological and mechanical prosthesis in patients <65 years old

After propensity score matching, there were no differences between patients <65 years old who received either biological or mechanical aortic valve prostheses in mortality, return to the theater (including for bleeding and tamponade), postoperative neurological events, dialysis, and deep sternal wound infection. The aortic cross-clamp time and cardiopulmonary bypass time were lower in patients who received mechanical



Trend of the proportion of bioprostheses used (against mechanical prostheses) across all five age groups from 1996 to 2018 (dark blue: <50, orange: 50-59, gray: 60-69, yellow: 70-79, and pale blue: >80).

aortic valves (Table 2). The pre-operative characteristics are shown in Table 3.

Discussion

Our study demonstrated that SAVR remains an effective treatment with low mortality for patients with isolated aortic valve disease. The number of patients with high-risk, octogenarians undergoing isolated SAVR, and those requiring redo surgery has reduced in recent years, likely due to the

TABLE 1 Factors predicting the use of biological (age, LVEF, current smoker, EuroSCORE II, and neurological dysfunction) or mechanical (female sex, urgent operation, peripheral vascular disease, and pre-operative atrial fibrillation) prostheses (CI, confidence interval, BMI, body mass index, LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction, PVD, peripheral vascular disease, AF, atrial fibrillation).

Pre-operative characteristics	Odd ratios (95% Cl)	Р	
Age (year)	1.14 (1.14–1.14)	< 0.001	
Female sex	0.96 (0.91–1.00)	0.043	
BMI	1.00 (0.99–1.00)	0.137	
LVEF	1.02 (1.02–1.02)	< 0.001	
Urgent operation	0.83 (0.78–0.88)	<0.001	
Smoking (Current)	1.18 (1.09–1.27)	<0.001	
Pulmonary disease	0.94 (0.89–1.00)	0.061	
PVD	0.72 (0.65-0.79)	< 0.001	
Pre-operative AF	0.56 (0.53-0.60)	< 0.001	
Euro Score II	1.51 (1.46–1.57)	<0.001	
Neurological dysfunction	1.57 (1.35–1.82)	<0.001	

advancement in TAVR. The use of biological aortic prostheses has increased significantly in recent years in all age groups.

Despite the increment in EuroSCORE II, the overall mortality rate has continued a downward trend to 1.06% in 2018. The observed mortality rate has outperformed the predicted mortality rate by nearly 50% in 2016–2018. The mortality rate in the United Kingdom has further reduced since the last report (13) and other reports in the literature (9, 14).

The increased use of bioprostheses we observed reflects a similar trend in the literature. Jiménez-García et al. (9) reported a five-fold use of bioprostheses from 2001 to 2015 using the Spanish National Hospital Discharge Database, although the age groups were not specified. Alkhouli et al. (8) reported

TABLE 2 Intra- and post-operative outcomes of patients <65 years old receiving biological or mechanical prostheses.

Characteristics	Biological (n = 9,246)	Mechanical (n = 9,246)	<i>p</i> -value	
CPB (Minute)	99.17 (45.76)	95.71 (44.04)	<0.001	
XClamp (Minute)	74.16 (32.10)	72.11 (29.84)	< 0.001	
Mortality	81 (0.9%)	86 (0.9%)	0.73	
Return to theater	422 (5.2%)	428 (5.1%)	0.93	
Postop stroke			0.92	
TIA	34 (0.4%)	33 (0.4%)		
CVA	38 (0.5%)	42 (0.5%)		
Postop dialysis	107 (1.3%)	119 (1.4%)	0.62	
Postop DSWI	12 (0.5%)	15 (0.5%)	0.85	

Data are expressed as mean \pm SD. N/A, not applicable, OR, odds ratio, CI, confidence interval, XClamp, cross-clamp, CPB, cardiopulmonary bypass, DSWI, deep sternal wound infection, TIA, transient ischemic attack, CVA, cerebral vascular accident, Postop, post-operative.

Pre-operative characteristics	Pre PSM			Post PSM			
	Biological (n = 15,989)	Mechanical (n = 9,927)	<i>P</i> -value	Biological (n = 9,246)	Mechanical (n = 9,246)	SMD	<i>p</i> -value
Age (Year)	52.53 (9.69)	56.94 (9.01)	< 0.001	56.07 (8.54)	56.56 (9.15)	-0.0546	< 0.001
Gender (Male)	11,417 (71%)	6,774 (68%)	< 0.001	2,890 (31%)	2,875 (31%)	0.0035	0.81
BMI	28.70 (5.85)	28.79 (5.19)	0.14	28.63 (5.64)	28.85 (5.93)	0.0368	0.027
CCS grade			< 0.001				0.41
0	9,667 (60%)	6,143 (62%)		5,788 (63%)	5,662 (61%)	0.0281	
1	24, 18 (15%)	1,334 (13%)		1,218 (13%)	1,280 (14%)	-0.0197	
2	2,662 (17%)	1,750 (18%)		1,583 (17%)	1,635 (18%)	-0.0148	
3	967 (6.0%)	563 (5.7%)		527 (5.7%)	541 (5.9%)	-0.0065	
4	275 (1.7%)	137 (1.4%)		130 (1.4%)	128 (1.4%)	0.0019	
NYHA status			< 0.001				0.59
1	3,604 (23%)	1,805 (18%)		1,790 (19%)	1,743 (19%)	0.0132	
2	6,638 (42%)	4,325 (44%)		4,049 (44%)	4,011 (43%)	0.0083	
3	4,840 (30%)	3,205 (32%)		2,899 (31%)	2,965 (32%)	-0.0153	
4	907 (5.7%)	592 (6.0%)		508 (5.5%)	527 (5.7%)	-0.0087	
Preop AF	850 (5.3%)	404 (4.1%)	< 0.001	341 (3.7%)	388 (4.2%)	-0.0257	0.076
Previous MI			0.36				0.95
No	15,384 (96%)	9,516 (96%)		8,881 (96%)	8,884 (96%)	-0.0016	
1	555 (3.5%)	377 (3.8%)		336 (3.6%)	331 (3.6%)	0.0028	
2 Or more	50 (0.3%)	34 (0.3%)		29 (0.3%)	31 (0.3%)	-0.0037	
Previous PCI			< 0.001				0.86
No	15,728 (98%)	9,651 (97%)		9,022 (98%)	9,036 (98%)	-0.0092	
24 h before op	18 (0.1%)	13 (0.1%)		10 (0.1%)	11 (0.1%)	-0.0030	
same admission	9 (<0.1%)	420 (0.8%)		6 (<0.1%)	7 (<0.1%)	-0.0033	
Previous admission	234 (1.5%)	252 (2.5%)		208 (2.2%)	192 (2.1%)	0.0010	
LVEF	53.38 (6.09)	53.49 (713)	< 0.001	53.52 (6.21)	53.53 (6.92)	0.0021	< 0.001
Diabetes			< 0.001				0.79
No	14,547 (91%)	8,682 (87%)		8,167 (88%)	8,163 (88%)	0.0013	
Diet control	265 (1.7%)	219 (2.2%)		186 (2.0%)	199 (2.2%)	-0.0096	
Drug control	823 (5.1%)	722 (7.3%)		634 (6.9%)	613 (6.6%)	0.0087	
Insulin	354 (2.2%)	304 (3.1%)		259 (2.8%)	271 (2.9%)	-0.0075	
Smoking			0.004				0.65
Non-smoker	7,605 (48%)	4,516 (45%)		4,279 (46%)	4,221 (46%)	0.0126	
Ex-smoker	6,709 (38%)	3,956 (40%)		3,651 (39%)	3,709 (40%)	-0.0128	
Current smoker	2,305 (14%)	1,455 (15%)		1,316 (14%)	1,316 (14%)	0.00	
Pulmonary disease	1,704 (11%)	1,250 (13%)	<0.001	1,141 (12%)	1,111 (12%)	0.0098	
NeuroDys	271 (1.7%)	340 (3.4%)	<0.001	231 (2.5%)	225 (2.4%)	0.0036	0.78
PVD	677 (4.2%)	453 (4.6%)	0.21	400 (4.3%)	411 (4.4%)	-0.0057	0.69
Creatinine > 200	282 (1.8%)	200 (2.0%)	0.15	156 (1.7%)	172 (1.9%)	-0.0123	0.37
Euro Score II	1.00 (1.00)	1.18 (1.48)	< 0.001	1.06 (1.21)	1.09 (1.11)	-0.0194	< 0.001

TABLE 3 Pre-operative characteristics of the biological and mechanical prostheses in patients <65 years old before and after propensity score matching.

AF, atrial fibrillation, CCS, canadian cardiovascular society, PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention, BMI, body mass index, NYHA, New York Heart Association, LMS, left main stem disease, MI, myocardial infraction, LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction, NeuroDys, neurological dysfunction, ES2, EuroSCORE II, PSM, propensity score matching, SMD, standardized mean difference, PVD, peripheral vascular disease.

the age group-specific use of bio/mechanical prostheses in the United States using the Nationwide Inpatient Sample. They observed a significant reduction in the use of mechanical prostheses among patients aged 50–70 years between 2008 and 2017. This is similar to our finding in which more than 80% of patients aged 60–69 received a biological aortic valve. However, the use of mechanical valves remains higher in the 50–59 age group in the United Kingdom (58% in 2018) compared with 37 and 22% among the 56–60 and 50–55 age groups in the United States (8).

The durability of bioprostheses remains an important topic when used in young patients. The freedom from structural valve deterioration has been reported at 81.7% at 15 years and 52% at 20 years post-SAVR (15); hence, the need to repeat interventions should be taken into consideration. The advancement of TAVR, valve-in-valve transcatheter aortic valve replacement (ViV TAVR), has become an alternative treatment in patients with the previous SAVR. In addition to avoidance of anticoagulation, these may be the explanation for the observed reduction in the use of mechanical prostheses. However, a higher rate of prosthesis–patient mismatch, paravalvular leak, and coronary obstruction, in ViV TAVR compared to native valve TAVR has been reported (16, 17).

In our report, we observed a higher proportion of mechanical valves used in patients requiring dialysis. With the high risk of early structural deterioration in biological prostheses, there seems to be a preference for the use of the mechanical valve in this subgroup. This is in line with literature reports. Uzuka et al. (18) reported the risk of early structural deterioration in the biological valve to be approximately 50% at 6 years (compared to 0% in the control arm). Chi et al. (19) also demonstrated the survival benefits of implanting mechanical prostheses in patients with dialysis.

Currently, the European guideline recommends that patients above the age of 75 should consider TAVR after Heart/Valve team evaluation (20), while the American guideline had a cutoff of 65 years old (12). The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence recommends SAVR as a first-line interventions and TAVR for patients who are at high surgical risk or if surgery is unsuitable (21). However, with the results of the UK TAVI trials, the authors predicted that the volume of TAVR will continue to increase and exceed SAVR in the United Kingdom (22). Indeed, in the NACSA 2022 reports, the ratio of TAVR to SAVR rose from 1.2:1 to 2.3:1, which dramatically accelerated during the COVID-19 pandemic (23). The annual volume of TAVR has already exceeded SAVR in the USA and Germany (24, 25).

Our study demonstrated similar short-term outcomes regardless of the valve of choice in non-elderly patients, which echo the findings reported in the literature. Most studies showed the risk of re-intervention is higher in bioprostheses although the risk of major bleeding is lower. However, the longterm survival benefits remain controversial with some studies demonstrating a survival benefit with mechanical valves (26–28) while some did not (29–32). Although the survival benefits could be due to primary valve failure, which could be less of an issue due to the advancement of TAVR, particularly in patients who are at high risk for a redo of SAVR.

Limitations

There are several limitations of the study. First, the impact of SVAR on the clinical practice may not be fully evaluated, in a patient with extra pathology such as mitral valve/aortic/coronary artery disease requiring concomitant procedures. The choice of prostheses in these patients was not evaluated in this report. In addition, patients with aortic stenosis and coronary artery disease may undergo TAVR and their coronary artery disease managed at a later stage, while in the surgical arm, these patients will undergo both coronary artery bypass graft and SAVR at the same time. The morphology (bicuspid and tricuspid) was not coded in the database and remains an important limitation as patients with bicuspid valves are more likely to be referred for a SAVR. The lack of TAVR registry data to compare the volume of SAVR against TAVR is another major limitation.

The lack of pre- and post-operative precise echocardiographic data limited the sub-analysis for patients who underwent SAVR with different pathologies. In addition, the database did not collect certain post-operative outcomes and follow-up data; hence, information on pacemaker implantation, repeat valve intervention, endocarditis, and structural valve deterioration is not available. Finally, the database requires input from all healthcare professionals, missing data are seen in several non-mandatory items, and these are instead presented as a percentage. Overall, the mandatory items, particularly items essential for EuroSCORE II risk stratification, are well maintained with an acceptable rate (<5%) of missing data

Despite the application of PSM, it is possible that residual bias is present in the analysis since the propensity-matched model can account only for measured confounders and not for the unmeasured confounders (e.g., frailty).

Conclusion

Our data show that isolated SAVR is a safe and effective treatment with very low in-hospital mortality for patients with aortic valve disease. The advancement of transcatheter aortic valve replacement is the likely explanation for the reduction of SAVR in patients with high-risk, octogenarians, and those requiring redo surgery. The option of valve-in-valve transcatheter aortic valve replacement may also be one of the
causes for the observed use of biological aortic prostheses which has increased significantly in recent years in all age groups.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because Ethical approval required. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to NICOR, nicor.auditenguiries@nhs.net.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Health Research Authority (HRA) and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW) (IRAS ID: 278171). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

JC: conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, methodology, writing—original draft, and writing—reviewing and editing. AD: data curation, formal analysis, methodology, writing—original draft, and writing—reviewing and editing. TD: data curation, formal analysis, methodology, and writing reviewing and editing. DF, SS, and PN: conceptualization and writing—reviewing and editing. GA: conceptualization, supervision, methodology, and writing—reviewing and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Effler D, Favaloro R, Groves L. Heart valve replacement. clinical experience. Ann Thorac Surg. (1965) 1:4-24. doi: 10.1016/S0003-4975(10)66717-3

2. Vaslef S, Roberts W. Early descriptions of aortic valve stenosis. Am Heart J. (1993) 125:1465-74. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(93)91036-E

3. Rodriguez-Gabella T, Voisine P, Dagenais F, Mohammadi S, Perron J, Dumont E, et al. Long-Term outcomes following surgical aortic bioprostheses implantation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2018) 71:1401–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018. 01.059

4. Sharabiani M, Fiorentino F, Angelini G, Patel N. Long-term survival after surgical aortic valve replacement among patients over 65 years of age. *Open Heart.* (2016) 3:e000338. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2015-000338

5. Mack M, Leon M, Smith C, Miller D, Moses J, Tuzcu E, et al. 5-year outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve replacement or surgical aortic valve replacement for high surgical risk patients with aortic stenosis (PARTNER 1): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2015) 385:2477–84. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60308-7

6. Leon M, Smith C, Mack M, Makkar R, Svensson L, Kodali S, et al. Transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2016) 374:1609–20.

Funding

This study was supported by the British Heart Foundation (BHF grant code CH/1992027/7163) and the NIHR (National Institute for Health Research), Biomedical Research Centre at University Hospitals Bristol, and Weston NHS Foundation Trust and the University of Bristol.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fcvm.2022.1077279/full#supplementary-material

7. Mack M, Leon M, Thourani V, Makkar R, Kodali S, Russo M, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a balloon-expandable valve in low-risk patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2019) 380:1695–705. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1814052

8. Alkhouli M, Alqahtani F, Simard T, Pislaru S, Schaff H, Nishimura R. Predictors of use and outcomes of mechanical valve replacement in the United States (2008-2017). J Am Heart Assoc. (2021) 10:e019929. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.120.019929

9. Jimenez-Garcia R, Perez-Farinos N, Miguel-Diez J, Hernandez-Barrera V, Mendez-Bailon M, Jimenez-Trujillo I, et al. National trends in utilization and inhospital outcomes of surgical aortic valve replacements in Spain, 2001-2015. *Braz J Cardiovasc Surg.* (2020) 35:65–74. doi: 10.21470/1678-9741-2019-0181

10. Benedetto U, Sinha S, Dimagli A, Cooper G, Mariscalco G, Uppal R, et al. Decade-long trends in surgery for acute Type A aortic dissection in England: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet Reg Health Eur.* (2021) 7:100131. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100131

11. Paparella D, Guida P, Di Eusanio G, Caparrotti S, Gregorini R, Cassese M, et al. Risk stratification for in-hospital mortality after cardiac surgery: external validation of EuroSCORE II in a prospective regional registry. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2014) 46:840–8. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezt657

12. Otto C, Nishimura R, Bonow R, Carabello B, Erwin J III, Gentile F, et al. 2020 ACC/AHA guideline for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: executive summary: a Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association joint committee on clinical practice guidelines. *Circulation*. (2021) 143:e35–71. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000000932

13. Dunning J, Gao H, Chambers J, Moat N, Murphy G, Pagano D, et al. Aortic valve surgery: marked increases in volume and significant decreases in mechanical valve use-an analysis of 41,227 patients over 5 years from the Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery in Great Britain and Ireland National database. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2011) 142:776–82.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2011.04.048

14. Holzhey D, Mohr F, Walther T, Mollmann H, Beckmann A, Kotting J, et al. Current results of surgical aortic valve replacement: insights from the german aortic valve registry. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2016) 101:658–66. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015. 07.090

15. Foroutan F, Guyatt G, O'Brien K, Bain E, Stein M, Bhagra S, et al. Prognosis after surgical replacement with a bioprosthetic aortic valve in patients with severe symptomatic aortic stenosis: systematic review of observational studies. *BMJ*. (2016) 354:i5065. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i5065

16. Edelman J, Khan J, Rogers T, Shults C, Satler L, Ben D II, et al. Valve-in-Valve TAVR: state-of-the-art review. *Innovations*. (2019) 14:299–310. doi: 10.1177/1556984519858020

17. Hameed I, Ahmed A, Ullah N, Salemi A. Valve-in-valve transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a review of procedural details, safety, and clinical implications. *Cardiol Rev.* (2020) 28:291–4. doi: 10.1097/CRD.00000000000318

18. Uzuka T, Nakamura M, Sugiyama H, Kondo M, Sakata J. Durability of bioprosthetic valves in patients on dialysis. *Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2022) 28:334–41. doi: 10.5761/atcs.oa.21-00093

19. Chi K, Chiang M, Kang Y, Li S, Chan Y, Chen Y, et al. Mechanical or biological heart valve for dialysis-dependent patients? A meta-analysis. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2022) 163:2057–71.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2020.05.101

20. Vahanian A, Beyersdorf F, Praz F, Milojevic M, Baldus S, Bauersachs J, et al. 2021 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2022) 43:561–632. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezac209

21. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Heart Valve Disease Presenting in Adults: Investigation and Management.* London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2021).

22. Investigators U, Toff W, Hildick-Smith D, Kovac J, Mullen M, Wendler O, et al. Effect of transcatheter aortic valve implantation vs surgical aortic valve

replacement on all-cause mortality in patients with aortic stenosis: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. (2022) 327:1875–87.

23. National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research. *National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit (NACSA) 2022 Summary Report*. London: National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research (2022).

24. Carroll J, Mack M, Vemulapalli S, Herrmann H, Gleason T, Hanzel G, et al. STS-ACC TVT registry of transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2020) 76:2492–516. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.09.595

25. Beckmann A, Meyer R, Lewandowski J, Markewitz A, Blassfeld D, Boning A. German Heart Surgery Report 2021: the annual updated registry of the German society for thoracic and cardiovascular surgery. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2022) 70:362–76. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-1754353

26. Oxenham H, Bloomfield P, Wheatley D, Lee R, Cunningham J, Prescott R, et al. Twenty year comparison of a Bjork-Shiley mechanical heart valve with porcine bioprostheses. *Heart.* (2003) 89:715–21. doi: 10.1136/heart.89.7.715

27. Huckaby L, Sultan I, Gleason T, Chen S, Thoma F, Navid F, et al. Outcomes of tissue versus mechanical aortic valve replacement in patients 50 to 70 years of age. *J Card Surg.* (2020) 35:2589–97. doi: 10.1111/jocs.14844

Hammermeister K, Sethi G, Henderson W, Grover F, Oprian C, Rahimtoola S. Outcomes 15 years after valve replacement with a mechanical versus a bioprosthetic valve: final report of the Veterans Affairs randomized trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2000) 36:1152–8. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(00)00834-2

29. Stocco F, Fabozzo A, Bagozzi L, Cavalli C, Tarzia V, D'Onofrio A, et al. Biological versus mechanical aortic valve replacement in non-elderly patients: a single-centre analysis of clinical outcomes and quality of life. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* (2021) 32:515-21. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivaa306

30. Glaser N, Jackson V, Holzmann M, Franco-Cereceda A, Sartipy U. Aortic valve replacement with mechanical vs. biological prostheses in patients aged 50-69 years. *Eur Heart J.* (2016) 37:2658–67. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/e hv580

31. Chiang Y, Chikwe J, Moskowitz A, Itagaki S, Adams D, Egorova N. Survival and long-term outcomes following bioprosthetic vs mechanical aortic valve replacement in patients aged 50 to 69 years. *JAMA*. (2014) 312:1323–9. doi: 10. 1001/jama.2014.12679

32. Rodriguez-Caulo E, Macias D, Adsuar A, Ferreiro A, Arias-Dachary J, Parody G, et al. Biological or mechanical prostheses for isolated aortic valve replacement in patients aged 50-65 years: the ANDALVALVE study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2019) 55:1160–7. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezy459

Frontiers in **Cardiovascular Medicine**

Innovations and improvements in cardiovascular treatment and practice

Focuses on research that challenges the status quo of cardiovascular care, or facilitates the translation of advances into new therapies and diagnostic tools.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact frontiers

Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine



